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THE OPENING

PERHAPS one of the greatest paradoxes in the
history of modern Muslim India is embodied in the respective
personalities and careers of Xz&d and Jinnﬁh;;a paradox in
themselves as well as in opposition to each other. Muhammad
‘A1T Jinndh, a "lay" person by descent, by training and
by temperament chose to espouse the cause of religious
commmalism and, in spite of the contradictions between
his personality and his céreer, he was audacious enough to
proclaim his ideal loud and clear. On the other hand,

Abul Kaldm Xz@d, who was a religious person by birth, by
education and by socisl classification, decided upon
secularism as his goal but was not courageous enough to call
a spade a spade. He could never get rid of religion as the
final authority in his own arguments for secularism and

he could never get the ‘ulamd, the personifications of
religions authority, to clear oﬁt of politics once he had
dragged them in.

This thesis is an attempt on my part to assess
the role of religion in, and its influence on, Indian Muslim
politics in the present century, and to see how the earliest
efforts at making Indian Muslims take a more secularist
attitude towards politics met with failure.
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Abul Kalam is, in my opinion, the key figure
in this whole religious-political drama. He is the person
who, through his journal, Al-Hilal, influenced the Muslims
of India in favour of national politics. Before Xzad,
politics had been taboo for the Indian Muslims. Of the
two groups of Indien Muslims, one, under the influence of
Sayyid Apmad Kh&n, avoided by every possible means a clash
with the British government; the other, under the spell of
the ‘ulama, was satisfied with the existing situation so
long as they had religious freedom. It was Abul Kalam who
launched a campaign with his pen saying that religious
freedom was meaningless without political emancipation.
Xz3d also had realized that the Muslim masses would not
participate wholeheartedly in the struggle unless the ‘ulama
would come out of their seclusion. He was successful in
his move; the ‘ulam@ broke their tradition and threw
themselves into politics. Now the political struggle had
become a religious duty for every Muslim. Hence the leader-

ship of the ‘ulama.

The ‘ulamé who probably did not know themselves
what they were doing, brought the seed of religion with them
and sowed it on the earth of politics praying to see a united
India emerge out of it. Something did emerge, but it was
a communalist Pakistan, a natural outcome of what the
nationalist ‘ulam@ had unwittingly done. And all the while
this was being done Abul Kaldm, the only person well enough
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equipped with clarity of vision, intellectual vigour, and
political influence to remedy the situation, was sitting
8ilent chewing his fingers.

The creation of Pakistan seems to be a defeat of
the nationalist ‘ulamd. But was it really a defeat? In my
judgement the nationalist ‘ulamd did succeed, but they
succeeded against themselves. It was a defeat of their ends
but not of their means. The fruit of the seeds they had
sown was reaped by their enemies. The efficacy of religion
in settling a political issue was proved once againg: And,
for the time being at least, secularist ideology was nipped
in the bud.

How did all this happen? This thesis, I hope,
supplies one answer to this question and perhaps will bring
into focus at least one question: What are the chances of
success for secularist ideas among a people who, as a scholar
has put it, would rather "sink with religion than swim
without iten?

+ M. Mujeeb, World Historys Our Heritage, New York, Asia
Phblishing House, 1960, p. 257.
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THE ‘ULAMA AND INDIAN POLITICS

‘ULAME is the plural of the Arabic word ‘&lim.
It is derived from the word ‘ilm meaning kmowledge.
Literally the word ‘&lim means "inowledgeable", but
technically it means a Muslim who has completed his education
in a madrassh® (religious seminary) and has studied subjects
like Quranic exegesis (tafsir), the science of iradition
(‘ilm-i bhedIB), Jjurisprudence (£igh), and theology (‘ilm-i
kaldm).2 One may acquire knowledge of the same subjects
in a University set up on modern principles or through some
other medium but in that case will not necessarily be

considered an ‘&lim. 3

Today in India and Pakistan it is easy to tell
whether a man is an ‘8lim by just looking at him end talking
with him. But in Mughal India this was not the case. AV
that time all members of the educated class dresused. alike,
spoke the same language and used the same vocabulary.

Then the distinction between an ‘#lim and non-!&lim was

not based on his particular education, but on his profession.

The education provided in Muslim India was not
divided between religiq’ua and secular. There was only one
type of madrasah and whoever attended the madrasah got
the same education. But all of those who atiended were
net called ‘dalim. After the completion of the course of



C‘? studies at the madrasah, students had to choose a
profession. Some of them left the madrasah and became
famous as poets and writers, some as jabIbs (medical men),
and some even as gifIs (mystics). But those who remained
in tﬁe madrasah as teachers or delivered ssrmons as kha}Ibs,
or entered state service in the capacity of & Es (judges)
or mufils (Jjurisconsults) were usually knewn as members
of the order of ‘ulamd. Thus it was the profession which

could make an ‘8lim distinguishable from a non-{@lim,

The subtle distinction between ‘8lim and his

T

counterpart misled many of the British officers of India.
Especkally during the Mutiny of 1857 they regarded as
‘&lims many of those people whom they found arousing the

TR P e X

public against the British in the name of religion, unless

those people were soldiers, landlords, civil servants,

or the like.

This phenomenon can very well be understood by
looking into the official records~of the Mutiny left by
the British officers. For example, in the recorda dealing
with the Matiny in Uttar Paradesh which have been provided
by the British officers there are 26 persons mentioned
as "maulvis"4 (‘8lims) who were supposed to have taken

part in the Mutiny.5

But investigation reveals that many
of them did not belong to the ‘ulamé class. Rajmén ‘All,
the famous compiler of the TaZkirah ‘Ulemi’-i Hind

(Biographies of the Indien ‘Ulamd), has included the names
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of only five of those 26 in TaBkirah as members of the
‘ulamd order. This should also be pointed out that these
five ‘Elims were not on the side of mutineers. In fact
one ‘&lim Mawldnd Mupammad Isma@‘Il, now lnown as Shah
Isma‘I1 ShahTd, had died long before the Mutiny; his name
appears in the Mutiny record only as the putative writér
of a book, Risdlah’-i jinga.’ Three of the five ‘Elims,
Fazl-i Rastil BaddyinI,  MuftI Sadruddin® and Pasl-i Hagq
Khayrﬁhﬁdig were in the service of the East India Company
and had hardly sny sympathy with the activities of the
rebels. The fifth ‘&lim, ‘Xlam ‘Ali,lo farAfrom being
in the good books of the rebels, had actually offended the
rebel leader, Bakht Khan, because he had given protection
fo a number of Christians.ll So we can see that even those
five ‘Elims whose names are mentioned in the Mutiny records
were not completely on the side of the mutineers. The
rest, although reported as maulvis by the British officers,
were not regarded by the Indian author as eligible for
inclusion in the Ta¥kirah of the Indian ‘ulema.

This is by no means an exhaustive discussion
of those who participated in the Mutiny and were considered
‘ulamd by the British. There may have been many others.
Our purpose is only to point out that not all those who

were mentioned as "maulvis" belonged to the ‘ulamaé class.

The inability of the British officers to distinguish

between ‘Blim and non-‘&lim produced a very noteworthy
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4
C’ result. Up to the second decade of the 20th century no
one cared to find out whether the ‘ulamd as a group had
taken any part during the upheaval of 1857. Even ‘ulama
themselves did not claim that they had participated in the
struggle of 1857. It was 1919 before the ‘ulami as a
class entered Indian polities, founding a politico-religious
organization known as the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamé’~i Hind.
Partly to prove that they were. not lade-comers in politics,
they tried to establish that they were following the
tradition of those ‘ulamd of the 19th century who, according
%o them, participated in political activities and had
organized and led political agitation for freedom from the
British.
The ‘ulamd, unlike other Indisns, did not date
their political struggle against the British from 1857,

et fote

: but from 1803. Around 1803, a famous Indisn ‘&lim, Shaéh
‘ ¢ Abdul-‘ AzIz, was asked by some Muslims whether India had
not become Darul-Harb., Answering those Muslims, Shah

¢ Abdul-‘ AzIz issued a fatwd saying that India had become

Darul-Harb. The question was asked mainly for the reason
that in a Darul-Harb Muslims are permitted by the Shari‘ah

to charge interest on money from non-Muslims. Since the

British had become the deffaoto rulers of Indie in the V

beginning of the 19th century and India had technically

become Dirul-Harb many of the Indian Muslims were eager

G to know whether the changed political situation allowed
" them to charge interest. Since the term Darul-Harbd also
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has a religious connotation, the ‘ulamd of the 20th century
interpreted the fatw of Shah ‘Abdul-‘AzIz in an entirely
different way from the way it had been understood when '
it was issued. They said that Shdh ‘Abdul-‘AzIz had declared
a state of war against the British through the fatwé of
DErul-Herb, in other words that he had engoursged the Maslims
of his time to fight againet the British or to migrate
from the country. However, the fact is that Shah ‘Abdul-
¢ A7z neither fought nor emigrated. On the contrary he
remainéd throughout his life in Delhi and had cordial

relations with British officers at Delhi.12

The ‘ulamg of the 20th century also asserted
that during the Mutiny of 1857 their predecessors had
actually fought against the British. They gave the names
of three ‘&lims as the heroes of 1857. These were FajI
Indaaullsh, a gifI-‘Elim, and his two disciples, Nawldna
Muhammad Qﬁsim NanawtavI and Mawldnd Rashid Abmad Gapgdhi.
According to the 20th century ‘ulamas
"The centre of their activities was Shamll,
a small town in the present district of
‘Muzaffarnagar (U.P,), not far from Delhi..
HajI Imdddullsh (1817-99), who after the
collapse of the uprising migrated to Mecca,
was the 'Imém' or the 'AmIr' of the 'jihddis'
in ShamlI and Mawldnda Mubammad Q&sim Nanawtawl
51832-1880; and Mawl@nd Rashid Apmad Gangohl
1828-1905) acted respectively as the
) Commander of the forces and the 'Qa¢i'." (13)
Thie type of claim will be found almost in all books on

the "struggle for freedom" especially those writien by




the Muslims of India and Pakistan. 4 5

gajl Imdﬁdﬁll'éh was .a gifl and was living in
Thand Bhaven, a town which afterwards became one of the
centres of the Mutiny in 1857. When the Mutiny was sup-
ressed and almost all prominent people were being rounded
up by the British, gajI Imd@dulléh was also in imminent
danger of being arrested. He, therefore, migrated to
Mecca, where he remained till his death.

Mawl@nd Mupammad Qéeim and Mawl@nd Rashid Apmad
were among those ‘Elims who had completed their education
under well-known ‘ulamé of the ValIulldhI family. After
completing their education they became spiritual disciples
(murids) of Fajl Imdadulldh, and were seen with him in
Thand Bhavan in 1857. After the Mutiny was over they were
also wanted by the Government along with their shaxkh,

Hajl Imdadullah. Mawlana Qasim managed to save himself
from arrest, but his colleague, Mawlan@d Rashid Abmad,

was arrested and put behing bé:cs fc;r about six months.

He was then released because the Government had failed %o
prove the charges ageinst him. When things had cooled
down, Mawldna Muhammed Qaeim founded a Darul—‘ ulim

(1iteral meaning, house of knowledge; a religious seminary),
which is kmown as Darul-‘ulim Deoband. After his death

pis friend, Mawl@nd Rashid Apmad, Yook over the Darul-‘ulim.
(We will discuss the Darul-‘ulim later).
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Very little is known about the pre-mutiny lives
of these three people. However, there is one short
biographical treatise on the life of Mawléna Mubammad Qésim
written in 1880, just after his death, by one of his close
friends, Mawlang Muhammad Ya‘qub Nanawtavi. This treatise
has been republished by the Darul-‘uliim Deoband as part
of the first volume of a three-volume biography of Mawlana
Qésim compiled by a 20th century Indian ‘§;;g and a
graduate of Darul-‘uliim Deoband, Mawlané Man@gir Apsan
GIlEni, with a preface by Mawlén@ Mubammad Tayyib, the
Principal of the Darul-‘uliim and the grandson of Mawléna
Qasim.l5 This biography is based on the accounts provided
by Mawl@nad Ya‘qib and on verbal traditions of the Deoband
ciicle.

In regard to the lack of additional published
material on the life of Mawl@nd Qasim, Mawléna Tayyibd -
telle us thét'many of the friends and followers of Mawlam@
Qasim attempted to compile an authentic and detailed -
biography of the Mawla@n@ after his death. But it was all
in vain because "a mysterious hand" was trying to prevent
the people from being informed about the activities of
Mawl@nd Qésim who was completely anti-British. .The noteas
and cther materials collected for this purpose were from
time to time "either stolen or set afibe by that hand."
Whose hand was it? Mawlé&na Tayyib thinks that it was the
hend of the organization which Mawlana Qasim wanted to
destroy;l6 an organization which he did not name, but what

A
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appears clearly from the context to be the British

Government of India.

However, the above mentioned biograph& of Mawl@ni ﬂ
Qasim written by his friend, Mawland Ya‘gqlib, gives an
entirely different picture of his activities during the
year 1857. The writer, who was ‘an eyewitness, says that
gajI Imdadulldh, Mawlanad Qasim and Mawland Rashid Apmad
"were miles away from creating aziy disturbance. But,
after the Mutiny was over, and the Government was- arresting
the people some one informed the Government against them
and warrants were issued for their arrest."l?, There are
no details given by this author, but we find some more
information in the biography of Mawlané Rashid Ahmad, the
companion of Mawl&nd Q3sim and supposedly a participant

in the Mutiny. His biography, Ta¥kiratur-Rashid, compiled

by one of his pupils, ‘Ashiq Il&hI, (first published in
1908 with the approval of hie son and other prominent
successors of the Mawl@nd@) confirms the statement of
Mawl@nd Ya‘q@b that the three ‘#lims were not involved
! in the Mutiny. According to hims

"Some time after the outbreak of the Mutiny,
[one] ‘Abdur-RahIm Khan, the younger brother
of [one] ‘Indyat ‘A1 Khan, the Qagi of Thana
Bhavan [the home town of H&)JI Imd&dullZh] went
with some of his friends to a nearby city,
Shharanpir, snd stayed there in en imn. It 80
happened that a Banian [a Hindu grocer] who had
some personal grudge against ‘Abdur-Rahim Khén
and his family, saw him there. He fabricated
a story incriminating ¢Abdur-RabIm Khdn and told
the Magistrate of Sah@ranpir, Pagkhl $abid [Mr.
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R. Spankie], that ‘InZ@yat ‘Al Khan, the QazI of

Thana Bhavan, had turned against the Government and
had sent his brother to Saharanplir to buy elephants

to reinforce the rebel forces at Delhi. The Magistrate,
without investigating the report, arrested ‘Abdur-RahiIm
Khan and his friends and hanged them. He accused

them of helping the rebels. When the news reached
Théna Bhavan, his brother, Qagl ‘Indyat ‘AlI, became

so enraged that he actually rebelled against the
Government. He attacked the police station of the

town and the tahsIl (town revenue office) of Shamll

[2 town near Thena Bhavan], and destroyed them.

"It is said that the [Bast India] Company's officers
regretted their mistake in hanging the brother of the
Qazl, and conveyed a message to him through some
prominent reli %ous ersonalities of the %own asking
himnmot %o compﬁica%e the matter and promising him to
repair his loss in some other way if he remained

quist. But the Qagl rejected the offer and gathered
the rebel elements around him.

"In those days the Company had announced that the
people protect themselves from the outlaws because

the Company was not in a position to check the outlaws
in addition to suppressing the rebels.

"Since the Q&zI rebelled and the police station of the
town was destroyed by him the town was left entirely
at the mercy of the outlaws. When the situation
became worse, the town people came to HajI Imdadullah,
who was one of the very influential elders of the
town, and asked him to do something to protect them
from the hands of the outlaws. ¥3jI Imd8dullah
accepted the request and started to act as the qagl
of the town. Since he was not very well-versed in
the figh [Islamic Taw] he asked his two disciples,
Mawlana Qasim and Mawlan@ Rashid Ahmad to come from
their hometowns, Nanawtash snd Gapgoh respectively,

to Thana Bhavan and help him in dispenskng justice.

"As there was no law and order and every one had to
protext himself, these people also used to carry

arms for their own protection. Many a time they were
attacked by the outlaws but nothing happened. One day
HajiI Imdadullsh accompanied by these two people and
also by one of his colleagues, Hafig gamin, was

going somewhere when they were attacked by some
gunmen. This brave group [accompanying the HajI]

did not run away from the rebels against their garkar
(government). They stood firmly to give their

lives to help the sarkidr. ... In that scrimmage,
however, Hafiz Zamin was killed, and Mawl@nd Q&sim
was injured.
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"When the flame of Mutiny was put out and the
Government started to punish the rebels then
those vowards, who had participated in the Mutiny
but had no way of saving their skinsexcept by
showing their loyalty to the government, started
manufacturing false charges against innocent
religious people and reported to the government
that these three people were the ring leaders
of those who attacked the police station of Thand
Bhaven and the toheIl (revenue office) of ShamlI.
But in flact those people were miles away from
gsuch disturbances. However, warreants were issued
for their arrest. Since they were inexperienced
in legal matters and had no money to spend like
water in the court to clear themselves from the
charges they simply surrendered themselves to
the hands of Merciful God and acted as they were
inspired by Him. They suffered many difficulties
and remained underground. H&jI Imdedulléh migrated
to Mecca; Mawland Q&sim remhiped in India hiding
himself in different places; Mawl@na Rashid Ahmad
was arrested. But since nothing was proved against
him he was released after six months." (18)

We have already mentioned the position of the
‘ulam@ in traditional Muslim society. Their main function
was to teach, to guide the people in religious affairs
and to provide the shar‘I opinion about matteré relating
to their daily practices. As a rule they were loyal to
the throne so long as the ruler professed to be a Musliﬁ,
irrespective of the quality of his administration. In the
long history of Muslim India there had been several febqllions
against the rulers on different grounds but there is hardly
any example available of the uprising of the ‘ulama against
the ruler on the ground of his trreligious activities.
Up to 1857 the East India Company was considered only as
the agent of the Mughal ruler, and any rebellion against
the administration was theoretically against the Muslim
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ruler. Even during the time of the Mutiny, in meny
places public announcements were made in the name of the
Mughal king, saying in the traditional ways "The people
were God's; the country the King's and the order was of
KampanI Bahadur (the Company).“l9 In some rebel centres
this pattern of announcement was changed. For example; ‘
in Mur@ddbad, where one Mujj@ Kh@n, a rebel leader, had
established his power, the announcement was made in his
name saying: "The people were God's; the country the King
of Delhi's and Mujjoo Khan was Viceroy of Moradabad."20 '
Both of these announcemeﬁts show that at least in theory

the Mughal king was accepted as the real ruler of Indis.

Thus the ‘ulamd of the 19th century were not

.different from their ancestors. They could not take part

in the struggle unless it was proven by the shari‘ah that
it had become incumbent upon them to do so. The ectivities
of Mawldnd Q3sim and others as described by their early
biographers are in harmony with this tendency. ‘But the
difficulty arises when we read the same aécoﬁht edited

by contemporary writers.

Once it was conceived that these ‘ulamé@ had
participated in some way in the events of 1857, iﬁagination
had 1little difficulty in seeing them as heroes of the
struggle for freedom. The statement of the first biographer
of Mawldngd Qisim that the latter "was miles away from
creating any disturbance" (£as5ddy s€ koson dir the)
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(? has been interpreted by his second blographer, Mawlana
| ManBzir Apsan GI13nI, to mean that Mawl@nd Q&sim had nothing
to do with the activities of those who had participated
in the Mutiny for worldly benefit. Mawlana GI1lani thinks
that since the time was not favourable when the first bio-
graphy was written, the biographer used words which could
give the impression that the Mawland@ was not involved in
the Mutiny but, at the same time, could be understood to
mean that he had participated in the Mutiny but with a
different and a nobler motive.22 The story which we have
vjust read is to0ld by Mawl@nd GIlanI on the authority of

verbal accounts provided by the family of the late Mawlana
Qﬁsim in the following way:

"When the brother of the QazI was executed, a
council of ‘ulamd and prominent people of Thana
Bhavaen met to conskder the situation and to
declare jihad against the East India Company.
The majority, which was not in favour of Jihad,
was represented by another ‘&lim of the town,
Shaykh Muhammad Thamavi. Mawlana Qasim was in
favour of jihad, and was trying to convince them
on the ground of the sharI‘ah. Mawl@nd Thanavi
objected that in the absence of an Imam, jihad
was not permissible. He was implying that the
leader of the movement, Qagi ‘Indyat ‘AlI, did
not possess the gqualities of the Imam, and
MawlZnd Thanavi himself, who was qualified to
be the Imam, was against the very idea of jihad.
1f his argument had been accepted the discussion
would have ended then and there. Mawland Qasim
understood the implication and replied that
‘Indyat ‘Al was not the Imém. It was H&JI
ImdZEdulldh who was supposed to lead them. Mawl@nd
Thanavi had to agree on the person of the Fajl
as the Imém,

"Mawl@nad Thanavi raised another question. In his
O opinion the Muslims of Thi@nd Bhavan were not
o powerful enough to fight the Company. In his
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eyes jih8d at that time was sheer suicide, and i
suicide was forbidden by the shari‘ah. For a ;
while there was silence and aﬁparentiy Mawlana

Thanavi was about to win but Mawla@nd Qasim came

forward with a point. He gave the example of

the Prophet end his strength at the time of the

battle of Badr, and asked if the Muslims of

Thans Bhavan were not as strong as the mu%ﬁhidin

of Badr. No sooner had he finished his statement

than a prominent gifI of the town, Hafig Zamin,

rose from his seat and said that Mawlana Qasim

had removed all the doubts from his heart and

he was willing to give his hand into the hand

of HajI Imd&dulldh., This sudden act of the iﬁfi
hypnotized the audience and the motion for J

was accepted. (Mawl@nad GIl&nI, the narrator

of this story, does not tell us whether or not

MawlBnd Thanavl participated in the "jihad".

Most probebly he did not).

"After the jih&d was declared, an attack was
orgenized on the tahgil of Sh&mlI. In the

firast part of the combat the mujdhidin were

successful but, when they were close to victory,

their commander, Hafig Zémin, was killed. His
death upset the morale of the mujdhidin and they

lost the war." (23)

The story ends with the same result as does the
other version that the Government wanted to arrest them,
but obviously there is a contradiction between these two
stories. To reach any conclusion our only course is to
dig into the official records of the Mutiny and see if there

is any reference to these people or at least to this event.

All the available original offiecial papers on
the Mutiny in U.P. have been collected in the Fréddom
Struggle in Uttar Pradesh: Source Material, and published
in six volumes By the Government of U.P., In this record
we find a full description of the rebellion at Thénd Bhavan
and the attack at ShamlI talgIl and at the police station
of Thénd Bhavan, but the names of HajI Imdddulldh and the
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other ‘ulamé who were supposed to have played a role in

the movement are not mentioned. Qazi ‘Inayat ‘A1T is,

however, desceibed as the "leader of the late insurrection

at Thanah Bhowun."24

In a letter of R.M. Edwards, Officiating

Magistrate of Muzaffarnagar, dated 11th October, 1857; we

£ind the cause of this "insurrection". It éaysé .

..o A man arrived from Thanah Bhowun'(Bhawan)

and reported a Mohomedan rising in that town
headed by Enayet Alee (Inayet Ali) nephew of
Cazee Myhboob Alee (Qazi Mahbub Ali) and brother
of Abdool Ruheem (Abdul Rahim) Khan who had

been shortly before executed at Saharanpore by

The record alse shows that after the execution

of his brother, Qazl ‘Indyat ‘All rebelled against the

Company and "vast crowds of Mahomedans" joined him.

26

The above mentioned Magistrate of Muzaffarnagar

narrating, on 16th November, 1858, the events of #hé'time

(that is, the month of August, 1857)27 quotes a manifesto

issued on behalf of the rebels:

"As the tyranny of the Nazarenes has passed all
bounds and the jihad (religious war) has, in
accordance with the tenets of the Shariat, became
the duty of all Muslims, hence all the Eigh class
people of Thana Bhawan have set up the Muhammadi
flag publicly. ... Consequently the Mu%ahidins
from the various villages and the countryside
have collected here. For fear that the Kafirs
might do harm to the villages and the countryside,
their protection will be provided for in two ways,
The best Islamic course as laid down in Islam is
that the people of all the villages and towns
under British administration should turn out
their officials and should consider themselves
subject of the present Sultan (King). They should
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purify their hearts of their fealty to the
Nazarenes so that both these districtsmay be
~ entirely purged and the English officials killed
wherever found. In case any of the Raises [lend-
.~ lords] has any apprehension or danger 1in 8
respect, he should pursuade the people of God to
do good acts and send them here in order to
render assistance to the Muhammadi Jhanda [flag].
However, they should send news to this place
~after due compliance. If they fail to act up
 to this, they should not consider us as their
friends and comrades. In case of compliance,
they will be helped with armies and cannons if
the wicked Kafir happen to come to their side." (28)

There is no way to find out whether this appeal
was issued by the council of the ‘ulam@ of Thané Bhavan
or by Qﬁgi"InEyax ‘a1 and his party, but most probably
it was not issued by the council of the ‘ulamd. In the
appeal the people are called upon to kill the English
officials indiscriminately;' We have evidence that this
order waé £olloWed and thevCQmpany's'people massacred when
they we:evcornered in a mbé@ﬁe._ It is difficult to believe
that the ‘ulemd who were fhé'cuﬁto¢ians'of the sharI‘ah

could have instigated such barbarous acts.

The same officer, R. M. Edwards;*repbfts to
P. Williems, Commissioner, Meerut Division, on 1lth October,
18573 ' |

",.. The ferocity of the Mahomedans against
Government servants was shown at Shamlee by
their shaughtering all who fled into the Musjid
[mosque] which has always hitherto been deeme
a sanctuary. They were there brutally murdered.
The main walls of the Musjid and Shewallah
[Hindu temple], both of which are he
fehsil premises, are crimsoned with blood." (29)
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If the above mentioned report is true---and we
have no reason to disbelieve it--~then either we have to
accept the improbable supposition that this slaughter was
épproved by the ‘ulamida who are known td have strictly
followed the shari‘ah throughout their lives or to admit
that it was done by followers of the Qazl, who was deter-
mined to avenge his brother's execution. We see that
contemporary official records put full responsibility for
what happened in Thena Bhavan and ShamllI on the shoulders
of QazI ‘Indyat ‘AlI; there is no reference whatever to

the ‘ulam@ of Thana Bhavan.

There is another angle from which we can look
at the case, that is to consider the time factor. The
Mutiny started with the revolt of the Meerut regiment on the
9th May, 1857. The next day Bah@dur Shah, the last Mughal
King, was proclaimed Emperor of India by the sepoys. The
month of May corresponded roughly with the month of Ramagsan,
1273, of the Hijrah calender. Mawléna Qésim, according to
the testimony of his first biographer, was in his hometown,
Nanawtah, during the'whole}month of Ramagin. In the next
month he was in Sahﬁrappﬁr with his friend and biographer,
MawlEnd Ya*qb. 0

We have no evidence to tell the exact date of
the arrival of Mawlana Qasim in Thana Bhavan except to
conjecture that he might have gone there after the Qagl had
rebelled against the East India Company and the town was
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turned into a centre of mutineers. This, as reported by
a 20th century gifi-‘alim of the same town, Mawl@na
Muhammad Ashraf ¢AlT (1863-1943), had happened in the month
of Mubarram of 1274 A.H./[22 August-21 September, 1857].31
Therefore we can safely assume that the activities of the
"yujghidIn® of Thana Bhavan ‘wiould have not started before
the month of August, 1857.

We also camnot say with certainty that how long
the activities of the "mujdhidin" did last. According
to Mawlanad GI1lanI, the 20th century biographer of Mawlana
Qasim, the whole show at Thana Bhavan ended with the
surrender of Bahadur Shzh to the British52 which occurred
on 218t of September, 1857. In other words the duration of
the activities of the "mujshidIn" could only have been

for a month or so.

What the ‘glamd were doing before or after this
period of one month is not kmown. Every available evidence
points out to the fact that Qagl ‘Indyat ‘AlI after his
defeat at Thand Bhavan joined the rebels of Bijnore, another
nearby rebel centre.33 About the ‘ulamd we are only told
that they were wanted by the Government. But, as a matter
of fact, the ‘ulamd were not on the offieial list of
rebels for about two years after the mutiny was supressed
in Th@nd Bhavan. According to ‘Zshiq I1ahI, the biographer
of Mawland Rashid Aphmad Gapgohi, they were branded as

. "rebels to their govermment" on the basis of "false"
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information supplied by [one] Qagi Mahbib ‘AlT in the

beginning of 1276 A.H./[August] 1859.34 We should also :

et e e s Y

remember that this QazI Mahbiib ‘A1I was the uncle of QagzI ' i
‘ Ingyat ‘Ali’s who was the real cause of the whole affair

at Thana Bhavan in the gyes of the British.36 There is,
therefore, every reason to believe that Qg Mahbib ‘All

must have wanted to divert the attention of the authorities
from his family by whispering in the ears the names of

some prominent ‘ulamd and religious personalities. This was
not unique at that time. Many innocent people were arrested
and executed because some one had supplied false information
about them for one reason or another. The ‘ulamé were

probably no exception. Otherwise it is strange that’ the-%ulamd
who were supposed to have played an active role in the

struggle were left free to live in the same town for about

two years. On these grounds it will not be far from the

truth to conclude that they did not participate in the
movement, but, afterwards, became the victims of the

‘rebelophobia’ of the East India Compsny.
II

In this section we will examine the post-mutiny
career of those ‘ulam@ who are supposed to have participated
in the struggle. This examination will show how little
they were 1ntereafed in politiocs.

HajI Imdadullsh was more a gifI them an ‘&lim,
and by nature he was an ascetic. On the basis of his
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alleged activities during one month (in 1857) many of the
contenporary ‘ulamé and scholars of India and Pakistan
claim that he had a systematic ideology to free India from
foreign mule. A 20th century Indian nationalist ‘alim,
‘Ubaydulldh SindhI (1872-1944), says that after his emigration
to Mecca JajiI Imdadullah was guiding the Indiah branch of

E the ValIullahl movemernt (the pmrpose of which was to

7
establish a "just" (‘&dil) government in India).3

s Haji Imdsdullah's life was devoted to the puri-
fication of the heart and the soul and in the strict
observance of the shari‘ah. We have in our possession his
ten tractsi38_ None of +them suggests that he had any interest
in politics. Almost all of them deal with some mystical
and theolégical problems.

In one of the tracts, Gha%d’€ ribh (the food for

soul), HajI Imdadulldh explains a saying which is ascribed

to the Prophets "Hubb al-vajen min al-Im&n", meaning the
love for motherland is a part of Im@n. The HajI says:

"It is said that the love of the motherland is
part of the Imén. But you must understand that
the motherland |in this expression] does not
mesn a country like India, Iraq or Syria. These
are the countries of this world. The Prophet
never elevated the world. Surely if someone
attached himself to this world he cannot achieve
Imdn. These worldly vajans are like ruined
dwelling-places where only owls love to live.
These vatens are the heavens for the kuffar;
for the mu mins (believers) they are 1ike prison
houses. ~The mu’mins' vajan is the dkhirah, the
world hereafter.® (39)
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This is the only reference to the concept of
vajan (motherland) which is found in the available writings
of HajI Imd8dulldh. This shows how much he was involved
in polities!

Mawldnd Mubemmad Qsim and Mawl@nd Rashid Abmad,
the two disciples of H&jI Imdadullsh, remained in india.
Mawldnd Q&sim established a religious seminary, Darul-‘ulim
Deoband, which after his death was taken over by Mawléna
Rashid Aphmad. These two, as we said above, were tirue
representatives of the order of the ‘ulam@s They discharged
their duties in the real spirit of a conservative ‘§;12.40
It is a fact that after 1857 Muslim rule was over in India,
and Muslims and Hindus alike had become subjects of the
British. If Mawlanid Qasm or Mewlanid Rashid Ahmad had been
involved in anything like a "liberation movement", they
would have realized that nothing was possible without the
cooperation of the Hindus. But their attitude towards
the Hindus was basically the same as that of the classical
fugaha.

Once Mawland Rashid Ahmad was asked to give his
opinion about the seclusion of the Muslim women of India
from non-Muslim women. He replied that the country was
Darul-Harb, and in a Darul-Harb the Muslim women whould

hide themselves even from non-Muslim women,41

Fobody can take exception to the attitude of
Mawland Rashid Apmed if he is considered simply an ‘&lim
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who was trained in the HanafI tradition and who regarded
the taglId-i shakhgl (the following of one particular Im&m)
incumbent (v&jib) on Muslims.*? To nim every problem was
to be so¥ved with reference to the opinions of the classical
fugahd. But the same attitude becomes abjectionable if
we'think of him as one who was training the people for
the "war of independence'., A war of independence in India
could only be fought with the cooperation of non-Muslims

and with a readiness to adopt at least some elements of

the modern way of life.

In fact the main concern of the ‘ulam@ like
Mawlana Qa@sim and Mawlin@ Rashid Ahmad was to see that the
Muslims were 1liVving according to the shari‘ah, and would
not be swept along in the wave of modernism which was
coming to India. This control could only be accomplished
by a certain type of education, that is, the religious |
education.

Until the end of the Mughal rule, it was the
Muslim ruler who considered it his duty to provide facilities
in.establishing and running a madrasah. The madrassh, as
we have seen, was the only place where religious as well
as extra-religious education was provided. The schools
established by the government subsequent to 1857 were no longer
responsible for providing religious education. It then
became the responsibility of every religious community of
India to look after its own needs.
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Mawl@ngd Qésim was perhaﬁs the first Indian ‘alim
who realised that in the changed situation it was the duty
of Muslim community to establish religious schools. He
dreamt in 1867 of erecting a lofty religious seminary on
the debris of a maktab43 (religious elementary school) in
the town of Deoband, not far from Delhi. He encouraged
and welcomed public contributions to the schools, and
discouraged his successors from accepting a government
grant, foreseeing that that would entail official interven-
tion which would eventually harm the school.

In just eleven years'time, in 1878, "there were
two hundred students including one from Burma, three from

the Indian Archipelago and one from Tibet."44

Why were the people attracted by the Darul-‘ulim
Deoband? Was it because for the poor and lower middle
classes, the thirst for religious knowledge was to be quenched
at Deoband without any charge, or was it due to something
else? Recently it has been suggested that the purpose of
founding the Darul-‘uliim was as much political as educational.
The present Principal of the Darul-‘ulim, Mawlandé Muhammad
Tayyib,says:

"In fact Shamli and Deoband are the two sides of

one and the same picture. The difference lies

only in the weapons used for achieving the object.

This time the sword and spear were replaced by

the pen and the tongue. At ShamlI, o in order

to secure political independence and freedom for

religion and culture there was resort to violence.
At Deoband, a start was made to achieve the same
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goal through peaceful means., There, at Shamli,

for the cause of politico~religious freedom,
individuals were used; here, at Deoband, for

the very purpose individuals were to be produced."45

This is an official statement and any commentgn
it will be postponed till we have occasion to study the
curriculum of the Darul-‘ulim and see if the curriculum

is directed to the above mentioned statement.
III

The books and subjects which were prescribed by

the founders of the Darul-‘uliim were almost the same which

were taught in the o0ld system of Dars-i nigEmeah.46 The

curriculum was loaded with Aristotelian logic and philosophy
and continues to be so till this day. After the death of
Mawléné Q&sim books on logic and philosophy were excluded
from the curriculum, befause in the opinion of Mawland

Rashid Ahmad, who succeeded Mawl&na Qa@sim, philosophy and

logic were useless disciplines.47 But, according to an

Indian scholar who has recently published a valuable bobk
on the political thought of the Deoband Schools

"The interest in ‘falsafah’, nonetheless, persisted
and it soon regained its traditional poesition at
the Darul-‘Uliim, thanks to the intrinsic rigidity
of ‘taqlid’. Again there was no gesture of healthy
innovation; all the traditional books on logic and
‘falsafah’ included in the ‘Dars-i-Niza@mIyah’' were
introduced in the syllabus. One is really shocked
when one finds that even today the Darul-‘Ulim
curriculum does not include works like ‘Tah&afut
al-Pal@sifah’ of Imam Ghazdll (1058-1111[A.D.]) and
‘Bujjat Alldh al-Balighah’ of Shah Waliullgh." (48)

G o i\ A b . e Bt b e A
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The subjects taught at the Darul-‘ulim are:49
Grammar, etymology and syntax 13 books
Prosody 1 book
Rhetorice 3 books
Arabie literature . 6 books
History: Duriis at-TarIikh and Tarikh-—i-
al- a (no book on an

story 2 books
Bi.ography of the Prophet 1 book
Polemical science (‘ilm-i mund@garah) 1 Yook
Logic 11 books
Philosophy , 4 books
Arithmetic and astrono 4 books
Medicine ($ibb-i yunani 5 books
Dogmatic theology 3 books

Muslim jurisprudence (figh) 5 books
The science of jurisprudence (ugil-i figh)5 books
The science of dividing the

inheritence (‘ilm-i fara’ig) 1 book::

438 (Tradition) 11 books

ggﬂI—i padT8 (the science of tradition) 1 book

Quranic exegesis (tafsir) 3 books
The science of Quranic exegesis

(uglil-i_ tafsir) 1 book

The course of studies is spread over a period of
nine years. There is an extira five-year course for primpary
and secondary education, which includes the reading of the
Qur’sn, elementary dIniydt, Urdu language, arithmetic,
Hindi, elementary books of the sIrah (biography of the

Prophet) and the geography of the district.so

Apparently, no stress has been laid dn modern
sciences. The students are not taught any of the modern
European languages, even English, which has become almost
the second language of India. There is also no provision
for studying modern world history, or evem the history of
India, or geography or other social sciences.51 There is

no book which deals with the religion of non-Muslim peop: 28.
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We have seen above that in the course of philosophy even
the works of Shah ValIullaéh, of whom the Deoband is very
proud,52 are not included--~to say nothing of the writings
of non-Muslim philosophers of India or of the West. It
would appear from the character of the syllabus that the
Darul-‘ullim Deoband was in no way different from other
religious seminaries in India which were established with
the sole object of imparting religious knowledge. If therd
were any idea of training fighters for freedom it should
havereflected itself in the syllabus.

This does not mean that the graduates of the
Deoband have not participated in the struggle for freedom.
On the contrary there are several distinguished names in
the 1list of those who died for this cause. We will refer
to them in the proper place. Here our concern was only
fo show that the Darul-‘ulim by its very nature could not
be considered to be an institution set up with any political

purpose or e#en political bias.

To conclude the discussion, we will take one
more example to show that, even in the 20th century, when
Deoband's graduates were participating in the political
struggle the official policy of the Darul-‘uliém was not
changed. In 1917, one of the distinguished graduates of
Deoband, and, at that time, the chief of the academic section
of the Darul-‘ulim (padr-i mudarris), Mawldnd Mahmidul-Hasan

(now known as the Shaykhul-Hind), was arrested by the British
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government on the charge of sedition and was interned in
Malta.53 A deputation of the ‘ulaméd of Deoband waited on
the Lieutenant Governor of U.P. on 6th November, 1917,
headed by Shamsul-‘Ulams’? Hafig Mupammad Apmad, the son of
Mawlénd Muhammad Q@sim and the Prineipal of the Darul-‘uliim
Deoband. In their address to the ILieutenant Governor,

the ‘ulama said:

"... We need not say that we are an orthodox
religious body (qadamat pasand gama‘at). cee

Our mind has not yet been enlightened by English
education which could dispose us to create any
agitation for the fulfillment of the demand

for freedom, blindly follewing the example of
Ireland or even the example of the [Indian]
National Congress. ... We are peace-lovers.

We beg, Your Honour, that Mawland Mahmidul-Hasan

be set free at the request of a body which is
alien to politics.

"Your Honour, we do not hesitate to say that to
the best of our kmowledge Mawlénd Mahmidul-Hasan,
like other members of Deoband, has always been
indifferent to politics. He is neither a patriot

(vatan parast) nor a nationalist (gqawm parast).
He is only a God worshipper (Khuda parast).’ (55)

The testimony of the ‘ulamd that Mawld&nad Mahmudul-
Hasan was indifferent to politics was not completely accurate.
As we will see, the Yawl@nd was involved in politics. The
address of the ‘ulamd to the Lieutenant Governor is, however,
a proof that the officisal policy of the Darul-‘uliim was
not one of active participation in polities.

This apathetic attitude of the ‘ulamid and of the
Darul-‘uliim remained at least t11l 1920. After 1920 many
‘ulami (especially of the Deoband school) went to jail
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but no deputation of the Darul-‘uliim waited on any Governor.

Our point in this chapter was to examine the
claim of the 20th century ‘ulamd that the Indian ‘ulamid
as a class were against the British from the begipning.

We have seen a lot of evidence pointing to the fact that
such a claim is baseless. Far from fighting for indepen-
dence, it is also true that the ‘ulamd of the 19th century
did not prepare the ground for the coming generation of

the Indian Muslims to think in termsof a nation. The
concept of nation as it is understood today was alien to

the ‘ulam3. It was another group which first tried to define
the word "nation" in attempt to make an Indian nation of
both the Muslims and non-Muslims of India. Thus, though
the pioneers of this group were not ‘ulamad, a discussion

of their thought is essential to our study.



FROM NO NATION TO ONE NATION

IN the previous chapter we have discussed the
case of the Indian ‘ulam@ at the time of the Mutiny, and
have seen that the ‘ulamd as a class had not participated
in the Mutiny. After the Mutiny was over their interests
were more and more in the preservation of the religious
life of the Indian Muslims; they seem to have submitted to
their fate so far as the politiecal life was concerned.
They considered it their responsibility to produce people
who could satisfy the urgent need of the community for
religious guidance. For this purpose they established
various religious sckools (darul-‘ulims) financielly
independent of the government. Mainly to preserve this.
independence they discouraged their followers from having
close contacts with government officials. With other
religious communities of India their policy was that of
"co-existence". They did not interfere with the religious
belief of others so long as their own faith was left alone,
but if and when others attacked them they did not fail to
defend their position.l Nevertheless, the leadership of
the community started to slip from their grip. Another

group was replacing them.

As we have already pointed out, all the educated
Indian Muslims were not ‘ulamd. Early in the 19th century
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a new system of education was introduced in India by the
East India Company. In this system little or no place
was given to religious sciences. The main idea was to
equip the Indians with knowledge enabling them to participate
in the affairs and administration of the British government
of India. It is generally believed that the Muslims kept
themselves aloof from these schools, but that is an over-

gimplification.

It 1s true that upper;class Muslims of that time
generally disliked the new system of.education, but it was
not so0 with the rest of the people. The main reason why
the Muslims of higher classes avoided the new schools was
that those schools were open to people of every class and
every walk of life. Boys from all families had to sit on
the same bench. The idea of social equality was repugnant
to those Muslims who "considered it derogatory to their
position to allow their children to associate with commoners
at educational institutions"z--and a majority of those
Muslims who could afford to give the new education to their
children were of this class.

The report of the Education Commission of 1882
made it clear that "according to the census returms of 1881
the percentage of children under instruction to total
population is larger respectively for the Mohammedan than
for the Hindu commu.n:l.'l;y."3 So much so that one Rev. B. H.
Badely revealed the fact before the commission that "while the



30
Muslims formed about 10 per cent of the population in the
North-West Provinces, Muslim students at schools and

colleges numbered about one-fourth of the total."4

In spite of their favourable attitude towards the
new system the common people could not afford to send their
children for higher education. The Hindu boys who mostly
came from the families of businessmen, traders, or contractors
had ample opportunities to go as far as they wished.
Therefore, the percentage of Muslim students which was
higher at the lower level, gradually declined at the higher
levels.5 There may have been other reasons besides the
financial one but the fact remains that in the late 19th
century not all the eduéatbd Indian Muslims were the products
of the old system of madrasah education. There were others,
too, who were educated but did not come in the category of
the ‘ulami.

IT

Sayyid Apmad Kha@n (1817-1898; known in India and
Pakistan as Sir Sayyid) who took up the case of the Muslims
was neither the product of the madrasah nor was he educated
in any of the new schools set up by the government., He was
the son of a well-to-do family of Delhi which had an honourable
position in the Mughal court. Sayyid Ahmad was taught at
home by hié father and tutors. After acquiring a fair
knowledge of Arabic and Persian, he studied some medicine

($ibb-i yuinanT) and mathematics. But he did not concentrate
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on his studies, because, like other young boys of well-to-do
families he spent his days in hunting, swimming and other
"gentlemanly" activities, and his nights in attending gay

parties.

However, this did not last. The death of his
elder brother in the prime of life affected the whole
rattern of Sayyid Abmad's life. At 18 he became so much
disgusted with the world that he shaved his head, geew a
beard, and started to lead an ascetic life. In 1830 when
Sayyid Ahmad was about 22, his father died. This time the
shock of death had the opposite effect on him, it brought
him back to the world. Now he was the head of the family,
and felt a great sense of responsibility.

According to the family tradition Sayyid Ahmad
could have attached himself to the Mughal court, but he
foresaw that the drama in which the Mughals had been playing
the leading role was soon to end. Much against the wishes
of his relatives and friends he therefore decided to enter

the service of the East India Company.

Sayyid Aphmad started his career in 1838 as a petty
Judicial officer in the service of the East India Company,
and retired in 1876 from the post of the Sub-ordinate Judge
of the British government of India with the honorary title
of Companion of the Order of the Star of India. In 1878
he was appointed a member of the Viceregal Legislative Council
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of India, and was made Knight Commander of the Star of
India. He died in 1898 leaving behind some research and
academic works, the Anglo-Mohammedan School (which later
became the Muslim University)at Aligarh, and a controversy
about the status of the Indian Muslims in the large framework
of the Indian society.

Sayyid Apmad was an eye-witiness of the mutiny of
1857, and was much disturbed by it. He was on the side of

"the British during the disastrous period of the mutiny.

After the mutiny was over he was awarded a Khil‘at (Robe

of Honour) and a pension for life by the British government,
but the British policy of indiscriminate revenge so disgusted
him with life in India that he wanted to leave forever amd
settle in Egypt. He decided, however, to remain in India
because he considered it to be an act of cowardliness to

run away from his qawm (people) when their very existence

was in peril.6

What was this qawm for which Sayyid Abhmad decided
to stay in India? Was it his "nation™ or his "community"?
Today some people think that by "his qawm" Sayyid Apmad
meant "his nation", that is, the Muslim nation. Consequently

meny Indisns and Pakistanis are of the opinion that Sayyid
Apmad was the first proponent of the idea of a “Muslim
nation" in India. The result of this misunderstanding
is found in the writings of many contemporary writers.

For example, the above mentioned decision«Sayyid Ahmad
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to stay in India for the sake of his people has been put
into English by a contemporary writer in the following way:
"In utter despair he thought of emigrating to

Egypt, but to leave his nation at this desperate

hour appeared to him cowardiy." (7)

The key-word is qawm. Unless we lmow the exact
meaning and usage of this word, we cannot determine whether
or not Sayyid Ahmad was the man who advanced the idea of
the "Muslim nation".

III

The Urdu word qawm is often translated into
English as "nation", but gawm does not mean "nation" in all
of the senses in which this latter word is employed in
English. As a matter of fact, in Urdu, there is no esact
equivalent of English "mation". The word qawm, which is
used in the sense of "nation" also means (i) a religious
communi ty, ag,"the Muslim gawm", "the Hindu qawm"; (ii)
a vocational group like juldhop kI gaum'(weawera), loharon
kT gawm (black-smiths); and (iii) a caste like Barahmanoy
kI gawm (the Brahmemns) etc. It is the context which
determines the connotation of gawm. Before Sayyid Apmad
this word qawm was used in all these senses except that of
a2 "nation", because the concept of the nation which is
understood today had not developed in India up to that time.
Sayyid Ahmed gave a broader connotation to this word and

used it generally in the sense of a religious commnity and



34
occasionally in the English sense of "nation" especially
in conjunction with the word vajan (motherland). On these
occasions, in the writings of Sayyid Ahmad, the word gawm
meant the Indian nation regardless of all religious,
cultural and social differences among the people of the
country. To clarify this point, we have to give a number

of quotations from the speeches and writings of Sayyid Apmad.

In 1884, Sayyid Ahmad went to Panjab to raise
funds for the Madrasatul-‘ulfm (now known as the Aligarh

Muslim University). During his tour, while addressing a
public meeting he said: |
"Friends, the word gawm needs some explanation.
For a long time the word gawm was used either
for a group with a common ancestor, or for the
people who lived in one country. Prophet Mubhammad
gave a new meaning to this word. Since then all
the Muslims, regardless of their origin became
the members of one gawm." (8)
According to this, not only the Muslims of India
but the Muslims of the entire world were a singie q@wm.
But Sayyid Abmad was aware of the differences among Muslims.
Due to their differences not even the Muslims of India
could be called one gawm. They were divided into several
sects, such as SunnIs and ShIi‘Is. Sayyid Ahmad wanted to
see them united, but by unity he did not mean that everyone
should adopt one common creed and give up his own. This kind
of attempt, accofding %o him, "is against the natural law.

It has never happened and it will never ha.ppen."9 Nevertheless
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unity in some form had to be achieved. .. Sayyid Apmad
suggested that this matter be considered from a ‘rational’
point of view. He saids | '

"When man thinks about his being (hasti) he will
see that he has two faces. One face is directed
to God; the other to his fellow beings. His
heart, his belief, or, in short, his religion
belongs to God. This is his personal matter.

No one, not even his son, nor his friends, nor
his gawm has anything to say to him about this.
He is free to have his relation with his God as
he likes. Our concern is only with his other
face which is directed to men. If he discharges
his duties to his brothers then he is free to be
a SunnI, a Shi‘I or whatever he likes to be. ...
But we have to remember that [in India] apart
from our brothers-in-faith there are many compat-
riots whose religious beliefs we do not share,
yet in daily life they are Jjust like our own
brothers. The religious differences [of the Muslims
and the Hindus] are not a secret. ... Let religious
conviction be a personal matter. This is the
only way which can lead both gqawms [Hindus and
Muslims | to progress." (10)

This shows that Sayyid Apmad used the word qawm
to mean a religious community. But he also used this word
to identify a rather small cultural gro@p within a feligious
community. Replying to the address given to him by the
Indian Association, Lahore, in 1884, Sayyid Abmad refereted

to the political consciousness of the [Hindu] Bengalis
and said:

"I confess that the Bengalis are the only people
(qawm) in our country of whom we can rightly
feel proud. It is sglely on account of them that

learning and liberty have flourished and the

feeling of patriotism has spread in our country.

I can rightly say that they are certainly the

cream of the whole people (qawm) of India." (11)
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= These examples show the use of the word qawm by

Sggyild Ahmad mostly in the meaning of a community, religious
or cultural. Now we shall see the same word used in the

broader sense of a "nation". In one of his speeches he said:

"For ages the word qawm has been applied to the
inhabitabts of a country. The people of Afghan-
istan are a gawm., The Iranians are a gawnm.

The Buropeans, in spite of their religious and
ideological differences are considered one gawm.
eee In short the word qawm refers to the inhabl-
tants of a country. O dus and Muslims! Are

* you the residents of any other country. than

India? Are the Muslims not buried in the same
land on which the Hindus are cremated? If you
do live and die in this land then remember that
the words Hindu:: and Muslim are used in the ;
religious sense, and that otherwise the Hindus 5
and the Muslims and the Christians who live in ~
this country are one gawm. When, all these
groups are called one gawm they should act as
such for the common good of the country." (12)

On another occasion when he was replying to an

address presented to him on behalf of a Hindu religious g
orgenization, The Arya Samd@j, he said:

"In my opinion the word Hindu does not denote :
any religion. Every Indian can call himself 3
Hindu. I am very sorry that though I am an [
Indian you [the Hindus] do not consider me a
Hindu. ... You must remember that in the eyes
of foreigners we are all Indians whether we are
Muslim or Hindu (please forgive me for using the
word Hindu in its current sense)." (13)

Sayyid Apmad used the English word "mation™ also
in his Urdu writings, and at those places, there can be

no doubt that he meant a political entity living in a
(“) geographical territory regardless of differences among its
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various communities in religion, language, and cultural
backgroundi Let us read the following:

"I cannot help saying that I feel that a man
like myself was not worthy of having a seat

in the Legislative Council of India, and of
holding the great responsibility attached to
that seat. I was myself aware of the difficul-
ties that stood in my way; nevertheless, it was
my earnest and sincere desire that I should
faithfully serve my country and my gawm.

By the word gawm, I mean both Hindus and Muslims.

This is the way in which I define the word
‘nation’. In my opinion one's religious belief
does not matter at all. The important thing is
this that all of us, whether Hindus or Muslims,
live on one soil, are governed by one ruler,
have the same sdrce of advantages, share equally
the hardships of famine. These are the various
rounds on which I consider both communities
%qawms) which live in India as Hindu, that is,
the nation of India (Hindust3nI gawm). When
I was the member of the Legisiative Council
I always worked for the prosperity of this very
nation (qawm). ... I pray to God that He may
grant to our nation (qawm), as defined above,
the progress of learning which may spread light
among us and in our country." (14)

On another occasion Sayyid Ahmad said still more
emphatically:

"India is the motherland (vajan) for both of us
[that is the Hindus and the Muslims] who breathe
rivers of Ganges (Gapgd) and Juma (jamuna
and consume the product of the same soil.
Together we face 1life and death. After long
dwelling in India our blood has changed its
original colour. Now the colour of our skins
is the same; our features are alike. We, the
Muslims and the Hindus, have exchanged many of
our social customs. We have merged so much
into each other that we have produced a new
language--Urdu-~which was the language of
neither of us." (15)

in the same air, drink the water of holy (mugaddas)
?
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As a matter of fact even the Muslims of that
time did not always use the word gawm in the sense of the
Muslim community. It is true that they used this word very
loosely in their Urdu writings, but if the same word was
translated into English the distinction between "community"
and "nation" was maintained. During his tour of the Panjab,
Sayyid Ahmad was given a welcome address in Urdu by one
of the Muslim associations, Anjuman-i Isl@miyah, J&landhar
[a city in Panjab]. In that address Sayyid Apmad was
called a qawmi hamdard, that is, a person who has sympathy
for his qawm (community or nation). The English translation
of that address was also read by one of the members o:
the Anjuman. The Urdu sentence in which the phrases

gawmI hamdard and qawmi hamdardl weke used was traslated
into English as follows:

"It was in the latter part of the last century
of our era that we learnt from you what it is
to be patriotic (qawmI hamdard), and you have
by your example shewn us what it is to be:raglly
patriotic in practice as well as in theory." (16)
Thus, as we have seen, the concept of gawm in
the sense of community and of a nation was very clear to
Sayyid Apmad. As a Muslim he considered it his duty to
help the Muslims; as an Indian he made it a point to work
for the good of the whole country. There was no ambiguity
in his concept of "nation". The Hindus and the Muelims
were the member of one nation. Their motherland (vajan)

was India. 1In spite of their religious differences they

e bt et et < =
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had to live together. The difference of religion was,
according to him, "inevitable and unalterable. It was
humanly impossible to bring all the pec~le under one
religion. This even the prophets could not do."l7

These are clear example of the fact that whenever
Sayyid Apmad used the word qawm in the sense of a nation
he never meant the "Muslim nation". It can, therefore,
rightly be said that "the thesis which one sometime hears
that Sir Syed [Abmad] based his idea of gawn (in the sense
of a nation) on religion, is either a mere misunderstanding
or a deliberate mis-statement."!S Why Sayyid Abmad's
rosition was "misunderstood" or "deliberately mis-stated"
cannot be answered here; this needs a study by itself.
Our only concern here was to find out what Sayyid Abmad
meant by the word qawm. We have seen that he used this
word in two senses: that of a community and of a nation.
But whenever he meant B nation, he never considered

religion as the element determining nationhood.

Now we shall turn to another person, a great
Urdu poet and a very close friend of Sayyid Abmad. We
shall examine his ideas because he is considered nowadays
by Muslims of India and Pakistan a qawni (national) poet.
The focus will be on the concept of qawm end vatfan.
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The poet Al}af Husayn (1837-1914), is well-known
by his nom de plume, HA&lI. He was born to a rather poor
family in Panipat, a town not very far from Delhi. BHis
effort to get the best education according to the standard
of that time was interrupted more than once; the first time,
at 18, due to his early marriage. Somehow he managed to
run away from his hometown to Delhi to complete his education,
but was discovered very soon and brought back home. However,
he studied at home, unsystematically, subjects like logic,
philosophy, hadis, tafsir, but had no khowledge of English.
He could have studied English when he was in Delhi but he
did not avail himself of the opportunity. He was afmaid
of the criticism of those who considered the English schools
as majhalah (the place of ignorance) as against the madrasah
(the place of learning).

After his return from Delhi, he got a petty job
in a nearby district in the office of the District Collector.
He was about twenty-years-old when the matiny broke out.
He returned home and stayed there Jjobless for about four
years. After many ups and downs he finally got a job in the
Panjab Government Book Depot, Lahore. It was a kind of
translation bureau to prepare text books in Urdu which
consisted mainly of material tramslated from English.
H&1I had to polish the Urdu language of the translated
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material. There he was introduced to and influenced by
English literature, and, in his own words, "“gradually amd
unconsciously traditional attachement to the Eastern and
particularly the Persian literature gave way to love and
respect for English literature in my heart." After a few
years he was transferred to Delhi to teach in the Anglo-
Arabic School, which wgs run under the supervision of the
East India Company. Delhi was not far from Aligarh where
Sayyid Abmad had started his school. Hall was in favour
of the educational policy of Sayyid Ahpad, and gradually
the two men became close. Finally Sayyld Ahmad managed
to ‘steal’ him from government service. From then.on

H&lI remained with Sayyid Ahmad.19

HalY is known to us as a biographer, literary
critic, poet and literateur, but these accomplishments
do not concern us here. Our only interest is to find out
how he had defined gawm, and what place the motherland had
in his outlook.

H81I's concept of qawm is not basically different
from Sayyid Apmad's, though he has not explained this
concept as clearly and definitely as Sayyid Apmad had done.
To HE1T qawm and yapan (motherland) are closely related.

It was natural, in his opinion, that more than one qawm
should live in a country, but all those qawms would have
to merge into one gawm. In other words, several qawms
(communities) make the qawm (nation). According to Hall,
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India was inhabited by two [major] qawme--the Hindus and
the Muslims. Those two qawms were divided ' into many
small qawms (groups), and all "these gqawms taken together
were regarded generally as one qawm, that is the Hindustani
ggﬁg-“zo

The members of the HindustZnI qawm (Indian nation)
had many differences among themselves. They believed in
different religions, they spoke different languages; in fact
there was nothing common among them except their country.
For the sake of their country they had to be united, but
the unity could not be achieved unless both gawms were
given equal weight. If one gawm outweighed the other the
balance would be disturbed and the whole country would
suffer. Ha13 described this situation by a simile. He
sald: "Qawm is like a tree; the families are like leaves.
So long as the root of the tree is not dead the branches
and leaves wWill remain green."21 This root was the country

which could only be preserved by unity.

Love of the motherland has an important place
in the eyes of HalI, but, to him, patriotism does not mean
the mere expression of love for the country, ignoring its
inhabitants. It is the people to whom love and affection
should be directed. According to him, "Unless one regards
every Indian whether Muslim, Hindu, Buddhisti or Brahmosamajl
as the ‘apple of the eye’ one camnot consider oneself a

22
real patriot." Patriotism as the natural feeling of
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atfachment to one's own country is nothing but selfishness.
This kind of attachment, says H3l®, is an instinct which is
found even in animalé.

"Fish out of water

Is no more a fish.

Cow, buffalo, camel or goat,

All love to be at home,

If this is love for the motherland

The animals are no less (patriotics than we." (23)

True love is service; it is self-sacrifice.
When the poet sees around him people who are not much
interested in their compatriots and still speak about
patriotism, he regretfully says:

"0 ye intoxicated with the wine of self

Worshipers of the threshold of your own house

Is this the love for motherland

For which you are dying.

That you think only of your own children

And of your personal friends.

If this is the love for motherland

What kind of love is this?" (24)

Iike Sayyid Apmad, H&1I supported the British
rule, but his support was merely a matter of expediency.
He praised the British administration bu openly criticized

its policy of divide et impera. In one of his git‘at he

described the "Policy for Preserving an Empire" in the
following ways

"Policy said, ‘In a conquered kingdom
Foment divisions in order to maintain your
supremacy.’
Reason advising against this, said,
(} ‘Utter no such word, even unguardedly.’
Judgement said, ‘Act upon what policy advises,

T
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And do not neglect the advice of Reason either.
Go on doing what has to be done,
But utter no indiscreet word.’" (25)

In a lengthy note on one of his poems,zamzamah-’i
ggigari, which was composed in 1878, HalT bitterly criti-
cized those English writers who were harping, rather
exaggeratedly, on the "barbarity" of early Muslim kings of
India. In that note, describing the behavior of the
"eivilized" toward the "unciviliged" nations, H&ll saids

"Phe fact is that one part of the world has
progressed so much compared to the rest of

the world that the o0ld technique of exploitation
has become useless. Previously things were
acquired by killing and plundering. Nowadays

it is possible to acquire much more without
shedding a drop of blood. Exploitation is
achieved through industries and trade, so much
80 that when a trade-agreement is signed between
civiliged and uncivilized governmentis it is
taken for granted that the civilized one has
become the master of every source of income

of the uneciviliged country. I would Bays

The barbariens' plundering is harmful,
But beware of plundering in the disguise of
science and morality.
0 rose-picker, you left no flower, no leaf,
no fruit in the garden, 26
Tell me, is it plucking or robbing or plundering?"
We have seen above that HAlI considered Hindus
and Muslims indivisible parts of the Hindustdni qawm.
This becomes more clear when he deplores the British policy
of discrimination between Indians and Britishers. This
he has depdécted beautifully in one of his qit‘dt, "Medical
Examination. of a Black and a White man." Two official,

one black [Indian] and other white [English] were going
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to [an English] Civil Surgeon to obtain a certificate
for sick-leave. On their way they got into an argument.
The white maen hit the black one so severely that he fell
unconscious. The white man walked to the doctor amnd the
black one was carried to him. When the doctor heard their
story:

"He wrote out a certificate for the white man
attesting %0-his illness,
Saying that the applicent was in very feeble health.
For a white man, a blow of whose fist does not
kill a black man,
Can never exercise authority in India.
To the black men he said, ‘You cammot have a
certificate
For to all appearances you seem to be full of vigour.
A black man who receives a beating from a white
man and does not die at once,
Can never be believed to be ill, my good man.’" (27)

The same feeling he expressed when he described
the function and the nature of law.

“"It is said that it is incumbent on everybody
To obey the law next after God.
But if you ask the truth, there is for the law
No function but that of the spider's web.
The weak are caught in it,
And cannot move hand or foot.
But others can break through it in a second
If they have any force at all in their arm.
With regard to the weak it is law,
But in the eyes of the strong it is la [no]." (28)

These verses show that Hall was of the opinion
that the HindustinI qawm, that is the Hindus and the Muslims,
was suffering under the rule of a foreign nation which in

spite of its many good qualities had no intention of becoming
Indian. The Indianness, to Hall, meant making India one's
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home. For this reason he had even criticized those Muslim
kings who had invaded India in the past only to plunder
its wealth. 1In his maﬁna&i hubb-i vatan (patriotism)
he said: L

"Sometime Turanis robbed our home,
Sometime Durra@nis plundered our wealth,
Sometime Nadir massacred us,

Sometime Mahmid enslaved us,

At the end won in this race

A civilized qawm of the west." (29)

SRR SE R

To stop this situation HE1I wanted to see Hindus !
and Muslims working hand in hand. Beesuse:

"If you want the prosperity of the country,
Regard none of your compatriot as an slien.
Whether he is Muslim or Hindu,

Buddhist or Brahmsamajist,

Whether he is a Ja‘farI or Hanafi,

Jaini or Veshnavi,

Be sweet to every one of them, and

consider him like the apple of your eye." (30)

Also he said:

"Had there been unity in India %
None would have kicked us. i
When & gqawm looses its unity

Then there is no more to lose." (31)

There is no doubt that Hall considered the Hindus
and the Muslims two different qawms so far as their
religious beliefs were concerned. But their faiths were

their private affairs, and religious differences were

inevitable. He said:

"I+ is impossible to remove by argument,

_ Religious differences among the people.

(} If two clocks can't keep the same time,
How can thousands of differences be removed!" (32)
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Taking this fact into consideration Hall gsked the people of
India to be united for the sake of the welfare of the country.
Not only was he of the opinion that unity between Hindus
and Muslims was necessary but he‘also had a firm belief
that one day unity would be achieved. Just a few year
before his death, in 190%, he wrote:

"Nothing can be more inaccurate than to say

that friendly and cordial relations between

the Hindus and the Muslims cannot be achieved.
0f course, due to our bad luck, some people in
both of these communities do not entertain this
idea. But there is reason to believe that if
they are educated, and made aware of their
national (gaMmI) responsibilities and also of
the consequences of their differences, they will
realize that none of the communities will
survive with honour if they are not united." (33)

Hali did not live to see his hope realized.
Every new moon saw the two communities move. further and
further apart. This made H&lI frustrated, and made him
say things which are interpreted nowadays &®h ifile "believed
in the two-nation theory."34 But those who have studied
his 1life and work with an unbiased mind will hardly agree
with this view. To give any such judgement we have to know
the circumstances which moved the men like H&lI or b‘ayyzi.d.
Ahmad from their original position.
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MY PEOPLE ARE MY NATION

AT the time Sayyid Apmad was advocating the
idea of one Indian nation composed of the itwo distinctive
religious communities of India, some of the Hindu leaders,
who were reshaping the destiny of their own community,
seemingly were not giving any thought to the question of
forming a nation in which Muslims would have én equal
place. HBindu India was getting its inspiration mostly
from leaders like Day@nand Sarsvatl (Arya Samdj--mostly
in Panjab and U.P.), Bal Gangadhar>Tilak (Maharashtra),
and Keéshadb Chandra Sén (Brahmo Samdj--Bengal).

Almost all the Hindu movements of that time came
into being as refoom movements. They wanted to reform
many of the social practices of the Hindu society which,
by that time, had become part of the Hindu religion.
Naturally their chief audience was the Hindus. Mainly
for this reason the leaders of those movements looked
back for pblitical as well as spiritual inspiration to
Indian history of the pre-Muslim era. So much so that
the "Christianized" Brahmo Sam&j again became "Hindu" by
the end of the century.l Késhab Chandra Seén, the third
snccessor of Raja Ram Mohan Roy, the founder of the Samaj,

had once said in publics
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".eo Christ has been my study for a quarter of

a century. That God-Man---~they say half God

and half Man---walk daily all over this vast
peninsula, from the Himalayas to Cape Comorin,
enlightening and sanctifying its teaming millions.
He is a mighty reality in Indian history. He

is to us a living and mo spirit. We see

him and commune with him.* (2)

The same man at the turn of the century became quite an
orthodox Hindu so that Farquhar had to say:

"He expounded polytheism and idolatry as if they
were variant forms of theism. He found spiritual
nourishment in the Durga puja, i.e. the annual
festival held in October in Bengal in honour of

the ,demon-slying Durga, the blood thirsty wife

of Siva. ... Prayers were addressed to the

Ganges, to the moon and to fire, as creatures 3
of God and expressions of His power and his will."

This was the condition of Brahmo Sam&aj which,
because of its seemingly anti-orthodox-Hindu thoughts,
was considered in the beginning merely an Indian version
of 0hristianity.4 One can imagine, then, the zeal of those
who were attracted by organizations like the Arya Sama]
which had made no secret of its mission of "back-to-Vedas",
The following lines which were written in January, 1892, -
by one Dr. Griswold of Lahore in the Indian Evangelical
Review, shed light on the nature of the movement.

¥. .. Pandit Day@nand Sarasvati [the founder of
the Arya Samdj] became finally emancipated from
the authority of Brahmanism in some such way as
Luther became emancipated from the authority

of the Church of Rome. ... The watchword of
Iuther was ‘Back to Bible’: the watchword of
Papdit Day@nand was ‘Back to Vedas.’ With this
religious watchword another watchword was
impliecitly, if not explicitly, combined, namely
‘India for Indians’. Combining these two, we
have the principle, both religious and political,
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that the religion of India as well as the
soverel 0 a o0 0 belon 0 ei
an people; in other words an re on

for the IEEIaﬁs, and Indian sévereigg%* for the

Indians. In order to accomplis e rst end,

Indian religion was to be reformed and purified

by return to the Vedas, end foreign religions

as Islam and Christianity were to be extirpated.

Thus the programme included reform for indigenous

religion and extirpation for foreign religion." (5)

In 1874 Pandit Dayanand published his controver-
sial book, Satyarth Prakash [Light of Truth]. Around 1882

he published his second book, Gokarunanidhi on the subject

of cow protection, and about the same time he formed the

Gaurakshini Sabhd, or Cow-protecting Association. The

purpose was, in the words of Farquhar, "to rouse Hindu
feeling against Christians and Mupammaedans on account of
the killing of cows and oxen, and to present a monster
petition to Government, begging that the practice might

be prohibited."6

Satydrth Prakésh enjoyed a high place among the

Aryd Sam@jists and remained like a ¢ scripture’, but no
effort was made by the rest of the Hindu society to convince
the Aryad Sam@jists to tone it down particularly those
chapters which dealt with other religidus communities of
India. Ever since, edition after edition was sold through-
out the country and increased the bitterness particularly
between Hindus and Muslims.’

In other parts of the country as well, the Hindu
revivalism had reached its peak, and the revivalists in
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their religious zeal, intentionally or accidentally,
forgot that Hindus were not the only community living
in India. At a time when the Congress, on the one hand,
and Sayyid Apmad, on the other hand, were trying to being
two communities together to make & nation it was necessary

to give thought also to the feelings of non-Hindus.

This revivalism of the Hindus was no secret to
Sayyid Apmad, nevertheless, he hoped one day to persuade the
Hindu mind and heart to accept the ideal of nationhood.
To people like Sayyid Ahmad the Indian nation did not
comprise solely Hindus or Muslims. It was the sum of these
two principal communities of India. But, as we have seen,
many prominent leaders of the Hindu community were not
thinking along this line. For example, in the case of the
Erys Saméj, the Indian nation was formed by the Hindus

exclusively.

One cannot say that all the Hindus were of the
opinion that ‘India for Hindus’, but it is to be observed
that Hindus, whether nationalist or communalist, hardly
differentiated publicly between those Hindu leaders who
could be considered as staunch nationalists and those who
were by every definition communalists. Even in the eyes
of the Indian National Congress every Hindu leader was a
nationalist.. In 1935, on the occasion of the fiftieth
anniversary of the Indian Yational Congress (est. 1885),
an official history of the Congress was published by the
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Working Committee of the Gongreas.8 Dr. B. Pattabhi
Sitaramayya, the compiler of the hisbory, reviewing "the
era of Reforms, 1885-1905", says about the Brahmo Samaj
that it had a "certain disregard for the past and a spirit
of revolt from the time~honoured and traditional beliefs
of the country."g The Aryé Semédj, in the words of Pattabhi,
"was agressive in its patriotic zeal, and while holding
fast to the cult of the infallibility of the Vedas and the
superiority of the Vedic culture, was at the same time not
inimical to broad secial feform.”lo The nature of these
movements we have already seen, but they have been treated
by the official Congress' historian as "intensely Nationalist
movements" and the activities of the Xrya Samij, as contrast-
ed with those of the Brahmo Samidj, have been described asl
"a reaction, at any rate a correction, to the denationalis-

ing tendencies."11

Around 1867 a movement was started by some Hindus
mostly from the eastern part of the U.P., which later on
attracted many more, to replace the Urdu languasge, an
amalgam of Kharhi b5lI, Hindi and Persian, by the Hindi
language which was wiitten in a script different from the
Urdu script. Sayyid Ahmad could not take an objective
view of this movement; he became frusfrated. This, together
with other activities of the Hindu revivalists, convinced
him that "amongst the Hindus, who had been so caste-ridden

that they had no sense of being a community, communal
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consciousness was now awakening, and their higher and
middle classes Were combining to assert their separate
cultural entity in the face of the Muslims and trying to
safeguard their special interesté."l2 In his evident

frustration he saids

"Now I am convinced that the two communities
(qawms) will not be able to cooperate sincerely
in any matter. It is only the begimning. In
future I envisage mutual opposition and conflict
increasing day by day among those who are called
educated people." (13)

One has to be careful in drawing concluasion
from this statement of Sayyid Ahmad in order to prove that
he believeds "It was no longer possible for the iwo nations
to be partners with each other in any common enterprise.”l4
Sayyid Ahmad had expressed the above opinion in 1867
before one of his friends, Mr. Shakspear, the Commissioner
of Benaras, but never in public. In public he always said
and preached that the Muslims and the Bindus were the

members of the HindustanI gawm or the Indian Nation.l5

II

It is now an established fact that both the
Muslims and the Hindus had participated in the mutiny of
1857. But, once it was crushed, the British generally
held the Muslims responeible for the mutiny and made
them the special object of their vengeance. "The nobility,
particularly the Muslim nobility, was practically crushed
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out of existence."16 Not only were individual Muslims
persecuted, but there was a systematic policy of discri-
minating against all Muslims in government services. Even
as late as 1869, a Persian newspaper in Calcutta, Dirbin,
complaineds
"Gradually Muslims are being driven out of the

services and Hindus are being recruited in

great numbers. It was announced in the official

gazette that no Muslim should be appointed.

Recently there were some vacancies in the office

of the Commissioner of Sundarbasn [Bengall.

Along with the advertisement, there was an 17

official note that none but Hindus need apply."

The same policy was followed in another Muslim-
majority province, Panjab. "The first report about education,
published in 1856-57, revealed that the number of Muslim
teachers and students in [local vernacular] schools was
far greater that that of any other comminity. ... It was
suggested that the government should check the development
of this trend. In the report of 1860+61 the same sentiments
wWere expressed, as the figures again revealed the prepon-
derance of Muslim teachers. The authorities were advised
to persuade Hindus to take up this profession and thus by
cautious steps attempts were made first to equalise and
then to reduce the number oflmnslims in the department."l8
Thies policy was not then criticized by Hindus; in fact
it was appreciated. But when, for many reasons, the
government revised its "policy of repression", and instesd,
adopted a "policy of reconciliation" -tvowards the Muslims,

the Hindus generally did not like it. "Their newspapers
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pﬁblished long articles upon the unwisdom of trying to

19

reconcile the irreconcilable.™ In 1870, The Hindu Patriot

of Calcutta "appealed to the Govermment to desist from
this policy, for all Muslims were traitors and enemies

of the English."2o

However, our purpose here is not to study the
activities of the Hindus; it is only to give the background
of the situation which forced men like Sayyid Ahmad to
become more and more involved in the affairs of the Muslim
community, and to show that at that time even the Hindus
had not thought of "nation" in the sense which is understood
today. It was considered to be quite legitimate for every
community in India to look after its own interest. Sayyid
Apmad took it on himself to become the spokesman of his
community, but he did not want to be unfair to others.

As his biographer, HalI, says:

"Sayyid Ahmad never complained to the government
that the number of Muslim candidates in the
government service was less than that of the
Hindus. He never objected to the promotion of
any Hindu civil servant. He only urged the
Muslims to qualify themselves for government
service." (21) .

This was because in the eyes of -Sayyid Ahmad,
India was like a beautiful bride. The Hindus and the
Muslims were her two eyes. So long as her eyes were in

good shape the bride would remain charming and beautiful.

But she would become cross-eyed if one eye were lost.22
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Such was the spirit in which Sayyid Apmad had conce:ved of
the Indian nation even before the birth of the Indian
National Congress, whose object "(in the light of the
speeches made at the first session in Bombay) was to unite
the various and conflicting elements of the Indian people

into a nation."23

To achieve his objectives, Sayyid Abmad was of
the opinion that the Indians had to digest the fact that
the British rulewas a "boon" at that juncture of Indian
history. Mainly for this reason he was loyal to the
British rule, and was against the idea of participating
in any movement which might lead the country to another
mutiny. He, therefore, asked the Indian in general, and
the Muslims in particular, to abstain from the Congress.

Sayyid Ahmad is now generally accused of being

anti-nationalist because he was anti-Congress. But we

do not seem to realize that during the time we are studying,

becoming anti-Congress and anti-nationalist were not the
same thing. We must remember that the Indian National
Congress of the 19th century was very different from the
Indian National Congress of the 20th century. An unbiased
study of Sayyid Ahmad's political thought and those of the
leading contemporary members of the Congress will reveal
the fact that Sayyid Aphmad was as nationalistic as the
Congress. In fact both were loyal to the British rule
because both were convinced that that was the only way to
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(3 ' help their country. On the loyal attitude of the early
| Congressmen, the official historian of the Indian National
Congress, Pattabhi, says:

"Congressmen loved topprade their loyalty in the
eaerlier days. When in 1914 Lord Pentland,
Governor of Madras, visited the Congress pandal,
not only did the whole House rise and applaud
the Governor, but Mr. A. P. Patro who was
speaking on the despatch of the Indian Expedi-
tionary Force was stopped abruptly and Surendra
Nath Banerjea was asked to move the Resolution
on the loyalty of the Congress to the Throne
which he did with his usual exuberance of
language.

"A similar incident took place when, on the visit
of Sir James Meston to the Lucknow Congress in
1916, the House rose to receive him." (24)

The main reason for Sayyid Apmad's anti-Congress
attitude was his understanding of the political situation
of the country, and particularly that of the Muslims, who

in his opinion, were not in a position to take part in

activities which might lead the country to enother mutiny.25

In one of his articles, "India and the English Government"
(in Urdu), he said:

", .. Those who are not in favour of agitation
against the government are criticized by the
pro-agitation group, which says that they are
flattering the government. Let them say what
they like to say. The fact is that the anti-
agitators believe that if the demands of the
pro-agitators are granted (though this is not
possible) then the peace of the country will
be shattered, and there will be anarchy in
India." (26)

(ﬁ) Sayyid Apmad, like -many others, was so much
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convinced of the necessity of the British rule in India
that he was against the idea of participation in any
movement in which a ‘seditious element’ could be detected.
This advice was not only for the Muslims; it was for every
Indian., This was the basis of his opposition to the Cong-

ress. There were many Hindus who agreed with Sayyid Apmad's

views. In the words of W. C. Smiths

"Now it so happens that those areas [from which

the Congress sprang] are predominantly Hindd

(at least in their middle and upper classes;

Bengal has masses of Muslims, but they are

peasants, and hence unaffected). This made

the situation of pro-:.aid anti-Congress look

vaguely Hindli and Muslim; but of course it

was not actually so." (27)

Those Hindus who Were on the side of Sayyid
Ahmad belonged mostly to the upper class of the U.P.
Those upper-class Hindus were so much opposed to the
Congress that they even wanted to persuade the government
to pass a law to puhiah any Indian who aroused feelings
against the British rule by making speeches in native
languages. A:resolution to this effect was tabled by one
R3ja Shiva Pras8@d Bahadur, C. S. I., in a meeting of the
"Pgfgllugaddrs of Avadh", which was held in Lucknow on the
22nd October, 1888. Sayyid Ahmad was at the meeting and
had already spoken in rafour of an earlier resolution
moved by another distinguished Hindu, Munshl Navalkishor,
C. I. E., asking for hard work among the Hindus and the

Muslims to counter the activities of the Congress. But as
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far as the resolution demanding a law against the "Congress-
minded" speakers was concerened Sayyid Ahmad threatened
to leave the association if it was not willing to drop
that resolution. He said:

"I do not think that the [Hindu] Bengalis are
ill-wishers of the government, though their
activities are objectionable. We do not have
any personal snmity against those who have
Jjoined the Congress. Therefore, we should
not try to involve them into criminal proce-
dure. Our differences are on a matter of
principle. We are of the opinion that their

- demands are harmful for the whole country and
for the Muslims and the R&jplts [a higher Hindu
caste] in particular. If our assessment is
correct, and I will assert that it is so, then
it is up to the government to do what it deems
to be advisable. Why should we beg the
government to enact a law." (28)

Sayyid Apmad might have been mistaken in his
analysis of the political condition of the country, but
the fact remains that his loyalty to the British rule was
based on several factors--fear of British revenge, the
Hindu hosti¥ity to the Muslims, and hope for a bright
future for the country, which according to him, had become
a widow and had accepted willingly the English nation as
her husband.zgsayyid Apmad expressed in a public meeting
his desire to see the British government of India "for
ever", This desire was not based on any love for the
English nation, but on his idea of what was good for his

own country, and for his people.30
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III

Hali, whom we have studied earlier, was also
&ffected by the trmand which we have just discussed. The
result was that day by day he laid increasing emphasis
on the unity of the different Muslim sects. In his opinion
it was the only way to check the growing Hindu power.
Criticising the "Contemporary Polemical Discussion" (mawjidah
maZhabl mundzaré) among the different Muslim sects he saids

"As a matter of fact the Muslims are more in
need of unity than are other communities. It
is because all the communities of Aryan origin
in India mistgkenly consider the Muslims an
alien nation (qawm), though they themselves,
compared to the original inhabitants of India,
are as alien to this country as the Muslims.
Therefore, so long as this mistake is not
corrected and the Aryans do not sincerely
consider the Muslims their compatriots, the
Muslims will not he able to keep an important
position in this country without (strengthening
the bond of) Islamic brotherhood." (31)

Hall became so0o much influenced by the idea of
"Islamic brotherhood" that a radical change came into his
understanding of the concept of nation. When he had said
that all the Indianswere part of the HindustanI nation
he knew very well that all of them were not of the same
origin, language or religion. It was the fact of living
in the same geographical territory which had made them
a nation. But now he ridiculed those people who assetted
the possibility of an Indian nation existing in spite of

80 many differences. He said:



61

"Phig is the opinion accepted by people.

The whole world is now agreed about it,

A ‘nation’ is a group (jami‘sh) which at least

Has a common language, race and religion.

- But some have given this concept an extention,

And are not to be shaken in their opinion.

They call even that crowd a ‘nation’,

In which all common ties are wanting.

One man's language is unintelligible to another;

Their ancestors are separate up to Adam;

One man's deity is the One Peerless God,

While another worship hundreds of thousands of god

We cannot say that in this gi}‘ah (couplet) Hall
advocates dividing the HindustanI nation into two: the
Muslim nation and the Hindu nation. It is true that he
has shown his disagreement with those who believed that
Indians could be celled a nation in the modern sociological
sense. But it does not mean that he regards Indian Muslims
as one nation. If we assert that his definition of ‘nation’
implied the existence of a Muslim nation in India then
we would have to make the statement that in the opinion
of H§alI all the Muslims of India spoke same language, end
had the same racial origin. This was not so and it is
8till not so. In fact, it was his frustration which caused
confusion in his thought and made him say many contradic-
tory things. We have already seen H&ll condemming those
early Muslim kings who invaded India not to settle there
35 But later the same Hall is
regretting that the Muslims settled for good in India.

In his Shikvah’-i Hind (Complaining to India) he considers

but only to plunder.

India the "devourer of nations" (akkélul-umam).34 When
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Muslims came to India, HalI says in his Shikvah, they
carried with them all the characteristiecs of which people
could be proud.

"0 Hindustdn! as long as we were not called Hindi,

We had something which was not found in others.

We were like fire,

You turned us into ashes." (35)

Unlike Sayyid Apmad, HElI did not say even in
his later phase that unity between Hindus and Muslims
was im oasible,36 but he began to warn the Muslimss "The
neighbour's enmity is really painful; take care; do not

let your ‘friends’ overtake you."y7

At this stage people like Fall and Sayyid Ahmad

appear to have failed in their mission. In the beginning

they were trying to create a nation, composed of two
different religious communities. But they had not realised
the obstacles in the way. They were tolerant of other
commmities at a time when mere tolerance was not enough.
leerance is appreciated if it is shown by a strong power
to a weak power, But if the different communities are
attempting to become one, each of them has to act in a
spirit of self-sacrifice. Sayyid Apmad might have been
right in assuming that the Hindus were not self-sacrificing,
but the fact remains that he, on his part, did not show

any readiniss to sacrifice the interest of his community
for the.larger cause of the country. For example, in the

case of the conflict over language, Sayyid Apmad did not
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try to understand the crux of the problem. He saw many
Hindus around him speaking the Urdu language, and jumped
to the conclusion that it was their mother-tongue. But
it was not so. It is true that many Hindus, mostly those
from U. P., knew Urdu very well, but in fact Urdu was not
their mother-tongue. (When we say Urdu, we mean the
HindustanI language which was loaded with Arabic and Persian
words and was written in Persian characters; otherwise
both the communities were speaking the same basic language.)
Sayyid Apmad should have looked this question more
objectively. No matter how Urdu had developed and how
much the Hindus had contributed to the development and
progress of Urdu, it did not change the Bact that the
majority of the Hindus, especially the women, were not
able to read that language if it was not weitten in Hindi
script. The case was similar to that of the English
language in to-day's India. An overwhelming majority of
the Indian educated class is ..well-acquainted with English,
and many Indien writers and poets have made significant
contributions to the English language, but the fact
remains that English is not the mother-tongue of Indians.

This was the basic flaw in the thinking of
Sayyid Ahmad. He was of the opinion that the interests
of the Hindus and the Muslims were the same, yet he was
not prepared to take a realistic view. This wss, perhap<s,
because, in the words of ‘Xbid Husayn, “r= wnal inieslusd
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"He had inherited the best traditions of the

higher and middle class Muslims of Northern

India. This was the basis of as well as a

1imit upon his greatness. He had a genuine

religious zeal, but his approach to religion

was more intellectual than spiritual. He

showed a genuine tolerance towards Hindus,

Christians and followers of other religiomns,

but it was neither the tolerance inherent in

the mystical outlook nor the intellectual

tolerance of liberal democracy, but merely

the traditional tolerance of Hindustani

culture." (38)

Phis was & crucial point in the life of Sayyid
Apmad. He could not find a way to come out of the dilemma
with which he was faced. Instead of attempting to compro-
mise with the situation, he pulled his soldiers out of the

battlefield and started fighting on a different front.

| In the present study we are not going to discuss
Sayyid Apmad's and his followers' activities which led to
the partition of the country, though some references may,
of course, be made at the proper places if they are neces-
sary for the understanding of the problem under discuasion.
In this study we are going to examine those people who,
notwithstanding Sayyid Ahmad's declaration that the Hindus
and the Muslims were no longer able to work jointly, did
not lose their faith in the potentiality for an Indian
Nation, and so committed themselves to the idea that
India was the motherland of the Indian Muslims as much as
it was of the people of other religions. In other words,
they accepted the position that religion was not the factor

basic to a decision on the question of the homeland.
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THE TRUTH ABOUT AZAD

W8 have seen in previous chapters that those
who could not be termed ‘ulamd in the technical sense of
the word had started to speak on behalf of the Muslim:
commmnity of India in political affairs. The ‘ulani,
up to the first decade of the 20th century, were almost
indifferent to politics; there was no political party
of the ‘ulamaé. But this does not mean that the Muslims
of India were altogether indifferent to politics. There
were Muslims in the Indian National Congress, and there
were Muslims following the political thought of Sayyid
Apmaed EKha@n; however there was no Muslim party as such.
It was in the beginning of the 20th century that some
upper-class Muslims whose political attitude was identical
to the ideas of Sayyid Ahmad formed a political party in
1906—-~the All India Muslim League. The name suggests
that the League was formed to represent all the Muslime
of India regardless of social and economic differences.
But the truth is that at the time of its foundation the
Muslim League was basically interested in safeguarding
the rights.of the upper-class Muslims., In the words of
Wilfred Cantwell Smith:

LN

"On October 1lst, a deputation of the Muslim upper
and upper middle classes was led by that heretical
but pompous potentate the Eghé Khén into the
presence of the viceroy, Lord Minto. His High-
ness presented His Excellency with an address
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signed by ‘nobles, ministers of various states,
great landowners, lawyers, merchants, and ...
many other of His Majesty's Mahommedan subjects.’
This group of Muslims and the government together
decided on an imperial policy ... of special
British favour for communalist and loyal Muslims.
To organize such Muslims and tc receive the
favour, the Muslim League was presently born." (1)

There exists a controversy about the origin of
the Muslim League. It has been alleged that the Muslim
League was founded on the instigation of Lord Minto (then
British Governor-General of India) to counteract the
influence of the Congress among the Muslims. Whether this
allegation is true or not does not really concern us:
however the best explanation for the establishment of the
Muslim League has been given by one of its founders, Muhammad
¢A1T Jawhar (1878-1931). On the question of the political
awakening of the Indian Muslims he wrote in his Urdu journal,

Hamdard, on January 10, 1927:

"I have said very often and again I repeat that

it is not an accident that the Congress was
established thirty years after the foundation
of the Universities of Calcutta, Madras and
Bombay. Likewise the Muslim League came into
existence just thirty years after the foundation
of the Aligarh College. Almost all the founders
of the Muslim League were the product of that
College. It was a new chapter in the political
1ife of the Indian Muslims. A few months before
[the inception of the Muslim League, in 1906]
a deputation of the Muslims waited on Lord Minto,
the Viceroy of India, at Simla [the then summer
hill-station of the government of India] to
present their demends in connection with the
proposed Morley-Minto scheme.

"If we follow the itradition of the British
' ;ouznalists of war-time who always used to say,
there is no harm in disclosing the fact now
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that nothing is secret,’ we may also say,‘it
is not disadvantageous to disclose that the
deputation was ‘ordered’ to visit Simla. ...
Up to that time the [Indian] Muslims wers,

for example, like that Irish prisoner who was
facing trial in a court. The judge asked him
if he had any attorney to represent him., His
answer was, ‘No, my Lord, I do not have any
attorney, but there are some of my friends
sitting among the jury.’ The Muslims also had
gsome friends in the jury but that jury by this
time had whispered to the Muslims that the
situation was changed and it was time that
they retain a legal advisor for themselves." (2)

After the establishement of the Muslim League

the Muslims of India found two political parties between which

they had to choose. One was the Indian National Congress
which claimed to represent every Indien regardless of his
religion; the other was the Muslim League which, as we
have seen, was coming forward with the intention of
representing the special interests of a certain group of

Muslims.

The leadership up to that time in both parties
was exclusively in the hands of western-educated people.
The ‘ulam@ had on the whole kept themselves aloof. At
this juncture a young man emerged on the horizon of the
Bastern part of India and dragged the ‘ulamé into politics.
This was Abul Kalam Xzad, aboﬁt whom Shaykhul-Hind Mawlang
Mahmiidul-Fasan, a famous ‘&lim of the Deoband school,is
reported to have said: "We [the ‘ulamé] were sleeping,

Xzad has roused us from our slumber.“3

Ezad was born in 1888. He says:
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"I, who am a homeless wanderer, a stranger to
my times and to myself, nourished on wounded
sentiments, filled with the fullness of
longing, a wreck of unfulfilled desires, named
Ahmad, and called Abul Kalam was born in 1888
(1305 A.H.), coming into a world whose existence
is a presumption, from a non-existence that
has the semblance of reality, and became exposed
to the allegation of being alive. ... My father gave
v the chronogrammatic name of Firoze Bakht
fg&raz Bakht] ("of exalted destiny"m).
Xz8d's father was an Indian and his mother an
Arab, His father, Mawl@nd Khayruddin (1831-1908), had
migrated from Delhi to Mecca with his maternal grandfather,
Mawlanga MunavvaruddIn, at the time of the Indian Mutiny.
Khayruddin completed his education in Mecca and there
married into the family of his own teacher, Shaykh Muhammad

5 He returned to India and settled at

Zahir Vatri.
Calcutta when Abul Kalam was two or three years old.

Xzad completed his education under the supervision of his
father, and at the tender age of 18 he acquired a fairly
high reputation among the Muslim intellegentsia through
his writings in different Urdu journals. In 1912 he
published his own Urdu weekly, al-Hil&8l, from Calcutta.

It was "a brilliant paper," Wilfred Smith says, "writtien
in a new, moving s¥yle, amazingly forceful. It was
illustrated, énd was printed from type. Its influence

was prodigious, especially among the great. ZXzad was
politically and religiously radical. The paper ... shocked

the conservatives and created a furors; but there were

many Muslims ready to follow him."6 Al-Hildal, from the
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very beginning, started criticizing the loyal attitude
of Indian Muslims towards the British rule. The government
of Bengal was not happy with this policy, and under the
Press Act made the management deposit a security of
Rs. 2000, which was soon forfeited. A fresh deposit of
Rs. 10,000 met the same fate. Meanwhile the first World
War broke out and al-Hilgl was confiscated in 1915. After
five months Abul Kalém started a new Press called gl-Baldgh
and brought out a journal under the same name. In 1916
the publication of al-Baldgh was stopped by the Bengal
government and Abul Kalam ﬁae exiled from Calcutta under
the Defence of India Regulations. The Governments of
Panjab, Delhi, U.P. and Bombay had already prohibited his
entry into these provinces under the same Regulations.
The only place he could go was to Bihar and he went to
Ranchi, a hill-station there. After another six months,
he was intérned in Ranchi and detained there till the last
day of 1919. He was released on New Year's Day, 1920.
From 1920 until 1945 he was in and out of jail a number
of times. He was twice elected President of the Indien
National Congress, the first time in 1923, when he was
only thirty-five years old. He was elected for the second
time in 1940. After India became independent he was taken
into the cabinet and was appointed Education Minister
continuing in that position until his death on February 22,
1958.7
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Mach has been said about the fame of Kzdd's
femily, especially by those who claim to have spent a good
part of their lives with him. But, still, Zz&d's early
life and the lives of his forefathers are shrouded in
_ obscurity. ZXAz&d himself has written litile about himself
: or about his family. In 1916 when he was interned in
Ranchi one of his admirers, Mirzd Fagluddin Ahmad, tried
to persuade him to write his autobiography, but Azad did
not agree. Fazluddin persisted till he was promised that
he would be given ‘something’ every week. The ¢ something’
was not what Mirza Fazluddinlwanted, so he himself came |
to Ranchi with a set of fifteen questions covering every
aspect of Azdd's life. "But Maulana Azad hid himself behind
a decorative veil of poetic Byﬁbolism, meking himself so
much of a spiritual adventure that his physical 1life
became an irrelsvant detail."8 The publisher was, however,
successful in coming out of the dilemme with °something’
from the pen of Xzdd (published with the title Tazkirah),
although it was anything but a ‘biography’ .

Since then, several books have been written in
Urdu and in English on Zz8d but almost all of them are
8 kind of ‘admirers' tribute’ to their hero.

The first biography of Xg&d in English was
written by one of his colleagues in the Congress party,
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Mahadev Desai. He wrote the book, Maulana Abul Kalam Agad,
in 1940, to introduce the Mawlangé to the western people
who wanted to know about Az&d because he was then Prestdent
of the Indian National Congress.9 The first four chapters
of the book which deal with the early and family life of
Xz8d contain stories that are not likely to be credited
by those who lack the tendency to ‘hero-worship’. The
second book in English with the same title written by
A[118h] B[akhsh] R3jpit, in 1946, &s also more or less

of the same kind.lo

There are several books on Zzdd in Urdu, whose
authors claim that they had been, at least physically,
"close" to Kzad af one time or another,11 but none of
them give a complete picture of the early life of Zzad
with the possible exception of one writer, ‘Abdurrazziq
MalThpebadl.

MalIpabadi, according to his own testimony, spent
about thirty years with Mawléng Xzad. He has written two

books on the Mawla@nd. The first book, Azad ki kahani

khud Xzad kI zubani ("The story of Xz&d in his own words"),

MalIhabadl says, was dictated to him by Xzad in 1921 when
both were imprisoned in Calcutta by the British government.
According to MalIhabadl, "the book contains exactly every
word of the Mawl@na, and no editing has been done, because
it would have been incompatible with intellectual honesty."l2
The book was dictated in 1921 but was published in 1958
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after the death of #zdd. The person who is said to have
dictated it is no more among us to testify. Nevertheless,
we shall examine this book in some detail, mainly because
this is the only book which provides ample information
about Azdd's early life.

The second book of MalIhabadl is Fikr-i Ezdd
(Remembrance of Az8d). It contains Malihabadl's recollect-
ions of the life of Xz&d from 1920 to 1934, the period
when he worked with Ezad. There are also some writings
and letters of Xzad to be found in this book, which like
the first book was published after his death.

¢ Abdurrazziq MalIhabaal (1895-1959), a graduate
of Darul-‘ulim Nadvatul-‘ulams, Lucknow, and of Al-Azhar,
Cairo, sterted working with Xz&8d in 1921 as the assistant
editor of his (new) journal, Payghém, Calcutta. This
companionship continued for about twenty years. It was
resumed in 1949 when Xz&8d asked him to work in the service
of the Government of India as the editor in charge of the
government-owned Arabic quarterly, Thagéfsh al-Hind, which
was started on the recommendation of Kzad to keep the
Arabd world informed about India. MalIhabadl accepted the
job but left it soon after the death of Mawl@na Xzad.
A year later he himself died.

Before examining these two books, Azad kT kahanl...

and Zikr-i Xz8d, both by ‘Abdurrazziq MalIhabadl, we should

o
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mention an important work in English edited and published

after Xzdd's death, by another of his colleagues, Humayun
KabIr. This book, India Wins Freedom, like Malihab&di's

Azad kI kahanl... was dictated in Urdu by Zz&d and was
compiled and rendered into English by Humayln Kabir. "This,"
says KabIr, "would of course mean that the Indian people
could be denied the privilege of reading his autoblography
in his own words. Indian literature in general and Urdu
in particular would be the poorer for this, but even a
version in English written under his direction would be
better than no record at a:l.l."13 This book does not give
details of ZKz8d's early life because, as KabIr says, "He
consistently refused to speak on personal matters, but

on all questions relating to public affairs, he spoke with
utmost franlkmess and sincerity."14 Thus, after about two
years of the hard work, Kabir was able to present this
book which covers the public life of Zz@&d from 1935 to
1947, in the form in which it was "finally approved" by
Zz3d. There is little about the personal life of Kz&d

in India Wins Freedom, but,as Kabir says, "in the end he

volunteered to write a first volume which would have covered
the earlier phases of his life and brought the story up to
1937. He did in fact approve a synopeis which, according

to his own wished#, im included in this volume as its first
chapter. He had also intended to write a third volume to
deal with events since 1948. Unfortunately for us, these

volumes will now never be written.“15 But we are not as
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unfortunate as one may think if MalIh&badi is right in his
claim that his book, Az8d kI kahénI..., was dictated to
him by Ez8d. If it is true, then the book supplements
KabIr's book because it covers the period about which the
Mawl3n3 had intended to write in the first volume of India

Wins Freedom. The significant difference between Kabir's

and MalThsbadI's books is this: KabIr's book, as we are
told, was finally approved by the Mawlénd, and the existence
of latter's book was kept secret even from Xzad himself for
over forty years. MalThabadI says that he carefully avolded
every_opportunity to let the Mawland remember what he had
dictated in 1921. It was because, as MalIhabadi says, "Had
the MawlBnd remembered he would have surely taken back the
manuscript for ‘pevision’ and then it would have disappeared
for good like many of hié other manuscripts."16 The fear
that MalI}psbaal had of losing the memuscript, if it weze
given to kzad, was based on actual experience; At the time
Xzdd was dictating the book to MalIpabadi he had taken one
chapter of the book for ‘revision’ and had never given 1%
back. That chapter is said to hafe contained information
about a "love-affair" of Azad.

When Rz@d was writing his Ta¥kirah during his
internment in Ranchi, he, speaking on the subjects of love
(‘ishq), desire (havas), and truth (pagIgat), had allowed
his readers to have a glimpse of his private life. In his

own words:
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"When I opened my eyes, adolescence had already
davned, and every thorn in the wilderness of
my world was gay as a flower with the dews of
ambition and desire. When I looked at myself,
I saw a heart filled with quickstlver instead
of blood. ... Heedlessness and inebriation
chanted their magic spells, passion filled the
cups, the madness of youth caught me by the
hand, and my heart, loving to surrender itself,
accepted as its goal the way shown to it by
impulses and desire. ... In reality there are
three stages: desire, love, truth. ... What I
mesn by love here is love in the narrow, impure,
physical sense, not the absolute Love which
embraces all creation. ... No doubt this (love
of mine) was also a lapse. But what shall we
say of a lapse that casts us on the feet of the
Beloved? The end of all effort is to reach Him.
If lapses and intoxication lead us there, why
should not a thousand forms of constancy and
sobriety be offered upcon their altar?" (17)

Apparently no one kmows with whom Azad had fallen
in love, but MalThdbadl says that when Rzad was dictating
his biography to him he had persuaded hiﬁ to open that
chapter of his life too. In the beginning Az&d was hesitants
but finally he agreed and dictated the whole affair-in one
chapter. The next day he took the chapter for revision

and never returned it. Mainly for this reason Mallhabadl
kept the manuscript of Xzad ki kahani... hidden as long as

Xzad was alive.18

It is true that the book, AzBd kI kahdni,.., is
full of contradictions, as we shall see. Nevertheless we
cannot afford to disregard the book if we want to understand

Azgd fully.

i
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III

So far as Kzad's ancestry is concerned, the book,

Zz3d kT kahni..., also follows Az3d's TaBkirah, like all

the other books on this subject, in stating that a well-
known gifI-‘dlim of the early Mughal period in India, Shaykh
Jam3luddTn, known as Bahl3l of Delhi, was one of Aza@d's
forefathers. After mentioning a few more names after Bahl0l,
MalTh8badI introduces one Mawlana Munavvaruddin as Kzad's
maternal great-grandfather. We are told that he was the

son of Qagl Sirdjuddin, the chief qazl of the province of
Panjab. Munavvaruddin was born sometime around 1787. When
.he was about sixteen-years-old, he wanted to go to Delhi to
study under Shdh ‘Abdul-‘AzIz, the son of Shéh Vallullah.

The father, Qazl Sir&juddin, did not allow his son to leave
his home-town, Kasur (Qagir, now in W. Pakistan), to study,
gsince he was able to engage "famous ‘ulema" to teach his

son at home. But one day the son disappeared and headed
towards Delhi. After experiencing:msmy difficulties he
reached Delhi in 1803, but did not let his father kmow of
his whereabouts. Around 1809 he heard of his father's death.
He returned home and brought his family to Delhi and settled
there.

Mawlanda MunavvaruddIn, after completing his
education, founded a madrasah of his own, and started teaching.
Gradually he became so famous that he was appointed Ruknul-
mudarrisIn of the Mughal empire. (Xz8d says in this connec-
ti- 2: "He was one of the last Rulmul-mudarrisin of the
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Mughal period. This post had been first created in
Shehjehan's time and was intended to supervise the activi-
ties of the state for the pyomotion of learning and
scholarship. The officer’hal.d to administer gifts of lands,
endowments and pensions to scholars and $eachers and could
be compared to a Director of Education in the modern world.
Mughal power had by this time declined but these major
posts were still rei:za.ined..")19 Xz3d himself has nowhere
stated categorically when Mawland Munavvaruddin was appointed
as the Ruknul-muddrrisin. However, he is reported to have
said to MalIpgabddi that he was appointed sometime around
the end of ShEh ‘Klem II's reign.’’ This is evidently
incorrect, because the reign of Shah ‘Zlam II ended in 1806
when sixteen-years-old Munavvaruddin was still a student.

The picture of Mawlana Munavvaruddin, the great-
grandfather of Az&d seems at many places to be a deliberate
effort to elevate him to the level of the well-known Indian
‘ulemi of that time. For example, MalIh@badl mentions
the following names among the "distinguished pupils" of
Mawlind Munavveruddin: "Mawl@nd Mahbib ‘All, one of the
famous _ga;gg of the pre-mutiny-Delhi; Mawlang Fagl-i Imam
Khayrgbadl; Mawldnd Fagl-i Ras@il Badgyuni; and Mawl@na
Muhammad ‘Al of GOpama’d, the author of the Kashshaf-i
Ig}i18LEE al-Funin, "2
could possibly have been the pupil of Mawl@ng Munavvaruddin.
Mawl3nd Mapbiib ‘AlI (1200/1785-1280/1863) was two years

But in fact none of these ‘Zlims

-
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older than Munavvaruddin (1787-1857) and "had completed his
education under the guidance of the well-known ‘ulamé@ of
the family of Shah ‘Abdul-‘Aziz."?? Mawl@nd Fagl-i Imam
likewise could not have been his pupil, since he was the
MuftI (and afterwards Sadruggudir, that is, the chief judge,
of Delhi, appointed by the Easﬁ India Company) at the time
MunavvaruddIn entered Delhi as a student. Mawl&na Fagl-i
Imam died ét a ripe agé in 1829 when Munavvaruddin was hardly
forty-two years old.23 The third "pupil" Mawlang Fagl-i
Ras@il BadayuinI (1789-1872) was not educated in Delhi; he was
one of the graduates of the Faraygl Mahal school of I-ucknow.24
The last name, that is, the author of the Kashshaf..., also

cannot be included among the pupils of Mawl@nd@ Munavvaruddin.
(The correct name of the suthor is Muhammad A‘1l4, not
Muhemmad ‘A1l as stated by MalIpab@dI. He was from Thana
Bhavan, a town in the district of Muzaffarnagar, near Delhi,
and not from Gopama’d, a town near Lucknow.) His four-volume
encyclopaedic work,'Kaahshﬁf..., was written in 1158/1745
(about forty-two years before the birth of Mawl&nd Munavvarud-

dIn) and was first published in 1848 from Cal:eutta..z5

The biographical data about Mawlana Khayruddin
(1831-~1908), the father of Mawlan& Xzdd, which have been
supplied to us supposedly by Xz@d, are also not free from
discrepancies. Khayruddin was very young when his father,
Shaykh Muhammad H8di, died. He was, therefore, brought up
by his maternal grandfather, Mawl@n& Munavvaruddin. According
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to MalIhdbadl, Xzid's father was taught by the most eminent
‘ulamg of the time: to mention a few, "Mawland Fagl-i Im@m
(in philosophy and logic), Mawland RashIduddin of Delhi,
the author of a book on dialectics called Rashidiyah, and
Mawlind [Muhammad] Ya‘qidb (in gggzg)."zs These three people
were the authorities in their respective subjects, but it
was impossible for Khayruddin to have had the honour of
being their student. Mawland Fagzl-i Imé&m had died in 1829,
two years before Khayruddin was born. Mawland Rashiduddin
died in 1833 when Khayruddin was a boy of two years. (Here
it should also be mentioned that the book, Rashidiyah, was
not written by this ‘Zlgm. The author was another ‘&lim,
¢ Abdur-Rashid JawnpirI, (d. 1672)).27 Mawlans Mubammad
Ya‘qib had migrated to Mecca in 1840 (when Khayruddin was
not even ten years old), and died there in 1867. Khayruddin
also migrated to Mecca in 1857. Thus it is only in the
case of this last ‘8lim that there is a possibility that
Khayruddin might have been his pupil.

About the time of the Indian Mutiny Mawldnd
Munavvaruddin decided to leave India and go to Mecca;
Khayruddin accompanied him. The itinerary of their journey
from Delhi to Mecca given by MalIphabadl is different from
what Humgyun KabIr has recorded in Indias Wins Freedom.
According to MalIhabadl, Mawland Munavvaruddin left Delhi
in 1849 and, stopping over at places like Bhopal and Bombay,
reached Mecca, in 1852, where he died in 1857.28 In India
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Wins Freedom Asd8d is reported to have said: "Two years
before the Mutiny, Mawla@na Munawwaruddin was disgusted
with the state of affairs in India and decided to migrate

to Mecca. When he reached Bhopal, Nawab Sikandar Jahan
Begum [the female Navdb of Bhopal] detained him. The Mutiny
started while he was still in Bhopal and for two years he
could not leave the place. He then came to Bombay but could

not go to Mecca as death overtook him there."29

However, it is not very important when and where
Mawlind Munavvaruddin died. In any case the family migrated
to Mecca and settled there. Khayruddin, as it has been
mentioned above, cqmpleted his education there and married
into the VatrI family. After a while he became an Ottoman
subject because he wanted $o0 build his own house in Mecca
permission for which was not grantéd to non-Ottoman subjects.
During his stay in Hijjaz he visited Constantinople for
about two years. The Suljan of Turkey granted him the
pension (given to learned people). He soon became known
in the circle of the ‘ulam@ of Constantinople and started
taking part in religious discussions. He also wrote a book
on the advice of the Shaykhul-Islam of Turkey (whose name
has not been mentioned in ZXgdd kI kahanI...) to prove that

the forefathers of the Prophet Muhammad were unitarian
(muv: d). In this book he took pains to prove that
AbT TElib, one of the uncles of the Prophet, was a Muslim. ot

After his stay in Constantinople, and visits to
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Syria, Egypt and Iraq, Mawlanad KhayruddIn returned to.
Mecca. After his return he was asked by the ‘ulam@ pf Mecca
to compile a book on the beliefs of the [so called] Vah@bis
of India. He wrote a voluminous book which was published
in ten volumes. The complete title of the book is not
known. Malihd@badI has given an incomplete titles "Najm .T.

al-rajm al-shay@fin." There is a reference to this work

in Xz34d's India Wins Freedom, but there too the title has

not been mentioned. The reference only says: "My father
became well known throughout the Islamic world after an

Arabic work of his in ten volume was published in Egypt."32

The present writer has not found any reference
to Mawland Kheyruddin in any book like Mu‘jem al-mu’allifin
by ‘Umar Kahhalah, or Al-A‘l8m by Zarkali, or Mn‘Jém al-
matbi‘dt al-‘Arabiyah va al-mu‘arrabah by Sarkis, which aim
giving information about all Arab and non-Arab writers
whose works in Arabic language were published. Only in
one catalogue the following information is found about a
book which seems to be the one that Mawld@na& Khayruddin is
said to have written on the religious beliefs of the fore-

fathers of the Propher Muhammads

"Muhammad Khair al-Din Kh@n called Khuyiri

Al-‘Ak@’id al-khuylrIyah: A treatize on Muhammaden
theology. Vol. I, entitled Durj al-durar al-bahiyah,

+ MalThabadi found this place blank in his manuscript when
he was handing it over for printing. Since Xz&d was no
more alive he could not check the title, and, therefore,
let it go as it was. (Zz8d kI kah@ni..., p. 90). '
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consisting of series of extracts from Arabic
works, with Hindustani phraphrases, designed
to prove that the male and %emale ancestors of
the Prophet Muhammad were true believers.
Calcutta, 1894." (33)

We have lingered rather a long time investigating
the family background of Az&d. But the most important
question is why there are all these discrepancies in the
account of the family of Xz&d supplied by those people who
claimed to have lived with Az3d for a very long time. It
is true that whatever MalIh@bdadi had said in his book about
Xzad's family was not made public during the life~time of
Xzad. But we cannot disregard the book merely for this
reason. On the contrary, Malih&badi's book, AzEd ki kahani...,

is quite important because it seems to be an effort to fill
in the bare pencil-sketch of Az@d's family drawn by Kzad
himself in his book, TaZkirah, and the one he dictated

and approved, India Wins Freedom. Zz&d told Humayun Kabir
that his "father was well known throughout the Islamic
world," and his great-grandfather, Mawl@nZ Runavvaruddin,
was such a prominent ‘8lim of India that he was appointed
by the Mughal ruler "to administer gifts of lands, endow-
ments and pensions to scholars and teachers." If this were
so, then it is inconceivable that their names would hot

be included in those taBkirahs which were compiled by their
contemporaries to preserve the names of the famous Indian
‘ulami. For example, Mawlénd Munavvaruddin is not found

in the Tardjam al-FuBald by Mawlénd FaMl-i Im@m (d. 1829).
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or in the Vagd’'i¢ ‘Abdul Q&dir KhanI by Mawlvi ‘Abdul

Qadir Kudn REmpdrI (1780-1849), or in the Ta¥kirsh ahl-i

Din1i, [a chapter of ABArugganddid], by Sayyid Ahmad
Khan (1817-1898). Likewise the father of Xzdd, Mawland
Khayruddin, is found neither in the Indian sources like
the TaBkirah ‘Ulamd’-i Hind by Rahman ‘A1T (1828-1907)

nor in the Arabic sources (mentioned above).34

Abul Kalam was a man who had, earlier, criticized
those people who were in the habit of boasting about their
families. In the opening pages of his famous book, TaZkirah,
he had said:

"My family is the outcome of three different

edigrees. Each pedigree was known for ‘ilm

%knowledge) and for irshad (spiritual guidance).

If femily is something to boast of, then I

also can speak highly of myself. Remember I have

said "if? because I am against this practice.

In my whole life not even for a single moment

was I prepared to buy honour with the price of

the dead bones of the ancestors." (35)

This is what he claimed, but what we have seen
above by no means supports this claim. Neither can we
say that Az&d was unaware of what his early biographers were
writing about him and about his family. After the publi-
cation of those books Azdd lived for about fifteen years
but he let the people believe what his biographers had said.
It is true that none of his early biographers like Mahadev
Desai, or A. B. Rajput gave as many details about his fore-

fathers as did ‘Abdur-Razzaq MalIhabadI, nevertheless i .-
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they spoke very highly of his family.

In this connection there is a very interesting
point relating to Az&@d's early education. Mahadev Desai
seid in his book, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, that in 1905

%z8d's father sent him at his own expense to Egypt for
pdvanced Arabic studies in the famous Al-Azhar University
of Cairo.36 Since then this statement was repeated by
most of those who wroté about Az&d. On the other hand this
statement was challanged by certain people claiming that
Xz2d had never been to Al-Azhar.37 This controversy was
going on in the life-time of Xz&@d but he said nothing for
or against the statement of Desai. Because of his silence
it was taken for granted that he had studied at Al-Azhar,
but Azdd knew i all along that it was a mia-statement

of facts. It was his posthumous publication, India Wins
Freedom, that for the first time revealed that Desai had
misunderstood Az&d when the latter had said to him that he

38

had once visited Al-Azhar. Up to that time even his

closest friends were under the impression that he had
studied at Al-Azhar, so much so that this error was repeated
in one of the Government Resolutions which was passed in
the Indisn Parliement in memory of Az&d after his death.
The next day when Jawaharlal Nehru spoke before the
Parlisment he admitted the error and saids

"Dhere is one matter I should like to mention

here, a curious error to the expression of
which I have myself been guilty about Maulana
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Azad's life and education. Even this morning,

the newspapers contained a Resolution of Govern-

ment about Masulans Azad. The error is this,

that it is stated--as I have stated sgmetimes—-

that he went and studied at Al Azhar University.

He did not do so. It is am extraordiliary per-

gsistence of error of wide circulation. And, as

I said, I myself thought so. Otherwise, I would

have taken care to correct it in the Government

Resolution which appeared today. The fact is

that he never studied at Al Azhar University." (39)

It is quite evident that Azad by remaining silent
at least helped the others in believing that he was edu-
cated at Al;AZhar, the graduates of which were accepted
as ‘ulamd. Moreover he was directly responsible for
creating the impression that he belonged to a family whose
members were reputed ‘ulamd of their time. Why did Kzad
do so? This is an important question which has to be
answered. But we will postpone this question until we

Xnow more about Azad.
IV

Tt is hard to tell when Ez8d's childhood ended
and he grew into a mature young man. As . a matter of fact
he was known,at the age of eighteen, to the Muslim intelle-
gentsia of India through his articles in several Urdu
journals of that time. He did not go to any madrasah;
never attended any college or university. His entire
education was at home. In his own wordss:

"My father was a man who believed in the old

ways of life. He had no faith in western
education and never thought of giving me an
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education of the modern type. He held that
modern education would destroy religious faith
and arranged for my education in the old tradi-
tional manner. ... There was of course the
Calcutta Madrasa, but my father did not have a
very high opinion of it. At first he taught
me himgelf. Later he appointed different
teachers for different subjects. He wished me
to be taught by the most eminent scholar in
each field." (40)

In this way Az2d completed the traditional course
of higher education at sixteen instead of the normal twenty
or twenty-five. Without the knowledge of his father Kzdd
also started to read the writings of Sayyid Apmad Khan.
Sayyid's ideas impressed him to the sxtent that he thought
his education incomplete unless it was supplemented by the
knowledge of modern sciences, philosophy and literature.
This was highly objectionable to his father, so he started
learning English without his knowledge. One Muhammad Yusuf
Ja‘farl taught him the English alphabet and gave him an
elementary book on English grammer. Xz@d says: "As soon as
I gained some knowledge of the language, I started to read
the Bible. I secured English, Persian and Urdu versions
of the book and read them side by side. This helped me
greatly in understanding the text. I also started to read
English newspapers with the help of a dictionary. In this
way, I soon acquired enough knowledge to read English books
and devoted myself specially to the study of history and

philosophy."41

This "extra-curricular" reading and especially
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that of the books of Sayyid Apmad, led to a mental crisis
in Xzad. He had been born and brought up in a very strict
religious (traditional) family where "all the conventions
of traditional life were accepted without question and
the family did not like the least deviation from orthodox

néd2

ways. His uneasiness manifested itself when he viewed

the "exhibition of differences among the different sects
of Muslims." It resulted in the questions "If religion
expresses a universal truth, why should there be such

differences and conflicts among men professing different

religion? Why should each religion claim to be the sole
repository of truth snd condemmn all others as false?“43
These rather simple questions ultimately led Az&d to a
stage where he broke all the bonds imposed upon him by
his family. He says: "I felt free of all conventional
ties and decided that I would chalk out my own path. It
was about this time that I decided to adopt the pen name

‘%284’ or ‘Pree’ to indicate that I was no longer tied to

any inherited beliefs."44 But all this was unknown to

those who used to see him every day, because this was an

internal conflict. In his own words:

"My exterior was of such a religious man who
wanted to combine reason (‘agl) and revelation
(‘ilm) in religion; in my interior belief I
was en atheist; in practice I was a sinner.
This was the last stage of my hopelessness.
But suddenly a ray of hope appeared before
me. As I cennot describe the power which
had pushed me into darkness I also cannot
tell about that hand which pulled me out into
light. But this is a fact that there was a
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: light and after wandering for about nine years
(:‘ I found my destination just before me. Every
doubt was removed. All the illusions disappeared,
and I got that belief and satisfaction of which
I was in search." (45)
Azad suffered from spiritual conflict up to the
age of twenty;two, but even during this period of crisis
he was acclaimed by the reputed Muslim scholars and ‘ulamia
of India. ZXzdd was the youngest of all of his contemporary
Muslim scholars and the ‘ulam@. The incompatibility of
his age with his intellectual attainments was always a
matter of astonishment. Mrs. Sarojini Naidu, a famous
Indian poetess of English and a colleague of Az&d in the
Congress, was correct when she gaids: "Do not talk of Maulana's

age. He was fifty the day he was born."46

At the time Xz3d was passing through a religious
erisis his political ideas were also in a turmoil. He
wanted to see his country free from foreigners. His "quick-
silver-heart" could not approve of the Congress movement
which was a glow means to get rid of the British. Nor could
he join the Muslim League whose goal was not predictable.
Thus Kz8d, the product of a family in which every tradition
was to be accepted without question, became 80 radical in
politics as to associate himself with one of the important
revolutionary (Hindu) leaders of Bengal. Gradually Xzad

became::go much impressed by the activities of the revolu-

(j) tioneries that he actually joined the paty. It was a

difficult task for him because the revolutionaries were
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exclusively Hindus and actively anti~Muslim. Since the
Muslims were generally indifferent to active polities,
they were considered by the revolutionary Hindus as one
of the obstacles in their way. It was hard for #zad to
convince them that not all Muslims were reactionaries.
Howéver, he succeeded in making them realize that the
"Muslims of India would also join the political struggle
if we worked among them and tried to win them as our
friends. I also pointed out that active hostility, or
even the indifference of Muslims, would make the struggle
for political liberty much more difficult. We must therefore
make every effort to win the support and friendship of
the co’fnmunity."47

| It was during those days that Azad had occasion
Yo go abroad.48 He visited Iraq, Egypt, Syria and Turkey.
He wanted to tour Europe and visit England but he had to
return from France where he heard about his father's
illness. During his stay abroad he met many young
revolutionaries of Turkey, Iran and Egypt. He developed
a close contact with them and kept it alive through
correspondence after his return. Their meeting also
confirmed his political beliefs. During his tour, he says,
"I was more convinced than ever that the Indian Muslims
must co-operate in the work of political liberation of
the country. Steps must be taken to ensure that they were
not exploited by the British Government. I felt it necessary
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to create a new movement among Indiean Musalmans and
decided that on my return to India, I would take up poli-

tical work with greater earnesmess."49

With this idea in his mind Abul Kelam Azad
returned from h;i.s voyage and about the middle of 1912 he
started an Urdu weekly, Al-Hildl (the Crescent) from
Galcutta.so AliHilé'l became so popular among the Urdu-
reading Muslims of India that within a very short time
Lizad was kmown from one end of the country to the other.
Tn the case of Az&d and Al-Hil&l it is hard to say "who
made whom;" but it is a fact that A1-Hil181 made Xzad more
widely known. One may 8say that it was the creature which

created a new image of its creator.
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THE RELIGION OF AZAD

EZXD had two definite objectives in his mind
which he wanted to achieve through his paper, Al1-HilZ3l.
One was to destroy the obscurantism in the religious life
of the Indian Muslims. The other was to bring Hindus and
Muslims on a joint platform to fight the British imperial-
ism and liberate the country. Apparently these two objec-
tives are different, but in the eyes of Xzad they were
closely connected. To him politics was not outside the
sphere of religion; this he made clear as early as the
ninth issue of Al1-Hildl. Some wrote to him that he had
a deep insight in religious affairs but very often he con-
fused his readers in political matiers. In fact the readers
found the political issues 80 mixed up with the religious
issues that it was impossible for them to gift the one
from the other. They wanted to know the religious and
political teachings which Al-Hilal wanted them to imbibe.
X234 wrote in answer to the letter:

"The question whether political discussion should
be separated from religious education is very
important. But you must kmow that this 1& thelyery
foundation on which we intend to build the whole
edifice of Al-Hildl. If you say that the arch
is not besutiful we may try to alter its shape,
but if you wish that the key stone be removed,

() then we cannot accede to your wished. There will

be nothing left with us if we separate politics
from religion." (1)
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The inseparability of religion and politics was
the core of Izadfs programme. Throughout his public career
he did not compromise on this issue. There are several
letters in Al-Hildl from readers asking him to apply his
mind exclusively to religious problems and give up meddling
with political affairs but his answer was always, in effect,
"both or none."2 Those who did not pay adequate attention
to his repeated assertions that religion and politics could
not be separated, and tried to evaluate him alternately
as a religious leader and a political leader, have found
discrepancies in his ideas and have consequently come out
with the verdict: "It is evident from Azad's writing that
he made his political debut as a ‘Moslem nationalist.’...
(But since he was impressed by the idea of nationalisﬁ
after the abolition of the Turkish Caliphate by Ataturk) ...
after 1920 he ceased to be a ‘Moslem nationalist’ .
Whether or not it was feasible in this age to coﬁbine polities
and religion is an entirely different question, and at present
beyond the scope of our discussion. The point is that the
Mawl@nd had been stressing that religion could not be
separated from politics: we should look at his views from
this angle and see if he at any time changed his position
and accepted the possibility of separation.

So, first of all, we have to see what exactly
religion meant to EZz@d. Religion did not mean to him the

outward practices of a religious commumnity; in his eyes all



93
the religions of the world were the manifestations of

one and the same Truth. The difference was not in the
substance but merely in the form. In one of kis president-
ial addresses before the Khilafat Committee of Bengal,

in 1920, he sailds

"One of the greatest causes of the differences

and conflicts in this world is the unity of
truth and the varieties of names and terms.

Truth is one and the same everywhere, but it

has various dresses. And our misfortune is

that the world worships "terms" and not their
meaning. Thus though all may worship the same
truth, they will quarrel on account of differences
of terms. ... And the same factor is in operation
from the great differences of religions to

minor differences in customs and ways of life.

If all the curtains due to external forms and
terminologies could be removed and Reality were
to appear before us unveiled, all the (religious)
differences of this world would suddenly vanish
and all quarrelsome people would see:. that

their object was the same, though it had
different names." (4)

Ez84 clarified the point, on another occasion,
when he distinguished between a religion and the followers
of a religion. It was not the religion but the followers

who were different from each other, and thus gave the

impression that there were many religions in the world.

He said:

"You must always keep in view the difference
between a religion and the followers of that
religion; they are two different things and
must be kept apart. Two-third of our disappoint-
ments are due to the fact that we fcrget this
basic difference. We_cannot tak
step towards the truth by stariing from those
ideas and beliefs, which are actually found in
th T W g
religion, ... Nevertheless there cannot be more
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than one path of truth. There were (seemingly)
only two altermatives for the Quran; it could
elther affirm the correctness of the followers
of all religions or condemn them 2l1l. It could
not affirm the correctness of the followers of
all religions for they were opposed to each
other; similarly, it could not condemn all
religions, for this would have meant declaring
that the world had been always devoid of reli-
gious truths and the foundation of man's spikitual
culture and improvement would have been overthrown.
So the Quran chose & third path and declared:
‘A1l the religions of the world are correct, but
their followers have deviated from the truth.
All ignorance, opposition, differences of claims
and conflicts of organizations, which we now find,
are due to dack of intelligence and defective
actions of the followers of religions; in the
teachings of religions there is no difference
whatsoever.’” If these differences between the
followers of religions, which are not based upon
truth, could be removed, then that which is true
would be left with every religious group. . .
This is that "unity in Truth" (mushtarik haq),
the spiritual content of which is found in all
the religions of the world." (5)

These differences among the followers of different
religions were the result, according to Ezzd, of the
natural human tendency to accept the legal aspect of a

religion as the real religion. The legal aspect of a
religion which Xz&8d called shar‘ or minhdj was subject to

variations. But "variations of this nature could not alter
the character of DIn, or the basis of religion. That was
the truth which the Qur’sn aimed to emphasize. Its comp-
laint was that the Din ﬁad been neglected and the variation
in the Shar‘ and Minh@j or the outward form of observance
idealized and made the basis of mutual differences

among mankind."6
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Az3d's message was not restricted to any parti-
cular group. It was for all--at least for all Indians
who professed a religion. In India there were people
professing different religions, but politically their destiny
was one. For the liberation of the country all had to
work together, but unfortunately each religioms community
was afraid of the other. To bring all religious communities
closer Az8d suggested: "Regard all religions as originally
delivered as true. DPoint out that the basis common to
them all, vis., the DIn, has been neglected paving the way
to the rise of group religions. It is now for the followers
of each groupism to retrace their steps and return to the
original basic teaching of each religion, the Din common
to all. If that were done, says the Qur’@n, all disputes
will be set at rest, and every one will ﬂegin to see that
they way of each religion is but one and the same viz., the
one DIn or way meant for all mankind, and to which the
Qur’sn gives the name of Al-Islém or the way of peace,
traﬁslated literally, or of devotion to God and righteous
1iving."7

Ezad also said:

"One type of religion is hereditary; continue to
believe in what your father and grandfather
believed. Another type of religion is geogra-
phical; a certain path has been challedout for
a part of this earth; everybody walks on that
path and you walk on it also. Another type of
religion is based on the census; the census-
papers have a column for religion; get "Islam"

written in that column. Another variety of
religion is based on customs; a framwork of
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religious rites and customs has been formed;
follow them and do not infringe them in any way.
But after eliminating all these items, something
really religious is left; let us for the sake of
distinction and honour call it "the true religion.™
It is the way to this religion that has been lost.
On reaching this stage, the truth is revealed
that the conflict of teligion is not due to
religion itself but to the evil deeds, worship

of external forms and the theological cannons

of the claimant to religion. True religions may
walk by different paths but they will reach the
same goal." (8)

There was a danger for Az&d as for all those who
tried to prove the unity of world religions. The audience
whom Azad was addressing was primarily Muslim. Islam,
to them, did not mean only belief in one God; there were
other things which a Muslim had to believe, the prophethood
of Muhammad, for example. When Azad wrote about religion
éome people saw in it an effort to undermine the belief
in prophets (Im8n bi-r-rusul), When, in 1931, ZzZd's

"Commentary of the StUrah al-Fatihah" (the first chapter of

the Qur’a@n) was published, some readers considered it,

especially its concluding part, as conducive to the lowering
of the position of the prophets. XZzad said in the conclu-
ding lines of the commentary of the first surahs

"Let us, for a moment, look at the Silirat-ul-Fatiha
as a whole and see what type of mind it reflects
or tries to build.

Here is a person singing the praise of his Lord.
But the Lord he praisex is not the Lord of any
particular race or community or religioms group
but Lord of all world, Rabbul-’&lamin, the source
of sustenance and mercy uniformly for all mankind.
_+++ He therefore asks of his Lord to show and
keep him to the path which is straight--the pakh
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trodden by those with whom God was always pleased.

That is his concept of the Straight Path. The

path that he wishes to walk on is not the path

devised by any particular race or by any parti-
cular community or by any particular religious

groupo L

Think over. What type of mind this all argue

or aim to build? Whatever wiew one may take,

this is clear that the mind which the Strat-ul-

Fatihd depicts is a type of mind which reflects

the beauty and mercy of God or universal humanity,

the mind which the Qur’&n aims to build." (9)

The question which arose in the minds of the
readers was that if the "Straight Path" were not the mono-
Poly of any particular religious group then there would
be no distinctive place for the Islamic shari‘sh. Every
non-Muslim could reach God without following the shari‘ah.
simply by following the teachings of his own religion.

One of his readers, Ghuldm Raslil Mihr, sent these objections
in one of his letters to Xz&@d.. Xz8d was surprised by this
kind of thinking, and refused to accept that that was the
logical conclusion to be drawn from his teachings. He
suggested that people should not be hasty in drawing such
conclusions. They should wait till his Tafsir was completed.
He promised to discuss this point at a proper place, but
meenwhile, to reassure his readers, he said that the Inan
(velief) in God could not be complete without the Iman

in the prophets, in the scriptures, in the angels, and in
the Last Day. Iman in prophets meant acceptance of all
those prophets who had come before the Prophet Muhammad,

the last messenger of God after whom no prophet would come.

A
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But surah Fatibah, Kzdd wrote, was not the proper place
to raise these points. The best place was siirah Ahzab
(the 33rd chapter of the Qur’ﬁn).lo

However the above-mentioned concept of Iman is
in no way different from the orthodox beliefs of the Muslims.
If Iman is incomplete without having faith in the Prophet
Muhammad then how can the other religiogs commmnities be
brought on one common religious platform unless they accept
Islam? Zz@d's reply is that Islam is not a new religion;
if the people of other religions return to the real teaching
of their own religion they will find that they are true
Muslims. He says:

"The Qur’dn has never asked the followers of other
religions to accept it as an entirely new faith.
On the other hand, it asks them to return to
their own religions by discarding all the accre-
tions and the aberrations from their original
faith. It then says: ‘If they do so, the purpose
of the Qur’an is served; for, if once one returns
to his own religion in its pristine form, he will
find that there is nothing therein but what the
Qur’8n itself has come forward to revive and
represent.’ The Qur’an seys that its message is
not new and that it is the same which the
prophets of yore had delivered." (11)

It is a matter of speculation how far Azad had
been able to impress the people of different religions in
India with his admonition: "There is only one Providence

for all of you. You, one and all, believe in Him. Your
spiritual leaders have all taught you but one and the same
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basic truth. And yet, why do you hate one another in the
name of one snd the same God who had enjoined on you all
to bow befbre no other threshold except His, and bound
you all together in one single bond of fellowship?“12
There are reasons why one is inclined to think that Zzad's
TafsIr could only have had a 1imited influence. The Tafsir
was in Urdu, and therefore was limited to a particular
group. The majority of the Indiamns who did not know Urdu
was not fully aware of what Xz&d was saying. The other
reason was political. ZXz&d was in the Congress, and was
considered a party-man. Thus whatever he said about the

unity of religions was taken by many Muslims as the reflection
of his political ideas, and, therefore, had to be discarded.l3

This brief discussion of the religious thought
of Zzad must be kept in mind while analysing his political
jdeas. This is what he meant by religion when he said that
politice should not be separated from religion.

II

Abul Kalam Azad started his political career,
as we have seen, as a member of an Indian revolutionary
party in Bengal. This phase of his life was very short.
By the time he returmed from the tour of the Middle East
and Turkey‘and started publishing his journal Al-Hil&l he
had severed his connection with secret revolutionary acti-

vities. His aim was to achieve a constitutional parlimentary

-
SOW
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government in free India. In the third issue of Al-Hil&al
he saids "According to our belief, Islam considers all

‘non-constitutional and non-parliamentary government as

(embodiments of) the biggest human sin."14

In India the parliamentary government could not
work successfully unless the members of different religions
worked together. Azad therefore asked Muslims to unite
with the Hindus and cooperate with them to achieve political
liberty. When he first spoke about unity and cooperation
he was misunderstood by many of his readers. They thought
that Ez&d wanted them to follow the Hindus in their political
programme, One of the readers wrote to hims "Today there
are three political courses open to Indian Muslims; they
can remain where they are, [meaning, perhapa, that they
can stick to the political policy of Sayyid Abmad Khaén];
or they follow the moderate policy of the Hindus who are
prepared to live under the British government provided
some special rights are granted; or they can follow the
third (Hindu) political group, that is, the Indian anarchists
who want to free Mother India (Bhérat Matd) from the alien
rule with the help of bombs and revolvers. Flease tell
us which of these courses do you want us to follow. Once
you meke it clear we will decide if we can go along with
you."15 To this Az@d answered: "Muslims need not follow
any political group. The Muslims have led the world for
centuries, and they still can do it. As long as we follow
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Islam we do not have to follow the Hindus in politics. ...
The Qur’&n oproses autocraoy; It teaches us that no one
has the right to force others to bow before him., Even the
prophets were not allowed to let other people do obeisance
to them. How, they could any other worldly power or any
government have this right. .o+ Therefore it is obligatory
for the Muslims to work for their liberation, and they must
not rest until they are given parliamentary government.

It is a religious duty for them."16

To say that Ezad "did not believe that the Moslems

were dependent upon the cooperation of either the moderate

i

or extremist Hindus, is a hasty conclusion. Xzad always

kept in view the fine distinction between "following" and
"cooperating." He never asked the Muslims to follow the
Hindus, but he always insisted they they cooperate with them.
He was aware that the Muslims were in the minority in India
(and a minority usually vulnerable in a parliamentary system
of government). But he was of the opinion that the Muslims
in India were in a unigque position. In his own words:

"The political vocabulary and the language of
mathematics are two different things. A group
may be called a minority according to numbers
but it is not necessarily of minor political
importance. In politics a minority means a
group which does not have the power to protect
itself from a bigger group. ... Let us take the
case of Muslims in India. Are they a helpless
minority which cannot protect itself from the
majority?

There are about 80 or 90 million Muslims in India.
Unlike other Indian groups they are not divided
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into a number of social and racial groups. ...

It is true they are not more than one-fourth

of the whole population of the country. But

it is not their "number" alone which will decide
their fate; their mental and moral qualities have
also to be taken into consideration. Is there
any justification that a group like theirs will
be unable to protect its rights and interests

in a free democratic India?

We should also not forget that the Muslims are
not confined to a particular area. They are
spread in varying concentrations over the whole
country. They are in the majority in five of
the eleven provinces of India. Even if we are
thinking about majority and minority in terms
of religious communities how can we consider
the Muslims to be an absolute minority in India.
If they are a minority in seven provinces, they
are a majority in five provinces." (18)

This was what Az&d said in 1940 after the Muslims
had developed political sense but he had said the same
thing in a different way as early as 1912

"The basic mistake is that the Muslims are afbaid
of being in the minority. They want to increase
their number, but do not want to strengthen their
hearts. As a matter of fact in the eyes of Islam
"number" hes no importance at all. Unfortunately
this question of number has become the pivot of
our political activities. We cannot join the
[Indian National] Congress as we are afraid that
we [being in a minority] will be swallowed up
by the Hindus. We cannot join in the demand for
self government because of the fear that the
government will be a Hindu government. ...

Let us not be afraid of the Hindus. Only God is
to be feared. ... If you want to live in India
you have to embrace your neighbours. ... If there
is any hindrance from their side in cooperating,
just ignore it. You have to realize your own
position among the other nations of the world.
You are the vicegerent of God on His earth.
Therefore, like God, try.to see things from above.
Even if others do not treat you will you must
behave as gentlemen. Older people do not cry when
they are teased by youngsters; they only smile
and forgive them." (19) '
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(} It was not just a political move on the part of
f Xzad to try to unite Hindus and Muslims; it was his life-
mission. We have seen his religious ideas; they could not
be realized unless the two communities could open their

hearts to each other. For this reason he declaréd in 1923

"If an angel descends today from the clouds and
announces standing on the top of the Qutub minar
of Delhi that India will get her independence
provided she gives up the desire for Hindu~Muslim
unity, I shall certainly refuse to accept
independence, and keep on preaching for unity.

If independence is delayed, it will be a loss
only for India, but if our unity is gone that
will be the loss to all ghumanity." (20)

He confirmed his position in 1940 before the
Hindus and Muslims who had gathered to hear him as the
President of the Indian National Congress at its Ramgarh
sessions

"T would remind my co-religionists that I stand
today exactly where I stood in 1912, when 1
addressed them on this question Eof Hindu-Muslim
unity]. I have given thought to the innumerable
things which have happened since then. My eyes
end my mind did not fail to watch them and to
think about them. These events did not merely
pass by me; I was in their midst, and I examined
every circumstance with care. I cannot belie
my own experience. I repeat today what I have
said throughout the entire period that the niknety
millions of Indian Muslims have no right course
of action except the one which I invited them
in 1912." (21)

III

When XEzad opened his political compaign through
()e Al-Hilgl he started attacking vehemently two groups of
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Indian Muslims. The first group were the products of
Aligarh College who had formed the Muslim League to repre-
sent the Indian-Muslims in political affairs. The second

group was that of the ‘ulama.

The founding of the Muslim League, in Xzad's
opinion, was the result of British deplomacy. Commenting
on the charactet of the Muslim League, Xzad said in Ai-HilEl:

"Indian Muslims followed blindly the policy of

the British government. ... They offered them-
selves to the British as an instrument of their
political interest. ... The result was that the
Muslims broke off all relations with the Hindus
who were the real active group in the country. ...

The British foresaw that if no toy were given

to the Muslims they could not be kept away from

the national political movement. So they impressed
the Muslims with the supreme importance of

(western) education. It worked, perfectly.

Other Indiens were drunk with patriotism, while

we were drunk with the wine of education. Our
neighbours were basking in the sun of liberty,

and we were lapping up the dew-drops of education. ...
In this way we spent about forty years. ...

Since no one could sleep for ever, the British
realized that the Muslims might wake up and

Jjoin the Congress which represented the vigilant
reople of India. To avoid this danger we were
glven a new toy--the Muslim League.

As a matter of fact the act of (the Muslims) in
joining the Muslim lLeague was not the result of
any political consciousness, but the door of the
political garden opened before them and they were
shoved in. ... If you are pushed into a garden
you smell the flowers just in the same way as you
would have done if you had come in of your own
free will. The basic thing is to enter the
garden. ... If at this juncture, the Muslim
leaders had left us alone probably the puppets
would have learnt (to stand on their own legs emd)
to move forward. But we were told that the
reasons for which we had been kept away from
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politics were still valid. We were warned that
the Hindus were in a majority and if we went along
with them they would crush us. The advice given
to us was that we should first have our rights
recognized by the Hindus. That was a new-drug.
The result was that the government which ~should
otherwise have become the target for the Muslims'
spears was saved, and their own neighbours became
their mark instead. Thus even after the Muslims
had entered politics the government had nothing
to be afraid of." (22)

Right or wrong: that was what Xz&d thought of

the Muslim League. And he was of this opinion to his
last day.

The other group which Az&d had to face was that
of the ‘ulamd. The ‘ulamd had so far not been politically
orgenized. But in the eyes of AKz84 they were the potential
political leaders of the Indian Muslims.23 Up to that time
they were not much different from the group which Azad
called "westernized worshippers of power and position."
Criticizing both these groups, that is, the ‘ulam@ and the
western-educated people, Azad saids
"It drives me mad to see the deplorable sight that
today among the Muslims there are only two kinds
of leaders. For the traditionalist group there
are the ‘ulam@; for the modernist group the
western-educated intellectuals. Both are ignorant
of religion and both are paralyzed limbs of the
commmnity. They have no idea of their destination:

This one is unable to get a boat,
The other one is unable to find the shore.

The first group is beset by religious supersti-
tions, prejudices, and stagnancy while the other
is caught up in atheism, imitation of the west
and love of power and position." (24)
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In spite of their "religious superstitions,
prejudices.and stagnancy“ the ‘ulam@, Azad was hopeful,
would awaken f:om their glumber. There was some basis
for this hope. The new generation of the ‘ulama.which was
coming out of the Deoband-type school was not completely
indifferent to politics. It is true that up to the first
quaerter of the 20th century these ‘ulamé had not organized
themselves into any political group but individually they
had started speakingraboutvpolitical matters. They had
always considered themselves to be the custodians of the
Islemic Shari‘sh, which, they were afraid, would be made
ineffective if the British rule was prolonged in India.
To preserve the shari‘sh they wanted to oust the British
and, they were of the opinion, that this was not possible
unless they were helped by some outside Muslim powers, like
Afghenistan or Turkey. For Turkey they gad a special
regard because Turkey was the seat of the KhalIfatul-Muslimin.
On the one hand they expected Turkey to help them in
preserving the shaeri‘ah in India, and on the other hand,
they considered it their duty to save the Khalifah from
his enemies, if and when it was necessary. Mainly because
of this reason we find the Indian Muslim political attention,
in this period, oscillating between India and Turkey.
It is not necessary to consider here the attempt to save
the khildfah from European powers. It is enough to say
that the ‘ulemd wanted %o save the gharI‘sh in India with
the help of other Maslim powers. The Deoband school, which
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was founded after the Mutiny mainly to preserve the ghari‘ah,
was becoming the spokesman of this trend: the driving
force behind it was a graduate of the Darul-‘ulim Deoband,
Mawl@nad Mabmudul Hasan.

Mawl@nd Mapmidul Hasan (1851-1920) was among
the first batch of students to be graduated at Darul-‘ulim
Deoband. After his graduation, in 1874, he was appointed
a teacher in his alma mater. In 1905, when one of its
founders, Mawl3nd Rashid Ahmad,died, Mawlénd Mahmudul Hasan
became the academic head of the institution. He was kmown
not only for his deep knowledge of the religious sciences
but also for his interest in the history of India and its
present political problems. The regular reading of (Urdu)

newspapers kept him in touch with current affairs.

Mawlz@nZ Mahmidul Hasan is lmown to have had
personal relations with the contemporary Muslim and non-
Muslim nationalists and revolutionaries in India. On the
eve of the First World War the government of India began
to suspect him. It was brought to the notice of the
government that one of his pupils, Mawl&nd ‘Ubaydulldh Sindhi,
had crossed the northwest frontier of India at the behest
of the Mawldnd to contact some of the Indian revolutionaries
who had set up their headquarters at Kabul. Before the
Indian government could take any action, Mawland Mahmidul
Hasan left for Mecca to perform the paj. In Hijaz, he is
reported to have contacted the Turkish governor of Hijaz,
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Ghalib Pashd@, asking him to arrange a private meeting
between him and General Jamdl Pashd and Anvar Pasha, the
Turkish Minister of War. It is also said that Ghalib Pasha
gave a letter to the Mawlana, which was referred to in the
British official papers as “Ghalibnaha." A translation
of its importent passages given in the Report of the Sedi-

tion Committee appointed by the Government cf India runs

as follows:

"Phe Muhammadans in Asia, Europe and Africa adormed
-themselves with all sorts of arms and rushed to
join the jihad in the path of God. Thanks to
Almighty God that the Turkish Army and the
Mujahidin have overcome the enemies of Islam. ...
Oh Moslems, therefore attack the tyrannical
Christian government under whose bondage you are. .
Hasten to put all your efforts, with strong
resolution, to strangle the enemy to death and
show your hatred and enmity for khem. It may

also be known to you that Maulvi Mahmud Hassan
Effendi (formerly at the Deoband Madrassa, India)
came to us and sought our counsel. We agreed
with him in this respect and gave him necessary
instructions. You should trust him if he comes

to you and help him with men, money and whatever
he requires." (25)

A copy of this letter was reported to have been
sent to India in a box containing silken cloth. The box

was confiscated by the government, and the case was thus

officially named the Silk Conspiracy Case, but popularly it

was known as the TabrIk-i rEshaml riimdl (the movement of
the silk handkerchief).

The British government could not arrest Mawlana

Mahmidul Hasan in Hijaz which was then a Turkish province.
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But, meanwhile, there was a rebellion in Hijaz, and Sharif
Husayn came into power with the help of the British.
He hended the Mawl@nd over to the British along with some
of his colleagues, one of them being his pupil Mawlana
Husayn Ahmad MadanI who later became the political spokesman
of the Deoband school in India. They were interned in
Maltarin February 1917 until 8 June, 1920.

When Mawlan3 Mahmidul Hasan reached India he had
become very weask. His health was ruined, and was not in
a position to take active part in politics. In spite of
that he spent the remaining few months of his life in
presiding over the political sessions of organizations such
as Khildfat Committee of India and Jam‘Iyat ‘Ulamd’-~i Hind,
and in inaugurating the Jami‘ah Milliyah Ialﬁmiyah‘(National
Muslim University, then at Aligarh, now -at Delhi).

While describing the life of Mawlana Mahmtdul
Hasan we have reached the year 1920.which is a bit later
than the period we had been discussipg. We referred to
the case of Mawlind Mahmiidul Hasan in connection with Z23d's
remark sbout the potential leadership of the ‘ulamd. We
have seen Azad criticizing the western-educated group of
the Indien Muslims end declaring them unfit for leadership.
On the other hand, although he was inclined fo accept the
‘ulamd as the political leaders of the community, he was
not happy with their obscura.ntism.26 When Xzad attacked
both the principal Muslim groups of that time, the very first
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(3' question which he had to answer was, who was then to lead
the Muslims? Ietters to this effect appeared in Al-Hilal
from its readers. 2Azad's answer to those letters was no
% more than to beat around the bush. Sometimes he referred
5 to the Qur’a@n as the leader and sometimes to the ‘ulanmsi,
provided tﬁey proved themselves wobtthy of the responsibility.27

As Xz@d did not give a clear answer he was accused of

trying to be the leader himself which charge, of course,
28

he denied.

But now when all this has hecome "history" it is
quite evident that Az@d had a definite political programme
for the Indian Muslims and that he was convinced that in
the prevailing circumstances none but he himself could lead
them. His programme was to found a secret organization
of the Muslims which would function as an underground party.
The volunteers were to come from the religious circle.

For this he had to establish himself as one of the ‘ulami.
' But Xzad, as we have seen, was not the product of a madrasah,
although this was necessary in order to become an ‘&lim.
He was taught mostly by his father, who himself was an
f8lim, but that was not enoﬁgh to qualify Xzdd to be consi-
dered as one of the ‘ula.m'é.‘ His family did not have the
-reputation of being an institution in itself as:had been
the case, for example, with the family of Sh@h ValIullah.

We have already seen that all those stories which Zz&d
is supposed to have told about the greatness of his family
do not stand the test of historical investigation. However,
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Xz8d was accepted as one of the ‘ulam@ after the publication
of his jourmal Al-Hildl. The reason was probably that
he not only presented himself in the pages of Al-Hilal
as an ‘@lim but also emphasized the right of the ‘ulamid
to lead the community in political affairs. Before Zza&d
even a "genuine" ‘&lim had not thought that political
leadership was his "right." After having been accepted
as an ‘dlim Xz84 took care to be on good terms with the
well-kmown ‘ulamd of every religious group.

In the next chapter we are going to discuss the
secret party which Azad had founded for political purposes
but had named Hizbullgh, the Party of God.
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THE PARTY OF GOD

BZED had learned his first political lesson in
about 1905 from the revolutionaries of Bengal whose acti-
vities were mostly underground. He did not remain with
them for long. But evidently he had not been completely
weaned from this early influence. In 1913, when his journal,
AlQHilﬁl, though only a year old, had become very popular
among the Muslims, Ag8d apparently tried to appiy to his
leadership of the Muslim community the political experience
which he had acquired in revolutionary parties. We have
already seen that from the first day of his public appear-
ance he was asking the Muslims to woik for the liberation
of their country. In this direction he had gone so far
as to say that "the struggle for independence was a reli-
gious obligation for Muslims; it was in fact j;ggg."l
To start the jihad, Z2z8d needed soldiers. As we have seen,
the people from whom he received response were mostly
religious-minded. Not all of them had necessarily digested
Izﬁd‘s religious ideas, but since he had appeared on the
stage in such a vehement way, many of the Muslims were
hypnotized by his writings. They were practically unable
to examine closely what Xz&8d was saying.

In April 1913, ZAz&d announced his intention of
founding an organization. Unlike the founders of other
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political or religious parties he did not disclose the

aims and objects of the proposed party; he only published

& note with the title Man angar il4 A118h? (Who are my

Comrades on the way to Bod?) in which he invited those
people who were in favour of the policy of Al1-Hilal to send
their names and addresses to be registered as members of
the party which Xz@d called Figbulldh, the Party of God.

He said that the programme of the party would be announced
after receiving a considerable number of applications from
those who wanted to join the party.2 Next week he published
a facsimile of the membership-form with a note saying, in
effect, that after two weeks he would proceed towards the
"gecond stage" of the organization. (Most probably, what
he meant by "second stage" was the announcement of the aims
and objects of the party.) The membership-form was as

follows:3
Nahnu Angfullﬁh
[We are the helpers of God]

(Quranic verse, 6:163, 164, in Arabic with Urdu
translation)¥

Says: Surely my prayer and my sacrifice and my

life and my death are (all) for Alldh, the Lord

of the world; no assocliate has He; and this am

I commanded, and I am the first of those who submit.

Name Occupation Age

Address

In the same issue he announced that within a week

ﬁé ﬁéd received the names and addresses of about 800 volunteers.
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But this was not sufficient. For about a month there
was no news about the Party of God in Al-Hil&l. Then in
the issue of May 21, 1913, Az&@d announced that the member-
ship-forms were printed separately and were to be sent on
request slong with a pamphlet named Ris@lah da‘vat-o-tabligh
[probably containing the aims and objects of the Party].5
In the issue of June 4, he wrote a note sayings

"Those who have fearlessly sent their names as

volunteers sfter hearing the call, have, in

fact, stood the first test of sacrifice and

service [in the way of God]. There was, in fact,

a hidden purpose in not disclosing the aims and

objects of the Party. The purpose was to dis-

tinguish between those who were really thirsty
and those who were posing as thirsty people.

The real thirsty people always run to where

they are told of the possibility of finding

water regardless of any conseguences which may

follow. ... When the aims and objects will be
known, everybody will join. But their reward
will never be as high as of those who hswe

participated at the most difficult time." (6)

It was also promised that a booklet containing
the aims and objects would be dispatched to the members.6
There is no evidence available to indicate whether ifi fact
a booklet was printed or dispatched. From time to time
some notes were published in Al-Hild&l about the organization,
Hizbullgh, showing the importance and significance of
Joining a party for the sake of God. But it was never
explained how the Party was going to function.7 After a
few months Xzad wrote a long article about the Hizbullah.
This article stated that the members of the Hizbullah were

supposed to have the qualities of a mimin (believer) which
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- have been described in the Quranic verse (9:112). In the

words of Izadz'

"In the verse 9:112 God has described eight
qualities of a mimin, which he has to achieve
one by one. Following the Quranic injunction
the same eight stages are prescribed for a.
member of the Hizbullsh. The following is the
Quranic verse:s :

Those that turn (to God) in repentance
[t3’ibln]; that serve Him [‘Ebidlin]; and .
praise Him [pEmidin]; that wander in devo-
tion to the cause of God [g&’ihiin]; that
bow down and prostrate themselves in prayer
[rBki‘ln and sﬁiidﬁn];vthax.enjoin good and
forbld evil [amirun bi’l-ma‘riGf and nghin
‘ani-l-munkar|; and observe the limit set
by Go izan li-hudidi-1-18h];~--(theae
do rejoice). So proclaim the glad tidings
to the believers.

According to the Quranic verse a member of the
Hizbullgéh will start from the first stage, that
is, the stage of the t&’ibln, and will ultimately
reach the last stage, that is, the stage of the
pafigin.... The duty of those who reach the

last stage will be dotsulabiidh a system of
government to take care of the people according
to the wish of God. This last stage is the real
goal of the Higbulleah.

The members of the Hizbullah will be divided

into three orders. nitially every applicant
will be admitted to the first order. Depending
upon their qualities some of them will be promo-
ted to the second order. From the second order
some members will be selected for the third.

That will be the highest rank of the Hizbullah,
and those who reach it will,in fact,form e
controlling body of the Hizbulladh. At the present
moment that is all that can be disclosed. The
method and function of the controlling body is

a secret. A member of one order is not permitted
to attempt to f£find out the secrets of any order
other thean his own." (8)

What kind of organization was the Hizbullgh?

We cannot answer this question if we depend only upon
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Al-Hi13l. Al-Hil8l, as we have seen, made it quite clear
that secrecy was to be maintained till the very end. So
only those people who had been in the organization could
answer the question fully. However, piecemeal information
ig available through other sources which sheds some light
on the real object of the organization. This information
is given by two of Azad's followvers, ¢ Abdur-Razzaq Maliha-
baai (India; d. June 24, 1959) end Ghul&m Rasul Mihr (Pakistan).

MalIpEb&dT offered his bay‘sh (allegiance) to
Mawldnd Az8d in 1919. ZXZz&d appointed him to be his khalIfah
(deputy) in U. P., to proselytize on his behalf and to
ask people to pledge bay‘ah to Az&d. The written authority
thet Azad is supposed to have given to MalIhabadI is as

follows:

"My brother [in religion] Mawldnd ‘Abdur-Razzaq
MalIhabadI has offered his allegiance to me.

I hereby declare that he is allowed to accept

on my behalf the pledges of other people to my
bey‘ah. Whosoever will extend his hand to him
will automatically be considered my disciple. 9
Abul Kalém, dated 4th of the Sha‘bsn, 1338/1919."

MalIhabadI has given in the following words a
summary of the programme which Zz8d wanted to implement

through this party.

"he Muslims of India would be organized in the
neme of religion. An imBm (leader) would be
appointed to whom obedience would be considered
a religious obligation. It was thought that
the Muslims would accept the authority of the
imém if they were told that whthout the imam
their life was un-Islamic. When a considerable
number of Muslims had surrendered themselves
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to the im&m, he would make an agreement with
the Hindus and declare jihdd (war) egainst the
British. In this way, by the joint effort of
the Muslims and the Hindus, the British would
be defeated. But who should be imém? The imém
had to be a person whose integrity could no

be questioned. Purthermore he had to be a
person having full knowledge of contemporary
conditions. It waa evident that in the eyes of
Mawl@n@ [Abul Kaldm Xz&d] no one was more sultable
for the office of im&m than the Mawl&nd himself.
I [MalIpabadi] was also of the opinion that he
deserved the position [of imé@m]." (10)

If Malihgbadl is telling us what Azdd had intended

4o do with the help of the members of the g;zbﬁllah, then,
no doubt, the Higbullgh was a political party, and the '
main object of the party was to liberate the country.

Ghuldm Rasil Mihr, the other disciple of Kz&d,

has also produced a letter of Azad, this one addressed to
his followers in the Panjab. The letter is as follows:

nA11 those who have offered this year or last
year or even before their bay‘ah to me are
reminded through this letter that they had
promised to observe the following five
conditions:s

1. To enjoin good and forbid evil.

2. Tg égge and hate people only for the sake
o .

3. ggt.to be afraid of any power other than

d's. A

4. To leave every relation, comfort, and
pleasure if they become a hindrance in the
way of God and His ghari‘ah,

5. To follow every command (of the shari‘ah)
which is conveyed to them (by the Imam).

I would like to remind my disciples that that

is what they have pledged. It is now time that
they must show through their acts that they were
sincere when they made the pledge. This pledge
now obliges them to observe strictly the following
four orders:
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1. They should stop at once the buying, selling,
using and giving as gift of foreign cloth,
and must wear clothes made of loval materials.

2. The preservation of the Islamic Khilafat
and the Islamic countries depends on %the
independence of India. Therefore, they
must help as much as possible with their
hearts, tongues, money, and deeds to achieve
(the independence of India).

3. They must try to be friendly with every
Muslim and to avoid everything which might
create division among the Muslims.

4. According to the ghari‘ah, we are [politically?]
united with the Hindus. It is, therefore,
the duty [of my disciples] to keep friendly
relations with them, and to avoid everything
which may harm the unity.

Those Muslims who want to keep their bay‘sah to
me alive are under obligation to follow the

above-mentioned orders. Those who disregard 1
them will have no relation with me. Abul Kaldém Ahmad.

This letter shows clearly that the main purpose
of Azad's "religious" organization was to organize the
Muslims to work for independence. There is also some
evidence in the writings of Xza&d to support the thesis that
he wanted to organize the Muslims and particularly the
‘ulamd to fight the British for the liberation of the
country.

One of Zz&d's followers from Panjab, MuhIuddIn
Abmed QusiriI, wrote to Azi&d sometime between 1925 and 1926,
(probably) criticising his political affiliation with the |
Congress and (again probably) accusing him of not following
the jamd‘ah [of Muslims; that is, perhaps, the Muslim League].
Quglirl quoted a hadi8 of the Prophet showing the consequences
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of a ach.ilam.:"2 Xzdd replied to him that the meaning of
padll about following the jamd@‘ah had not been correctly
understood. The jamd‘ah, Zzdd said, does not always mean
the "majority." For example, thére would be hardly one
or iwo people out of a hundred who can be regarded as
n"real Muslim." In this case, Xzad asked, who should be
followed? The two "real" Muslims or the rest of the commu-
nity? Then Xz8d applied this logic to the political situa-
tion of the time. He said, "A nation becomes politically
baq];ward when the majority of the peopie become easy to
suﬁjﬁgate. In this situation if a man stands up and tries
to revitalize his people, his way will certainly be contrary
%o the way of the majority. Will he be considered (according
to the padIiB) to have gone out of the fold of the jama‘ah?"
Justifying his position in this way, Azdd said that he
might be accused of having gone out of the jamé‘ah but in
fact he had always been trying to organize the real jama’ah
(that abhout which the Prophet had said, "those who would
go against the jamd‘ah would make their dwelling in the
Pire"). Even the ‘ulamié, Eza@d said, had not understood
the real meaning of this padi8. He said that in.1914 he
invited many of the ‘ulamd to get together and do "gomething"®
(for the liberation of the country), but the response from
many of them was that it had never been done before. If
they did anything against the established practice of
the commnity they would be considered as hiring gone out
of the jamd‘sh.l’ |
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The religious excuse that the ‘ulamd offered
for their lack of sympathy with politics was, in the eyes
of Kzad, nothing but hypocrisy. In his Tarjum@n al-Qur’sn,
commenting on nifdq (hypocrisy), he saids ‘

"Poday you will find hypoeritical qualities in
some personalities who are well known in the
sphere of religion and mysticism. False reli-
giousness and so-called piety have destroped
their powers of action and determination. Now
they want to destroy these qualities in the
ummah (commmnity) as well. As far back as in
1914 I thought that I should remind the ‘ulama
and the meshd’ikh (head of gifI orders) of
their duties. I hoped that some of them would
rise to meet the challenge of the times. But
with the exception of one person, that is,
MawlZnd Mebhmidul Hasan of Deoband [whom we have
already discussed: (14)], all of them regarded
ny invitation as fitnah and rejected it.

You must have read some of the fatavd of the
‘ulamd in which they have declared that Muslims
mast not join political parties. The reason

that they gave was that in the meetings of such
parties one had to come in contact with unveild
non-Muslim women, which might create some fitnah.
Also it is said [in those fatavé] that the
meetings were usually held at the time of prayers,
and there was a chance that a Muslim might

forget to perform his prayer at its prescribed 1
time. This, they said, was against tagqvéd (piety). 5

However; it should be noted that it is not the

tagvd and religiousness which encourage the
amg [to issue such fatdvd]. This is a kind

of nifaq (hypoerisy)." (1

It appears from Xzdd's statement above that he
wanted the ‘ulami@ to participate in politics. He also
thought that the ‘ulam@ should not only take part in politics
but should also take the responsibility of leading the
community in political affairs as well as in religious
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matters. Since the other ‘ulamd at that time were not
in favour of taking part in politics, Xgzad must have been
induced by circumstances to offer himself as Imém. He
knew that the Muslims would not be willing to take part
in active politics unless they were told that it was a
religious duty for them. By this time he was considered

one of the ‘ulamd and had thus qualified himself for consi-

deration for the position of imZm. It was, therefore,
quite natural for him to aspire to that position. |

T o

I1

According to Xzdd, the absence of an imd@m was
the main reason for the backwardness of Indian Muslims
in political and reliéious 1life. To live without an inmam
was in his eyes a sin for the whole community. By this he
meant that the Indian Muslims had forgotten to live under
an order sanctioned by the SaharI‘ah. His argument was:

"The Qur’@n and the sunnah of the Prophet have
made it.clear that the sin of the individuals
does not destroy a community at once. The
individuals' sin is like slow poison for the
life of the community. But collective sin, that
is, the absence of a system for living as a
community, is a fatal germ which multiplies
overnight and destroys the whole commumnity. In
fact personal righteousness also depends on

the establishment of the right system to govern
the whole community. I must say that the Indian
Muslimg'are commiting a sin by not living under
an’ order.

The Qur’&n and the sunnah have given us three
rillars.to support the edifice of community life:
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1. The whole community must agree on one person
who will be their Imam.

2. Whatever he teaches them must be accepted.

3. Whatever he orders them, provided it is not
contrary to the Qur’an and the sunnah, must
be obeyed. .

Let all the tongues be mute except the Imam's,
Let all minds be numb except his. There should
not be a tongue or a mind among the people. They
should have only a heart to follow [the order of
the Imém]. If this is not done, then we are

no better than a crowd.

According to the Shar‘, we need an imfm who has
eyes to see deep iInto things, a mind to unravel
intricate problems (ijtih&d), and a heart full

of the secret knowledge of the Qur’&n and the sunnah.
The Imém will apply correctly the principles

of the Shar® to the present condition of the
Indian Mus1ims. He will apply them to the new
situation when they adopt India as their own home.
Also he will apply those principles to the ever-
changing circumstances of war and peace. He will
have the right to issue fat@vAd when he considers
it necessary. Not every '&lim is able to perform

this duty, not every madrasah teacher has an
idea of the important function of the imdm." (17)

It was not a simple matter for someoms.. to become
the Im&m of the Indian Muslims unless the ‘ulamé agreed
upon him. Among the ‘ulamid of that time the most important
was Mawlénad Mabmiidul Hasan of Deoband. According to Xzad,
Mawldnd Mabmiidul Hasan was the only ‘&lim who had responded
to his invitation to the ‘ulamd of India to participate
in politics. Although Xz@d does not mention that he ever
attempted to obtain from Mawl‘éni Mabmiidul Hasan recognition
as the imém, his biographer, ‘Abdur-Razzdq MalihdbadIl, says
that he was authorized by Mawl@nd XKzdd to contact Mawl@nd
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Maphmidul Hasan and another ‘glim of Lucknow, Mawl@na
Mubemmad ‘Abdul-BarI to obtain their approval for his
(Kgdd's) imBmat. MalIhdbadl says that when MawlEnd Mahmidul
Hasan visited Lucknow afier his return from Malta (sometime
between the 12th of the month of ShavvEl, 1338/1919 end

the 24th of the same month) ,18 MalThab&dI waited on him
in private and discussed the question of imBmat with him,
First he asked MawlZnd Mahmidul Hasan to become the Imém
of the Indian Muslims. The Mawlan@ refused to take the
responsibility, but agreed to the proposal that Mawlana
Zz3d should be appointed Imam, and gave permission for

public quotation to that effect.19

The next step, says MalIpaEbadl, was to convince
Mawl@nd Muhammad ¢Abdul-Bari. The reason for approaching
him was that he was also known to have shown some interest
in politics, and, more important, the two "pig brothers™
of the Indian Muslim-politics, Mupammad ‘Al and Shawkat
¢A1T (leaders of the Khil@fat movement in India) were his
disciples. These two brothers were not on very good terms
with Xz&8d politically. It was, therefofe, by no means
easy for KzZd to get himself recogniged as Im@m by Mawland
Mubemmad ¢ Abdul-BarT. However, MalIp&EbEAI contacted him
and obtained a written document from him supporting Xzad,
which read as followss

"I have no alternative but to follow the opiniom

of the public (jamhiir) on the question of the
imémat or the Smﬁg—hl&ﬁxm. Although I
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have often feared the consewuences of this move,
I am prepared to accept willingly the proposal

of the Muslims. Many times, I myself was offered
this office but because 'of my physical incapacity
I never accepted the offer; nor have I inten-
tion of accepting it in future. I abked Mawlénid
Mabmid[ul] Hasan [to take up the office of imém],
but he also seems to be too weak physically to
carry the heavy responsibility. Mawl@nz@ Abul
Kalam seems to be willing to accept it. I have
no objection to choosing him. I shall accept
him [as the Im@m] provided it does not create

any division among the Muslim community. Mawlé@ng
[Ez8d] is fit for the offices but I am even
prepared to follow an unfit person if he is
accepted by all or by the majority of Muslims.

In that case they will find me the most obedient
and faithful [to the Imé&m]. The fact is that I
do not myself like to initiate such a move, nor
do I want to take the responsibility of chosing
anyone. I can only follow the jamg'ah of the
Muslims. Apart from this I do not have any
conmection with this movement. Muhammad ‘Abdul-
Bari." (20)

Ez8d found this document written in rather "diplo-

matic language.® He instructed MalIhd@badl to postpone for
the time being the matter of gathering support.21

Two of Zzad's biographers say that he was elected
Imdmul-Hind by the ‘ulemi in 1921.

A. B. Rajput says in his book, Maulana Abul Kalam
Azdd, "In a special conference of the ulama at Lahore,
where a thousand Muslim divines had gathered, he was unani-
mously elected as the Imam-ul-Hind or the Spiritual Head
of India, an honour which a young man of his age had never
received in this country, and which he accepted only after
great pressure from the Lucknow and Deoband g;ggg."az

The other biographer, ‘Abdull@h Ba}, in his article,



A TR S YA D ST T TR Y 2

()

Faas

)

125
"Mawl@nd Abul Kaldm Xzad", published in a book edited by
him under the title, Abul Kalam Xzd8d, says that Kzdd was
elected Im@mul-Hind in 1921 in the Lahore session of the
Jam‘Tyat-i ‘Ulamd’-i Hind.2>

It is a fact that Mawlanié Azad was commohly known
among the Muslims of India as Im@mul-Hind, but the resord
of the Jam‘Iyat shows that neither he nor anyone else was
wver elected by it as the Imdm of the Indian Muslims. A
resolution was passed in the Lahore séésion of the Jam‘Iyat
to elect the "AmIrul-Hind", and a subcommi ttee was also
appointed to think over all aspects of the matter. and present

its report at the next session of the Jam‘Iya£.24

The
subcommittee did submit its report at the next session but
since there was no quorum, the report was not discusaéd.zs
This question was again raised in 1935, in the 12th sessien
of the Jam‘Iyat but was postponed.26 Apparently the two
above-mentioned biographers are @mistaken in their belief
that Xzd@d was elected Imam. The reason for their mistake
seems to be the fact that Xz8d was the President of the
Lahore session of the Jam‘Iyat at which the resolution

of the appointment of an imam was passed. It is possible,
therefore, that his election to the presidency of the

session was misconstrued as that of the imamat.

In the previous chapter we have found many of
MalIbhabadi's statements about Xzad in conflict with other

evidence. Therefore we must be cautious in accepting his
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evidence in regard to AXzdd's desire to be recognised as
the Imam of the Indian Muslims. On the other hand, we
cannot disregard MalIhabadl altogether. He was the only
person who had been with Mawl@nd Xzad for a very long time.
Xzad also has left evidence showing his close association
with MalThdbadi. Apart from MalThabadl's own claim that
he had been assisting Mawla@n@ Azad in his political and
editorial work, and was the Assistant Editor of the Payghém,
21 Mawldng
Xz8d himself has mentioned Malihabadi's name in connection

another weekly paper published by Xzad in 1921,

with a very important matter. In 1920 Mawlana Xzad issued

a fatvd for hijrat (migratidn) asking the Muslims of India
to be ready to inigrate from India to some othet Muslim
countries the moment fhey were asked. At the end of the
fatvi Mawlanad Xz@d mentioned the names of four persons who
were supposed to give further instructions about the
migration to anyone who asked for them. One of the four

was ‘ Abdur-Razzaéq Malihﬁbﬁdi.zs We should also remember
that MalIhabadI had not yet joined Zz&d in Calcutta, to
assist him in his editorial work. At the time when his

name was mentioned in the fatvi, he was in Iucknow publishing
his own Journal, Al-Bey@n. That was the time when Malih&badl
is supposed to have had contacted Mawldna Mahmidul [asan

and Mawland Muhammad ‘Abdul-Bari, in Lucknow, to persuade

them to propose Kgd@d's name for the imamat.

However, keeping in mind that the statement of
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MalTpabadl may be open to another interpertation, we can
safely draw the following conclusionss Ez&d had a definite

| political programme in mind; he wanted to drag the ‘ulamd

into the political struggle; he also wanted to incite the
Muslims to action against the British in the name of
religion. Moreover, (and perhaps most importantly) his
involvement in politico-religious organizations like the
Khilafat Committee, was not really motivated by religlous
zeal, as it has generally beén understood; it was purely
a political move for the liberation of his country.

The Khilafat movement in India was the result
of the Indian Muslims' disillﬁsionment of the insincerity
of British promiées gbout Turkey at the end of the First
World War. In 1918, after the Allies had won the war,
the Indian Muslims found that they had been deceived by
the British government with respect to Turkey. Turkey,

or rather the Sulj}@n of Turkey as the Khallfah of the Muslims

of world was not treated by the Allies in the way the
Indian Muslims hed expected. To air their grievences and
to "protegt" the KhalIfah and the Khildfat they organized
themaelfes under the All India Khilafat Committee. The
Khilﬁfat‘movement had so much political potential that
even Ganthan9 who was not a Muslim, found it a useful
political tool to serve the cause of India. His partici-
pation in the Khildfat movement and Xz&@d's whole-hearted

30

acceptance of his programme of non-cooperation suggest
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that at least these two leaders had taken the movement as
the most effeftive means of organizing the Muslims and of
training them to fight the British to achieve freedom for
their own country. A hasty reading of the speeches Zgad
delivered during the Khilafat pefiod may give the impression
that his interest was centered abroad, but a careful
examination of his words will reveal that this is a
misinterpertation.

From the beginning of his public life, Xz&d had
realized that the Muslims could best be persuaded to take
part in Indian politics if it were presented to them in
the form of a religious injunction. This he had been doing
even before the Khilafat movement. In Al-Hil&l he had said
very often that for the Hindus patriotism might be a
secular obligation but for the Muslims it was a religious
&uty.31 He was also of the opinion, as we have seen, that
only the ‘ulamd could lead the Muslim community. He not
only said so but also tried to found a semi-secret politico-
religious organization, the Higbullzh, that is, the Party
of God. Keeping all these points in mind, if we read the
speeches of Xgad on the question of the Khilafat we will
see that he had always tried to present the Khilafat issue
to the Muslims more in the interest of India's freedom
than that of the Khildafat in Turkey.

On the quesfion of the Khilafat, Xzad was of the
opinion that every Muslim was obliged to give his allegiance
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to the Khildfat. Every attempt must be made to restore
and stregnthen the Khallfah, that is, the representative
of the Khilafat. But the Indian Muslims could not properly
discharge their duties to the Khilafat as long as they were
under foreign rule. To be really of any use to the Khilafat
they had to be free. XZzad had projectdéd these points in
all the Presidential addresses which he delivered before
the Khilafat Committee from 1921 to 1925. 1In all these
addresses, he has been very careful not to let his audience
divert its attention from the Indian scene. In the
Presidential address he delivered before the Khilafat
Committee at Agra in 1921, Xzad said:

"Let us first define the field of our activities.
I say so because generally people make a.great
mistake when they decide to do something. It

is a natural human tendency for people.always to
look afar, and ignore what is close to them.
Therefore we must decide on the goal of the
Khilafat movement. Is the goal somewhere outside
India? ... In fact our goal is not outside India.
It is not in Iraq, or Syria, or Asia Minor, or
Smyrna. Our obiective is to test the 9ower of
our own belief (im&n), determination (‘azm) and
action (‘aml)., Or, let us put it in this way: °
the goal is in our own country. It is a question
of the victory or defeat of our own country.
Unless you succeed in your own country success
will not greet you elsewhere. ... India is the
first goal of the Khildfat movement." (32)

That was the reason why Az8d, unlike many other
Khil&afat leaders of India, was not at all disturbed when
Mustafa Kemal abolished the Khildafat in Turkey. As Faruql

sayss "It is signigicant to note that while the whole
of Muslim India was shocked at the abolition of [the]

=)
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Khildfat by Kamdl Ataturk and Mawlanad Mupammad ‘A11
reacted strongly and indignantly against it, he [Xz&@d]
did not say even a single word against the Kemalist
Revolution." When Rz&d was appreached by the Press to
comment on the abolition of the Khilafat he gave his
opinion in an article, with the title, "The Khilafat
Question and the Turkish Republic", (in Urdu), which was
published in deily ZamIndsr, Lahore, (sometime in March
or April) 1924. X254 interpreted the abolition in-a
completely different way. His argument was that the
Khilafaet was an institution which nobody, not even Ataturk,
could abolish. What had been abolished was the monopoly
on the office of the Khildfat of the Ottomans. This mono-

poly was contrary to the gharI‘ah. The sooner it ended
the better. The KhalIfah had to be chosen by the people,
but this was not true of the Ottoman khilafat. The present
regime has in fact restored the real ghar‘l system of the
Khilafat. After dethroning the Ottoman Sulj{an, the
President of the Turkish Republic has automatically become
the KhalIfah. Therefore we cannot say that the Khilafat
has been abolished. The most we can say is that the

regime has been changed.34

One may find many debatable pointe in this
argument. In this whole discussion Az8d appears to be
imposing the office of the Khalifah on the unwilling
Ataturk, or thmusting it into the hands of the GYand National
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Assenmbly of Turkey. But, to us, it does not matier at
all: his explanation makes it clear that he was not
particularly interested in the internal problems of Turkey.
As long as the Khalifah was in Turkey and the Indian
Khilafat Committee was able to atiract the Muslims of
India to national politics, Xzad tried to use the opportus
nity for the Indian cause. The moment the Khilafat was
abolished he issued a statement assuring the Muslims that
the "real" khilafat was not destroyed, and then forgot
the whole affair. Had he been really interested in the
Khil@fat he would have spent his time and energy as did
some other Muslim leaders, in abusing Mustafa Kemal and
conddmning those who had "usurped" the Khilafat. But as
he did no such thing, we may say that his involvement
in the Khilafat movement was not so much in the interest
of the Khildfat itself as it was in the interest of India,

his own country.

To summarige this chapter we may say that
Zzad appeared to the Muslims of India as one of the greatest
‘lims. He was acclaimed as ImAmul-Hind, (though this
title was not conferred upon him by any official body of
Muslims). He wanted to achieve his political goal by
invoking the help of religion. He was aware of the power
of religion, and was also aware of the dangerous

consequences if it were not handled properly. Once he said:

"The power of religion is limitless. It must




ARARDEAARRG M-+ ek gt ik

132

A not be underestimated. Religion is like the

‘: powerful engine of a train, which needs a care-
ful and intelligent driver. The rail-engine is

not like a bullock~cart. If the driver of a

bullock-cart is a careless person, then in case

of an accident the magimum loss will be the two
bullocks and a few humen lives. But in the case
of a train-accident it is hard to estimate the
extent of the casualties. Likewise if the power
of religion is not handled by the right persons

there will be tremendous harm." (35)

o avoid this danger Azad was of the opinion
that one person should be given the sole chage of the
political affairs of the Muslims. Since the position of
im8m has always been given religious importance by Muslims,
Kzad thought that the ‘ulamd would find the move acceptable.
In this way he could have become the head of the Muslim
community. But what Az@d did not realize, probably because
of not being himself a traditionel ‘Elim, was that his
scheme for the im@mat was a threat to destroy the established
institution of the ‘ulamd. The ‘ulamd had always bowed
their heads before a (Muslim) ruler as long as he promised
to help them guard the shari‘ah. But it was against the
tradition of the ‘ulamd {particularly the Sunni ‘ulamg),
who were in the overwhelming majority in India, to elect
someone from among themselves as the absolute head of the
Muslim community. Therefore the motion to appoint an imém
of the Indian Muslims was postponed for "further consider-
ation" whenever it was presented before the Working

Committee of the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulama.36

Although it is true that Azad failed in his
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scheme of becoming the imZm of the Indian Muslims, still
he was considered as one of the greatest leaders of the
Muslims of India. In the following years, too, we find
him sitting with the ‘ulami& with his usual dignity, and
addressing the Muslims on questions of ”Islém“ and of
"Nationalism", but it seems as if his language had become
unintelligible to them. The reason for this is not hard
to understand if we investigate whether or not Az&d and
other ‘ulamd were speaking the same language. In other
words, we have to find out if the meaning of Indianness

was the seme in the dictionaries of Zz&@d and other ‘ulama.




: SEVEDN

INDIA: MY MOTHERLAND

IN the early 20th century almost every politically
conscious Indian was passionately concerned with achieving
independence from foreign rule: although not all of them
had the same concept qf indep_endence. To some it meant
complete independence, to others Dominion status.l But
at least the desire for independence was common to all.

The basic factor which drew together people of widely
different backgroundsand ideas to fight for independence

was the fact that they were all Indians., Since the conscious-
ness of belonging to the same country was the most import-
ant factor in arousing people's feelings against.foreign

rule, every Indian, irrespective of religious belief, had

to be imbued with this consciousness. In other words
H:l.ndd-Muslim unity on the basis of common patriotism was

the foremost object to be achieved.

Hindu-Muslim unity and the joint struggle of the
two commmmities for independence could only be a temporary
phase, as independence by itself cannot be the ultimate

X ideal. The desire for independence is a step to some
other higher ideal. What was that ideal? As long as the
ultimate 'idea.l was shrouded in obscurity the Hindus and
the Muslims of India were singing songs in adoration of
their country. But the moment the people were told that

E 133,
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the independence of the country was the necessary condition
for a higher ideal, that is, for enabling them to live
according to their religious beliefs, the central concern
wvas transferred from “our couﬁtry" to "our religion," the
situation started to change.2 The best example of this
change, among the Muslims, is Iqb&l, once the national poet
of India, and later the national poet of Pakiatgn.

Iqbal (1873-1938) was born in Sialkot, Panjab.
First educated gtﬂhpmg,_he_g;g@uated (M. A, in Philosophy)
in 18§§, from Government College at Ilahore, wher§ for the
following six yearé he was Lecturer in Philosophy. In 1905
he went to Europe for higher studies. He stayed there for
three years and studied philosophy in Germany and at Camb-
ridge, and law at London. In 1908 he retu;ned home with
a Ph. D. in philosophy fromlthe University of Munich. He
resumed his post at Government College, Lahore, to teach
philosophy. Along with this he started practising at the
bar. By nature Iqbdl was a poet. He found it difficult
fo accomodatec himself to working at three tasks,--writing
poetry, teaching and practising law. Around 1911 he gave
up teaching and devoted himself to poetry but kept on
practising law for his livelihood. He was so muach absorbed
in poetry that it became his main occupation. The poet
Iqbal has so much monbpolised our attention that we Ikmow
almost nothing about the teacher Iqbdl or the lawyer Igbal.

The British government of India honoured the
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{: poet Iqbdl with a knighthood in 1922. 1In his last days
he acquired an interest in politics and was elected by
the Muslims to be a member of the Panjab Legislative Council
in 1927. In 1930 he was elected Fresident of the Annual
Session of the All-India Muslim League, at Allahabad..
he
The address which/delivered at that session became a land-
mark in Indian politics. This was perhaps the first time
when an Indian Muslim publicly declareds
*I would like to see the Punjab, North-West
Frontier, Sind and Baluchistan amalgamated
into a single state. Self-Government within
the British Empire, or .without the British
Empire, and the formation of consolidated
North-West Indian Muslim state appears to me

Yo be the final destiny of the Muslims, at
least of North-West India. ..." (3)

But this old Iqbal was radically different from
the young Iqbal who had once adored his country and had
sung songs of love and unity. People still remembered his
"Indian Anthem" (Tar@nah-’i HindI), in which he had saids
"The best in the world is our Hindustan,
We are her nightingales and she is our rose-garden.
That lofty mountain, that almost touches the sky,
Is our guard and is our sentry.

Religion doesn't teach us mutual hatred,
We are all Indians--our home is Hindustan." (4)

In another song which he called "The National

Song for Indian Children" (Hindust&nI bachchop k& gawmI gIt),
he had saids

O "The country where ChishtI delivered the
message of truth,
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Where Nanak sang the song of unity,
The country which Tatars made their home,
Which attracted the Arabs and made them leave

their land,
That country is my home--That is my home." (5)

It was the time when Igbal regarded "each particle
of the dust of ﬁis mothérland as a god."6 But that was
before he left for Europe. When he returned from there
in 1908 he was a changedeman. Around 1912 he composed
his famous poem, Shikveh awr javéb-i shikvah (Complaint

and Answer),7 in which he saids

"Nation (gawm) is created and sustained by religion;
If religion expired, there will be no nation."%s)
Why this sudden change in Iqbal? To answer this

question fully we would need a separate study. However,

1t has been pointed out that to determine the cause of

the change one has to study not only the Indian political

situation of his time but also Iqbdl's three-year stay in

Europe more carefully than has been done so far.

Western civilization had two diametrically opposing
effects on Igbal. On the one hand he was full of admiration
for the scientific attitude of mind and the untiring
energy wiith were characteristies of the Western society,
on the other hand he hated the same society for its 7
materialism. Disillusioned by the West, Iqbal wanted to
live in a society which was based on brotherhood and moral

values. Igbal's studies in Islamic history had led him

e .
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to the conclusion that such a society had once existed.

Such a society, Iqbal thought, could not be created as long

as the people were thinking in terms of nationalism and

9

patriotism. In 1910, after his return from Europe, he

wrote about these qualities in his private notebook:

... And what is patriotism but a subtle form

of idolatry; a deification of a material object.
The patriotic songs of various nations will
bear me out in my calling patriotism a deific-
ation of a material object. Islam could not
tolerate idolatry in any form. ... What was

to be demolished by Islam could not be made

the very prihciple of its structure as a political

community. The fact that the Prophet prospered
and died in a place not his birth-place is
perhaps a mystic hint to the same effect." (10)

Thus Iqbal tried to replace patriotism by "Islam."

Now Islém, in the eyes of Iqbal, was no longer just a
religion. It was transformed into a "racesmaking force"

and the Muslims had become a "race.“ll

Evidently to achieve his ideal society Iqbal
had to rely upon only on Muslims--the Muslims of the whole
world. As ‘Zbid Husayn says: "There is ample evidence
in his poetry to prove that he pinned his hope of finding
pioneers of a universal Islamic renaissance sometimes
amongst the Turkmans of Central Asis, sometimes among the
Osmanli Turks and sometimes among the Afghans."12 The
world situation probably helped Iqbal to realize that it
was not possible to find a Muslim capable of leading the

whole Islamic world. Therefore he started to say that
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"for the present every Mvslim nation must sink into her

.own déeper self, temporarily focus her vision on herself

alone, until all are strong and powerful to form a living
family of .'r:epu.'blics."l3 However all this change in Iqbdl's
ideas did not happen overnight. But as it appears it all
started at a time when Iqbal was examining the characteer-
istics of the Vest. And the result was that the poet,
who was once proud of his country, said when he returmed .
from Europe:
If the nationality (gawmIyat) is bound with a
place (%) then, %Fﬁ'sTims, thie place is
neither India, nor Persia, nor Syria, but
Medina, the place of the Prophet." (14)
Consequently the poet who had started his career
by saying in his Indian Anthem, "We are Indians; India
is our home" ended with the assertion in another anthem,
Pargngh-’i milll:
"China is ours, Arabia is ours, India is ours,
We are Muslims, the whole world is our homeland. "13
When Iqb&l composed the first anthem he thought
of his identity only in terms of India because he had
been born in India. In the second anthem 'he did not confine
himself to India but claimed the whole world as his own,
because now he was not only an Indian but a Muslim, which
meant to him a citizen of the world. In other words the
determining factor of his qawmlyat was no more Indianness;
it was Islé@m. This attitude revived the same o0ld problem
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of defining the word qawm and gawmlyat, which Sayyid

Apmad Kh3@n had tried to solve ea.rli.er.l6

Iqbal's definition of gawm again confused the
issue. But the fault does not lie with Iqba&l. It is the
Urdu language which is at fault. The Muslims of India
had been discussing the question of nation and nationalism
without reélizing that they did‘not have an adéquate word
in their language to convey the correct meaning of the
English word "mation." The only_wo:d which they had in
their vocabulary was the word "gawm," which, as we know,
was used in the sense of nation, community, vocational
group, millat, ummat, and similar concepts.17 This obviously
caused confusion because in Urdu a simple sentence like
"the Muslims are a gawm" could mean both “"the Muslims are
a nation" and "the Muslims are a (religious) é&mmunity.“
This ambiguity would have been easily dealt with had a
new ‘term been coined for the English word "nation;" or the

8
word "mation" itself had been adopted.l

The suggestion that a new term should have been

coined to convey the concept behind the word "pation" is

not out of place or out of date. There are still millions
of Muslims in India speaking and using the Urdu language,
and the ambiguity of the word "qawm" is still causing

confusion.19

In any case, during the time of which we are
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speaking, ‘th‘e Muslims of India, when they spoke or wrote
in Urdu about "nation" and "community" the only Urdu word
which they used was the word "gawm." Many of their
controversies ever the question of nationalism were due
to this. In 1938, a prominent nationalist ‘glim, Mawl@nd
Puseyn Abmad Madani, said during one of 1318 speechess

"Nowadays gawms (nations) are determined by their
homelanda). Race or religion does not
make a gawm. For instance, the people of England
are considered a gawm in spite of the fact that
not all of them belong to the same religion.

The same is true of (the people of) America,
Japan, France, and other countries." (20)

As a matter of fact what MadanI had sald was not
new. This is what Sayyid Ahmad had already sald.> But
when the Madani's statement appeared in the Press, Iqbal
thought that MadanI had used the word gqawm in the sense of
millat [religious group] and criticized him for having
strayed from the path of the Prophet. In a satirical
couplet (in Persian) entitled "Husayn Ahmad", Iqbdl expressed
his dislike in the following ways

"¢Ajam [non-cognoscente] still knows not the
secret of religion,

Deoband producing Husayn Ahmad--what a strange
phenomenon!

He uttered from the pulpit that the millat is
determined by lans

How unaware is he of the position of Mubhammad
of Arabia!

Bring yourself to the Prophet, because he is
the whole of religion,

If you fail to reach him then all is ignorance." (22)

When Iqb&al's accusation was brought to the knowledge
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of MadanI, and was asked to clarify his position, he said:

#Sir Iqbal is taking both the word millat and
gawm in one and the same sense. ... ny
speech I used the word "gawm", not "millat."®
There is a big difference between these two
words. Millat implies a shar‘ (way) or din
(religion) while the word gawm means ‘a group
of men and women living together.’ ... I say
that the word gawm is applied to & group of
people held together by a common bond. This
bond may be religion, or country, or race, or
language, or profession, or colour, or anything
of this kind. That is why it is very common
to say ‘the Arab gawm, IranI gawm, Pakhtin

awm, etc.’ $¢% In the same sense we use the
words ‘Hindustani gawm.’ The Hindust@nl gawm
comprises every inhablitant of India whether he
speakes Urdu or Bengali, whether his colour

is dark or fair, whether he is a Hindu or a
Muslim, a Parsi or a Sikh. Every Hindusta@nl

regardless of these differences, is an Indian." (23)

Iqbal did not agree with Madani. His main objection

was to the use of the word gawm for Muslims. To him the
Muelims were not a gawm or part of a gawm; they were an
ummat. In his opinion the Qur’@n had made a distinction
between ummat and gawm. Accoréing to Igbal, those who had
not accepted Islam (that is, divine gu.idancve) were referred
to as aqvém, but when they accepted Islam they were called
M?4Madm1 did not accept this theory. He quoted a few
Quranic verses to show that the words ummek and gawm had
the same connotations in the Quranic 1anguago.25 He quoted
26 In faet
MadanI was right in saying that no distinction was usually

made between these words. Even Iqb&l had used the words

passages from Arabic lexicons to this point.

millat, ummat and gawm as synonyms. In his poem, Payam-i
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‘ishg (the Message of Love), composed sometime:. beiween
1905-1908, Iqbal had saids
"The existence of the individual is an illusion (majidsz)
The gawn is a reality.

Sacrifice yourself for the millat '
That is, destroy the spell of IlTusion.* (27)

In another poem, Makhab (religion) he had saids

"Don't compare your millat with the wesfenn agvam,

The qawm of the Hashiml Prophet has its own charm.

The strength of the western agvam

Depends on country and race,

But your power is rooted in religion." (28)

Thus we can see that all the argumentswere aimed
at deciding the gawmiyat (nationality) of the Indian Muslims
while the word gawmiyat itself was ‘not defined; or, at least,
it did not mean the same thing to all who were involved

in the dispute.
II

Those who claimed that all the people of India
belonged to one nation had no easy task to prove their
octaim. Thosw Indian Muslims who were the champions of the
one;nation theory mostly belonged to the ‘ulamd class and
could not ignore the religious implication of such a claim.
They had to concede thét in religion the Muslims were
different from their compatriots. Therefore to prove that
there was one nation in India they had to rely on other
aspects of life. This was attempted in the Presidential
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Address Xzdad delivered before the Annual Session of the

Indian National Congress, at Ramgarh in 1940. Discussing
the basiec features of the Indian nation he saids

"It was India's historic destiny that many human
races and cultures and religions should flow to
her ... and that many a carsvanshould find rest
here. ... One of the last of these caruxemg ...
was that of the followers of Islam. This came
here and settled here for good. This led to a
meeting of the culture-currents of two different
raceS. eee

Eleven hundred years of common history have
enriched India with our common achievements. ...
Our languages were different, but we grew to use
a common language; our manners and customs were
dissimilar, but they acted on each others and
thus produced a new synthesis. Our old dress
may be seen only in ancient pictures of by-gone
days, no one wears it to-day. ... If there are
any Hindus amongst us who desire to bring back the
Hindu life of a thousand years ago and more, they
dream, and such dreams are vain fantasies. So
also if there are any Muslims who wish to revive

- thelr past civilization and culture, ... they
dream also and the sooner they wake up the better.
These are unnatural fancies which cannot take
root in the soil of reality. I am one of those
who believe that revival may be a necessity in
a religion, but in social matters it is a denial
of progress.

This thousand years of our joint life has moulded

us into a common nationality [muttﬁnadah gawnIyat].

oss Whether we like it or not, we have now become

an Indian nation, united and indivisible." (29

We can see that in this statement Xz3d has not
directly denied that in religion the Muslims were different
from other Indians, but he has attempted to minimigze the
role of religion in determining nationality. This was also
reflected in one of the resolutions of the Xg8d Muslim

Conference, an organization which attempted to be |
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representative of all the various nationalist Muslim

parties and groups in India.30

"India with its geographical boundaries is an

indivisible whole and as such it is the common
homeland of all the citizens, irreapective of
race or religion, who are joint owners of its
resources. ... From the national point of view,

every Muslim is an Indian." (31)

In both these statements the religious differences
between the two communities have been ignored. But when
we come to the nationalist ‘ulamé we find an inconsistency
in their thinking on the question of nationality. They
accepted the one-nation theory; however, they not only
emphasiged the religious differences between Muslims and
non-Muslims but they also implied that even culturally
Muslims were not united with the non-Muslims. They did it
because religion, as they undemtood it, was not merely a
matter of personal belief but was above all the strict
observance of figh ("Islamic la.w").32 In fact there were
' no extra-religious factors in the minds of the ‘ulami.
Everything for them was included under the umbrella of

religion, and, therefore, had to be decided on the basis

The resolution said in part:

of the Shari‘ah. Commenting on the cultural life of Indians,

Mawl@nd Mubammad Miyan, one of those who held office in
the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘ulami@, complaineds

"In matters of daily behavior and culture the
English-educated class, whether Hindu or Muslim,
has adopted a new culture, discarding the old
cultural norms. This new culture has made it

impossible to distinguish between Hindus and Muslims.
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"The culture of the masses varies from place.

to place according to the general cultural
pattern of the majority in that area. PFor
example, in the Panjab and other Muslim provin-
ces a Hindu looks like a Muslim. The situation
is the reverse in the provinces with a Hindu
majority.

There remains a group of religious Muslims
comnitted to a culture which they consider Islamic.
These Muslims are led by the very organization of
the ‘ulama [the Jam‘I¥at] which is accused of
being the followers o e Hindus, while these
‘ulaméd spend thets days end nights in efforts to
purify the cultural life of the Muslime froem all
un-Islamic rites and rituels. It is unimaginable
that these ‘ulamd would be willing to adopt others'
culture, so mach so that they are determined to
discard even those things which are normal in the
eyes of most Muslims but that are in fact contrary
to the gsunngh (way) of the Prophet. ...

[For example, let us take the question of dress. ]
Our headgear are made in different designs. A
particular cap [used by many Indians] is known

a8 the Hamid cap. In other parts of the country
the same headgear with some slight alterations

is Jmown as the Ajmal cap, or Jamél cap, or by some
other name. All of them are essentially the same.
They are made of velvet or some other fine
nmaterial. It so happened that the Congressite
Muslims who [as & policy] wear the rough indigenous
clothes (khaddar), made their caps of the same
rough material. This ecap came to be known as

the GapdhI cap.] The non-Congressite Muslims
declared this cap to be part of the Hindu culture
and started criticizing those wearing this parti-
cular cap. God save us. What nonsense! But let
it be known that the leaders of the Jam‘Iyat do
not wear this cap. They still prefer to be relics
of that bygone time which our [Muslim] Leaguite
friends consider out-of-date period." (33)

Mawland Husayn Ahmad Madeni, the President of the
Jam‘Iyat, also emphasized not only the religious differences

between the two communities but also their cultural differences
when he said:
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"We the inhabitants of India, in so far as we

are Indians, have one thing in common and that

is our Indiannéss which remains unchanged in spite -
As the

of our religlious and cultural differences.
diversities in our appearances, individaual
qualities, personal traits, colour and stature
do not affect our common humanity, similarly our
religious and cultural differences de not interfere
with our common associations with our homeland."(34)
One finds oneself perplexed in trying to under-
stand the meaning of "Indianness" in this situation if there
are no religious, cultural or other common relations between
the two communities except that of living in the same

geographical territory. The only feasable reason for this

. dichotomy seems to be the fact that the ‘ulam& wanted to

become independent of British rule and this could only be
poosible if the Hindus and the Muslims were united. The
‘ulam@ had started their political life by hating the
British. It was during the time of the ¥hil@fat movement
that they entered politics and decided that the British
were the source of every evil. It was almost a religious
belief with them that if the Muslims wanted to live in
India according to the Shari‘ah they had to get rid of the
British. One of the Jam‘Iyat Presidents said in his
Address in 19303
"Our greatest enemy is Great Britain which, having
India and her vast remources under her tyrranical
occupation, is the main cause for our degeneration
and destruction in India and for the untold misery
and ruin in Islamic countries outside India. It
is clear that we will remain subjugated and down-
trodden as long as India is under British occupation.
This is why the Indian Muslims have only one object

regarding the independence of India and that is that
India must win complete freedom at all costs." (35)
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For this reason, that is, to throw the British
out of India(in order to 1live according to the SharI‘ah),
the nationalist ‘ulam® wanted to see the Indians united.
But instead of confining themselves to pleading for a united
political front they went so far as to associate themselves
with the one-nation theory, probably without giving any
attention to the implications of such a theory. This was
the reason that whenever the nationalist ‘ulam@ were
cornered by their adversaries on the question of common
nationality (muttahedah gawmiyat) they could not state their
position clearly. We mentioned at the beginning of this
chapter that around 1938 Mawl@nz Husayn Apmad Madani said
that nationhood was a function of the country and not of
religion. Iqbal criticized this statement. Madani argued
with Igbal for sometime. Finally Iqbal challenged Madani
to state categorically whether he héd advised the Indian
Muslims to accept the thesis that it was the country which
made a qawm. Mawlénd MadanI could not confess that that
was his advice (because, it appears, he himself did not
believe in it). He saids

"My respectable Sir [Iqbal] says that if the

statement was a report of what the people

generally believe | that the country made a

nation] then he would have nothing to say. .

But if my statement was advice to the Muslims

then it was objectionable.

Let us read again what I said. I dnted, ‘Nowadays

nations are made by the country.’ That was a

report of what wae going on in the world. It

was not said that the Muslims also had to do it. ...
The only advice which was given in my lecture
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was that the Muslims must work hard for India's
independence (without which they could not live
a religious life). Even if this advice is

objectionable I dare aayssmblicly that I consider

it a religious duty." (3

I1X

The nationalist ‘ulamd who believed in the one-
nation theory never gave up their narrow religious views.
Everything which they believed had to be 'proven by the
authority of the Qur’@n and the Hadi#. Therefore they

always adduced religious asuthority to support their content-

ions about the questions of motherland (vajan) and common

nationality (muttahadah gawmiyat). On the question of

common nationelity, Xzad said in 1921, before the Khilafat

Committee:

"The Qur’@n has divided all the non-Muslims into
two groups (agvim). One is friendly with the
Muslims; the other is at war with them. According
to the Qur’a@n it is not forbidden to have recip-
rocal relations with the first group. ... But the
second group which is at war with the Muslims is
not in that category with which the Muslims are
allowed to have cordial relations. ... [Placing
the British government of India in the second
category, Xzad said] ... Therefore it is the
religious duty of the Muslims to cooperate with
the Hindus [who, according to Xzdd, belonged to
the first group] and thus both should become

one nation (ummah v&hidah).

We have an example in the life of the Prophet
which tells us that the 70 million Muslims of
India with the 220 million Hindus should unite
in such a way that they become a gawm and a ‘nation.’

When the Prophet Mubammad migrated to Medina he
prepared a covenant between the Muslims and the
Jews of Medina. In the covenant it was mentioned
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that ultimately the Muslims:and the non-Muslime
would become a nation {ummah vahidah).

Ummah meens a gawm or nation; vahidah meeans one.

Thus if I say the Muslims o a cannot

perform their duty unless they are united with

the Hindus, it is in accordance with the tradition

of the Prophet who himself wanted to make a nation

of Muslims and non-Muslims to meet the challenge

of the people of Mecca." (37)

If this thesis wgs not contested in 1921 it did
not mean that it would never be challenged. It is possible
that some Muslims might have detected the weak points of
the thesis even in 1921 but did not raise their voice because
the political condition of the country at that time was

different from what it was after 1930.38

Probably for this
reason Kgad did not repeat this argument when he declared,
in 1940, that the Muslims were a part of the Indian nation
which was united and indiviaible.39 But for the nationalist
‘uwlam@ the above mentioned "covenant® was a religious
document sufficiently authoritative for Mawlana MadanI to
use in the argument with Iqbal in 1938, to prove that the
one-nation theory was not egainst Islamic teaching. Mawlang
MadanI had only this covenant of the Prophet to provide
support 4on religious grounds to the idea that the Hindus

and the Muslims were one nation.40

This habit of trying %o prove every political
thesis by the Qur’@n and the hadi¥ led the ‘ulamé@ to try
to adduce some sort of religious suthority to prove that

India was their vajan (motherland). Mawlan@ Madeni
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discussed this point in his pamphlet, Ham&ra Hindust@n awr

uské fagd’il ("Our India and her greatness"). His arguments

were:

"It is the belief of the Muslims that all humen
beings are the childrem of the first prophet,
Adam. The Prophet Adam, according to the Islamic
books, deseended from heaven to India, and
settled there. In other words, India is the
home of those who consider Adam their forefather
and the first prophet--and such is the belief

of the Muslims.

According to the Qur’3n, the religion of every
prophet was Islam. Therefore Adam and his
children, the first inhabitanis of India, were
Muslims. The Qur’@n also says that prophets were
sent to every part of the world. Therefore, it
is correct to say that there were prophets sent
by God to India, before the last Prophet. ...

I§ ghort this country has always been the cradle
of Islam.

The non-Muslim communities of India usually cremate
the bodies of the dead or leave them exposed to

be eaten by vultures. The Muslims bury thair

dead. They also take care to preserve old graves.
Consequently it is true to say that not only
during life but also after death India remains
their vatan.

The Hindus believe in the philosophy of reinearn-
ation. According to this belief there is no
guarantee that a Hindu, after his death, will

return to India. But the Muslims believe that

the departed souls are stored in purgatory (barzakh).
It is also believed that the soul keeps a sor¥

of contact with the dead body, in which it will
return on the Final Day.

The above-mentioned points prove that India is

the motherland (vajan) of the Indian Muslims.

It is impossible for them to leave this country."(41)

The second half of this pamphlet was written by
another nationalist ‘&lim, Mawl@nd Mubammad Miyap. He

also itried to prove the importance of the "vatan" in exactly
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the same way as MadanI had done. In his conclusion Mawl@na
Mubammad Miyajl said:
"In the light of the above-mentioned ah&diB and
revayat it is evident that the greatness and
sanc%I?y (‘ agmat-o-taqdis) of India cannot be
denied. Therefore the question iss what is the
duty of those who have the honour of living on
this soil. In other words, what are we, whose
vajen is India, supposed to do. ... It is our
duty to remain in our vajan, and throw the forelgn
power out of the vajan." (42)
So India was the vajan or the motherland of the
Indisn Muslims because it was the birth place of the first
prophet and of many other saints. However, it should be
noted that according to the ‘ulamd the land was samctified
because it had been touched by Muslim prophets and saints.
It was not the land which had sanctified them. The national-
ist ‘ulam@ who were proving the sanctity of India did not
realize that their argument was meaningless, even rather
derogatory to the status of India, in the eyes of the non-
Muslim compatriots with whom they were trying to show common
nationality. Prophet or no prophet; India was holy to
them. All the non-Muslims of India, irrespective of their
cultural and linguistic differences, had at: least one

common feature--the love for the land where they were born.43

India was as inspiring for the Hindus as Islém
was for Muslims. India was their Mother, (Bharat Mata,
Mother India). With great devotion they could sing=--and,
in fact, did sing:
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Mother, I bow to thee!

Rich with thy hurrying streams,
Bright with thy orchard gleams,

Cool with the winds of delight,
Dark fields waving, Mother of might,
Mother free.

Glory of moonlight dreams,

Over thy branches and lordly streams,
Clad in thy blossoming trees,

Mother, giver of ease,

Laughing low and sweet,

Mother, I kiss thy feet,

Speaker sweet and low,

Mother, to thee I bow.

Who hath said thou art weak in thy lands,

When the swords flash out in seventy million hands,
And seventy million voices roar

Thy dreadful name from shore to shore?

With many strengths who art mighty and strong,

To thee I call, Mother and Lordl

Thou who savest, arise and save!

To her I cry who ever her foemen drave

Back from plain and sea

And shook herself free.

Thou art wisdom, thou art law,

Thou art heart, our soul, our breath,
Thou the love divine, the awe

In our hearts that conquers death.
Phine the strength that nerves the arm,
Thine the beauty, thine the charm,
Every image divine, ‘

In our temple is but thine.

Thou art Durga, Lady and Queen,

With her hands that strike and her swords of sheen.
Thou art Lakshmi lotus-throned

And the Muse, a hundred-toned.

Pure and perfemt without peer

Mother, lend thy ear.

Rich with thy hurrying streams,

Bright with thy orchard gleams,

Dark of hue, O candid fair,

In thy soul, with jewelled hair

And thy glorious smile divine,
Loveliest of all Earthly lands,
Showering wealth from well-stored hands
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Mother, Mother mine!

Mother sweet, I bow thee

Mother great and free! (44)

This was the song, Bandé Mataram, which was
inspiring to Hindus and other non-Muslims, but was offensive
to many Muslims, because some of the verses, it was said,
were "taken to exalt Hinduism at the expense of Islam.“45
In 1937 when the Congress formed its first government in
some of the Indian provinces, the song, Bandé Mataram, was
adopted as the national song. The Muslim: League declared
it "positively anti-Islamic and idolatrous in its inspiration

and idaas."46

In order to remove all the misunderstanding
the Congress Party ordered its governments to allow the
singing of only the first two stanzas. "The possible
objection on what may be called the religious aspect of it

wd7

was thus removed. But thie did not help. To many

Muslims even the expurgated song was objectionable.48
Whether it was really objectionable or not, even the
nationalist ‘ulamad did not daré say that the song was not
polytheistic.49 Nor could they say with good grace that
"India was their Mother." To confess that India was their
Mother was contrary to the idea of the hijrat. A son is
supposed to die for and with his mother, not to desert her.
But as long as one believes in the philosophy of the hijrat
one cannot attach oneself to any particular part of the land.
This is not a mere assertion but a thesis supported by

argument. In the period under discussion there is not a
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single example found in which any non-Muslim commnnitj of
India was asked by its leaders to migrate from the country
for the sake of religion. But the Muslims were told agdin
and again by the ‘ulam@ that leaving the couniry for good
(hijrat) was a religious obligation. Many people remember
the fatvi of hijrat issued by Xz&@d in 1920, in which he
declareds

"After taking into acceunt all the provisions

of the Shari‘ah, contemporary eventis, the

interests of the Muslims, and the pros and cons

(of political issues), I feel fully satisfied

that from the viewpoint of the Shari‘ah, the

Muslims of India have no choice but to migrate

from India. Those who would like to fulfil

their Islamic obligations must quit India.

Those who cannot migrate immediately should

help the migrants (muhZ]irIn) as if they were

themselves migrating from the country. The 50

Shari‘ah leaves us no other course than migration."

True love for the motherland and the philosophy
of the hijrat are incompatible. The nationalist ‘ulama
Xnew its therefore they tried to gloss over the incompat-~
1bility by quoting ahBdiB to the effect that the Prophet
was in love with his birth place, Mecca, even when he was
migrating to Medina. Mawland Mubammad Anvar Shah Kashmirlj
Mupaddis (teacher of hadiB), at the Darul-‘ulim Deoband,
in his Presidential Address, delivered in a session of the
Jam‘Tyat-i ‘Ulamd’-i Hind, at Peshawar, explaning the
importance of man's love and affection for his couniry,
relied for proo¢ on a hadIB ascribed to the Prophet, in which

he is reported to have addressed his hometown,‘Mbcca, when
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he was leaving for Medina. According to that hadil the
Prophet is supposed to have saids
"By God! (0O Mecca) to me you are the loveliest
city of the entire world. Had my people not

exiled me I would have never left you." (51)

This is not the place to discuss the authenticity
of this padi#, but, even if it is true, we know that the
Prophet never returned to Mecca to settle there after he
had conquered it. This was not that he did not like Mececa,
or had developed an emotional attachment to Medina, but
because, as Mawl@nd Anvar Shah himself pointed out in his
address, "it was not desirable and not preferable to return

to a place from which one had migrated.“52

This proves

the point that, as the nationalist ‘ulamg implied, the idea
of vajan (motherland) was not important enough to tie a
man to the land for ever. In other words, according to the
philosophy of hijrat, if a Muslim faces a situation where
he has to choose between his country and his faith he has
to vote for his faith. This does not mean that the country
and faith do not go together, but if such a situation arises
EIE“Ianlty to his country, as long as he believes in the
philosdﬁhy of hijrat as expounded by the ‘ulamd, becomes
secondaiy.

IV

Once it was understood that faith was more
important than vatan, then, in view of the statements made
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by the ‘ulami, the question that would arise and merit
investigation would be as follows: Could the Muslims of
India lead a life according to the SharI‘ah in undivided
independent India?

The nationalist ‘ulamé failed to eonvinece the
Indian Muslims that life acéording to the Shari‘ah would
be poseible in undivided independent India.

In 1937 the Indian National Congress got an
opportunity fo form governments mostly in provinces where
Muslims were in the minority. Within two years all the

 Congress ministries resigned from office on the question

of India's participation in the Second World War. Subse-
quently the All-India Muslim League appointed an enquiry
committee to investigate the grievances which the. Muslims
were supposed to have against the Congress government.
The report of the committee is kmown as Pirpir Report,
after the name of the President of the Enquiry Committee,
Raja Sayyid Muhammad MehdI of Piriir. About the report,
Mawlanad Xz8d sayds
"I was in charge of the Parliamentary affairs in
several provinces. ... Every incident which
involved communal issues came up before me.
From personal knowledge and with a full sense
of responsibility, I can therefore say that the

charges levelled by Mr. Jinnah and the Muslim
League with regard to injustice to Muslims and

other minorities were absolutely false. If there
had been an iota of truth in any of these charges,

I would have seen to it that the injustice was
rectified. I was even prepared to resign, if
necessary, on an issue like this." (53)
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Much has been said about the Report by both the
interested parties.54 In the eyes of a Canadian scholar:

"The Pirpur Report created a furore among many
Muslims. Actually, some of the ‘atrocities’

of which it complained were flagrantly silly--
for example, that the Gongress government in
various provinces had lifted the bam, previously
imposed by the British, on the singing of the
nationalist enthem Bande Mataram and the use of
the nationalist tricolour. Some were simply
accounts from the Muslim point of view of the
Muslim side of such communal riots as had occurred
in provinces with Congress governmentis and in the
yeas since those governments took office. Some
were mild ‘injustices’ which could hardly be
grievances to the reasonable--for example, that
in the Central Provinces (where Muslims are four
per cent of the population; how many of these

are literate in Urdii is not mentioned), speeches
in the Assembly were allowed in Urdu but were
recorded in HindT or English. ..." (55)

‘The "falsehood" or the "silliness" of the charges
which, in the eyes of the Committee, were "Jjusi, real and
genuineiedoes not concern us. We may concede that the
Muslim League was greafiy exaggerating or distorting facts
to prove its claim that the Hindus and the Muslims were
not one nation, and the interests of the "Muslim nation"
was not safe under Hindu domination. Bﬁt strangely eneugh
the nationalist ‘ulamd also levelled their charges against
the Congress administration in the same way as had the
Muslim League. (0Of course with this difference that the
Muslim League's report aimed directly at the organization
of the Indian National Congress, and the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulama
being a sister-organization of the Cong;eaa, directed itm
criticism against the Congress ministries.) At the 11th
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annusl session of the Jam‘Iyat in March, 1939, the Jam‘lyat
showed its concern (in the language of the Muslim League)
at "the anti-Muslim policy" adopted by the Congress
ministries. Criticizing the educational scheme of the
Congress, kmown as the Vardhd scheme, the Jam‘Iyat saids

"The danger of this scheme is that the children
will be indoctrinated in such a way that not
only wbuld they be friendly to other religlous
groups but they would also consider every
religion of the world a true ¥eligion. This
belief is un-Islam$e. (57)

The Vardha scheme also emphasises the philosophy

of non-violence, and presents it as & creed.

We have adopted this policy of non-violence only

as a policy. This cannot be accepted as a creed.
This is against the teaching of the Qur" which
encourages the Muslims to jihad.

This philosophy of non-violence will also have
another significant consequence. Every one lnows
that meat is the important part of Muslims' diet.
If the Muslim boys are taught the philosophy of
non-violence they will gradually be led to the
philosophy of ‘animal protection.’ This will
seriously affect the economy of a-section of the
Muslim community.

It is true that in a country like India where

innumerable religions are found every citizen

has to be friendly and considerate to others.

But it is also true that this concept of mutt ah
awniyat (common nationality), that the Muslims
sEonlﬁ give up their own Islamic culture and

be absorbed in a culture which 1s not their ownm,

is completely wrong. ... Let it, therefore,

be known that the Muslims of India are not

prepared even for a minute to lose their Islamic

culture. To them religious freedom is more
important than goliiIch emaencipation.” (58)
This was the criticism. The following are the

recommendations which the ‘ulama wanted to have incorporated

in the educational schemes
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"Co-education (even in the elementary grades)
must be stopped.

A Muslim boy should be exempted from compulsory
education if he is memorizing the Qur’En.

A Muslim girl after her 12th birthday must be
exempted from compulsory education.

The Muslim children should not be given lessons
in music, dancing and painting (of figures of
living beings).
The Muslim children must not be asked to do
anything which is contrary to their religiom.
For example, they should hot be asked to show
reverence to any statue, or to pray in a non-
Islamic way or to sing any non-Islamic song." (59)
Our purpose is not to reproduce all the grievances
vhich the nationalist ‘ulam@ expressed against the %
Congress ministries; the above is only a sample and has
been quoted to show that even the nationalist ‘ulam@, to
wvhom every Indian regardless of his religious belief was
the member of one Indian nation, were not prepared to
stomach the logical consequences of that idea. To thenm,
as we have seen, every act of life had to be judged in
the religious context. In this respect they could not be
compared with Kz&d. To Xzdd, not all the social practices
of a religious community were part of religion, therefore
any change in them did not necessarily mean that religion
was in danger.

This does not mean that Xza@d did not care for
Muslim interests, but only that there was a difference
of opinion between Zz&d and the other nationalist ‘ulams
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as to what constituted Muslim interests. To the ‘ulamg,
Muslim interests were linked with the unchangeable Shari‘ah.
According to them, unless the SharI‘ah was safeguarded
political freedom was useless. But,for Ezad, this was
not the case. For example, around 1936, the nationalist
‘ulamd, through some of the natidnalist Muslim members of
the Indian Legislative Assembly, presented a bill before
the Assembly asking for an act allowing Muslim women to
have their marriages annulled through the court. The main
condition which the ‘ulamd attaqhed to the bill was that
such cases should only be heard by a Muslim judge§ if the
Muslim judge were transferred before he decided the case
and a nonFMualim Jjudge wgs appointed at his place, the case
should be transferred either to the same. Muslim judge or
to a nearby court with a Muslim Judge.so The government
did not agree to this condition. However the bill was
passed and every judge regardless of his religious belief
‘was empowered to hear such cases. In its final form,
according to the ‘ulamé, the bill was more harmful than
usefu1.61 The insistence of the ‘ulamd upon having a
Muslim judge was not due to any communal feeling, nor was
it meant to provide more jobs for the Muslims. It was
only to comply with the SharI‘ah. As the Jam‘Iyat announced
afterwardss

- "The Jam‘Iyat would 1like to make it clear that

if a marriage is annulled by a non-Muslim judge

the decree will not be valid in the eyes of the
SharI‘ah. If a woman, after obtaining a divorce
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decree from the non-Muslim Jjudge, marries some

one else, she will be committing adultery.

Although the court may have dissolved the marriage,

she would still be wife of her first husband."(62)

Xza2d did not share this opinion. According to
him, a marriage could be annulled, even by a non-Muslim
judge, on ground which are provided in the SharI‘ah. We
have a letter of Az@d on this matter. In 1952 he received
a letter from one ‘Abdul-‘Aziz (of West Bengal) about a
Muslim girl whose husband had left for Pakistan, and was
neither willing to divorce hernor tbiiingher to Pakistan.
The parents of the girls obtained a court order from a
non-Muslim judge dissolving the marriage on the basis of
"The Dissolution of Muslim Marriages Act of 1939." The
‘ulamé of Bengal did not accept the court order amd
declared that the girl was not, according to the.Shari‘ah,
divorced. ZXzad did not agree with them. He asked his
secretary to write to the parents that the judgment of the
court was valid, and was not against the Sharian,®?

This difference of opin_ion between Xzad and other
‘uiam'é. appears to have no direct felation with our present
discussion. But this is really not so. We know that at the
turn of the century Sayyid Abmad Khan asked the Muslims on
non-;religious grounds to abstain from active politics. He
reasoned that since the Muslims were behind in the field of
education, they would be unable to receive their full share
of government administration without the patronage of the
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British Government. He did not say that participation in
rolities was religiously forbidden.

When, on the other hand, Zzdd forced Muslims to
enter Indian politics he built the entire edifice of his
political ideas on religious ground. The ‘ulamd who carried

" his banner stirred more and more the religious sentiments

of the Muslims. They tried their best to make the Muslim

people bélieve that "religious freedom was more important

than political emancipation."64 The natural result was that

" the Muslims were religiously indoctrinated (in political affairs)

to such an extent that whenever something was shown to be in
aceordance with the Shari‘ah they did not dare take a stand
against it. Xzad must have realiged that the ‘ulami had
gone too far in their religious approach; but there is no
evidence available to show that he ever criticized them
publicly. The result was that his silence was taken for
consent to whatever the ‘ulamé said. This was one of the
factors which helped the Muslim League to win the sympathies
of Muslims for their claim that the Muslims were a aepérate
nation, in spite of the repeated statemeﬁts of the ‘ulam@
that there was only one nation in Indiae, the Indian Nation.

In the next chapter we will see how the nationalist
‘ulamﬁp;(not altogether excluding Izﬁd);-were hoisted with

their own petard.
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A HISTORIC CHOICE

FROM the year 1930 onward the Muslims of India,
who had been taught a lesson of unity and cooperation with
their compatriots by the leaders of the Khilafat Committee,
found themselves caught among three forces--nationalist
organizations like the Indian National Congress and the
Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulam8’-i Hind; Muslim organigzations like that
of the Kll-India Muslim League; purely commmnal Hindu
orgenizations such as the Hindu Mah&sabha.

The Jam‘Iyat, as we have seen, persisted with
the one-nation theory (although they could not satisfactorily
define~ the word nation.) .The Muslim League, on the other
hand, declared through its chief spokesmen, Mr. Jinng&hs

"We maintain and hold that Muslims and Hindus

are two major nations by any definition or test
of a nation. We are a nation of a hundred
million, and, what is more, we are a nation

with our own distinetive culture and civilization,
language and literature, art and architecture,
name and nomenclature, sense of value and
proportion, legal laws and moral codes, customs
and ecalendar, history and traditions, aptitudes
and ambitions; in short, we have our own distinctive
ouilook on life and of life. By all canons of
international law we are a nation." (1)

The above two diametrically opposing views
contained plenty to bewilder the common Muslim. On top of
that there was the Hindi Mah@sabha. Although it was a
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Hindu organization, for its own purpose it was endorsing
the viewpoint of the Muslim League. Its President, Mr. V. D.
Savarkar, said publicly in 1937s

"India cannot be assumed today to be a unitarian
and homogeneous nation, but on the contrary
there are two nations in the main, the Hindus
and the Muslims." (2)

Addressing the people, in 1938, he saids

"Mr. Jinneh is quite correct in stating that the
Congress has been since its inception down to
this day & Hindu body. ... The few lMoslems ...
are kept there merely as figureheads to run
the poor show of a ‘United Indian Nation’." (3)

Agein in 1939, more clearly, Mr. Sévarkar said:

"We Hindus, in spite of thousand and one
differences within our fold, are bound by
such religious, cultural, historical, racial,
linguistic and other affinities in common as
to skand out as a definitely homogeneous people
as soon as We are placed in contrast with any
other non-Hindu people--say the English or
Japanese or even the Indian Muslims. That is
the reason why today we, the Hindus, from
Kashmir to Madras and Sind to Assam will have
to be a nation by ourselves." (4)

To think that such statements did not express
the real views of the Mah@isabhd but were merely made for
the seke of propaganda would be an oversimplification.
Phese overt intention of the Hindus (of the Mah@sabhg)
must have made the Muslims realize that not all the Hindus

were thinking about the future of India in the same way &8
the Congress or the nationalist Muslim leaders wanted them
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to believe. They knew very well the future programme
of the Hindd Mah@sabhd@. Their demands (as summarized by

Dr. Rajendra Prasad) weres:

"The state should belong to the Hindus and the
Mohammedens may live there. But the state
cannot be a Muslim state nor can it be a
jointly Hindu-Muslim administrated state. ...

To attain Swaraj [independence] we do not need
the Muslim assistance nor is it our desire

to establish a Joint Rule. ... The future of
the Hindu race of Hindustan and the Punjab
rests on these four pillars: Ei) Hindu Sanghattan
[solidarity], (ii) Hindu Raj [government], (iii)
Shuddhi [conversion] of Muslims, and (iv) the
conquest and Shuddhi of Afghanistan and the
frontiers." (5)

It is true that the Congress never officially
endorsed such claims. But it is equally true that quite
a few members of the Congress high command were in their
individual capacity sympathisers with the Hindll Mahasabha.
In the words of Kzad:

"There have always been in Congress some men
who have posed as nationalists but who are in
fact utterly communal in outlook. They always
agrued that Indiae has no unified culture and
have held that whatever Congress may say, the
gsocial 1life of the Hindus and the Muslims was
entirely different." (6)

However, our purpose is neither to discuss the
commmal attitude of the Mah@sabh@ nor to review the
communalistic tendencies of nationalist Hindus. This
point has been brought up only to remind ourselves that

there were Hindus as well who were helping pave the way

for the two-nation theory.
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II

Throughout this discussion we have noticed that
the nationalist ‘ulamd not excapting Xz&d spoke constantly
from a religious frame of reference. Anything and
everything was to be decided according to the shari‘ah.
(So much so that the Jam‘Iyat claimed that its flag was
as "Islamic flag," and was a replica of the flag carried
by the Prophet and his companions in most of their ghazavat,
bat‘l:les.)'7 The Muslims were supposed to support the
Khilafat Committee out of religious duty.8 The Muslims
had to boycott foreign goods because that was commanded
by the ggggl.g The Muslims had to work for the liberation

10

of the country because it was ordained by God. Commenting

on the apathy of the Muslims' attitude towards politiecs,
Azad had said in 1912:

"Phe followers of the Prophet can be no more
religiously dead (maBhabl mawt) than to think
that Islam is unable to guide them in a matter
concerning an important aspect of their life
[that is, politics]. ... If that be the case
it is better to remounce Islam. There is no
need for a religion which is useful only to
solemmize a marriage or to recite a few Quranic
verses at the death-bed." (11)

At the time Az28d announced this viewpoint he
was well aware that the word "politieca" was taboo for the
Indian Muslims. They could never be persuaded to parti-
cipate in political affairs unless they were aroused in
the name of religion. ' According to hims
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"The effect which the words fnation" (qawm) and

‘motherland? (vagan) has on the rest of the

world is ?reduce on the Muslims by the words,

‘God’ or ‘Islam’. You can stir the hearts of

thousands, in Burope, simply with one word

‘nation’, but in the case of Muslims the only

comparable word for this purpose is ‘God’ or

‘Islam’." (12) .

Mainly for thig reason, that is, to organize
the Muslims through religion, Ez&d dragged the ‘ulamaé along
into politics.l3 Xzad was aware of the danger of the game
he was playing. He knew that any wrong move might well
blow up the whole scheme. "If the power of religion," he
said, "is not handled by the right persons it could do
tremendous narm."¢ He also knew that the ‘ulamé were

not the right persoms for his purpose. In his own words:

"T would like to tell you that I do not have
any hope in the present group of the ‘ulami.

©ees I am also of the opinion that any kind of
change in them is against the law of soclology
(gavanin-i ijtimd‘). We can achieve our purpose
only by ignoring the existing fossiligzed minds
(pukhtah dim@ghon). We first need to produce
a new generation, and have to create in them
true ‘Islamic mentality.’ For that we need a
new and special kind of literature." (15)

Xz3d tried to put into practice his scheme of
producing a new generationto replace those ‘ulamé in whom
he had no hope. In 1914, Xz&d announced his desire to
found an institution which he called Darul-Irshdd (the
house of guidance). One of his well-wishers, Haji

Muglihuddin of Calcutta, donated a plot of land in one of

the suburbs of Calcutta and a handsome amount of money

_t
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b 6
to erect a dormitory and achool.1 The main purpose of
the institution was to teach the Qur’@n. About the method
of teaching, Kzad wrote to one of his friemnds, Mawlaéna
Sayyid Sulayman Nadvi:

"The main thing is to explain the Qur’an with

the help of authentic 2dis, without being

influenced by personal opinion (tafsIr bir-r@’s).

Attention must be given to the latest research

in language and literatiure. This removes at

least half the difficulties in understanding the

Qur’an. The Qur’a@n should be taught in such a

way-as to show that it cover every aspect

of life." (17)

How many students AzZ8d admitted to the Darul-Irshad
is not known, but we do know what type of students he wanted
to teach. There was no place, in the institution, for the
students of the elementary classes. Only graduates of
either a University or a religious seminary were offered
admission. No text book was prescribed; teaching was
conducted mainly through lectures. There was provision
for imparting to the students the neceasary knowledge of
English and Arabic languages. The period of training and

teaching was from six months to one year.l8

In July, 1914, the Darul-Irshéd was founded,
and the academic session started in October. The next
month the Government of Bengal confiscated Agad's journal,
A1-Hil81 and its Press. After a few months, in 1915, Rzad
started the publication of another journal entitled Al-Balagh,

which soon met the same fate. The paper was banned by the
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Bengal government and Ezad was taken out of the province
of Bengal and interned at Renchi in Bihar. This dealt a
death-blow to the Darul-Irshédd. ZAzad had somehow come
to kmow of the order of internment before it was actually
served on him. He, therefore, wanted some other ‘&lim to
take charge of the Darul-Irshdd. The only ‘&lim of whom
he could think was his friend, Sayyid Sulayman Nadvi.
Mawléngd Nadvi had been trained in his religious and
political ideas, and in academic scholarship, at the Darul-
‘ulim Nadvatul-‘Ulamd@, Lucknow, by Shibli, a well-known
‘alim of India..19 Among the known personalities of that
time ShiblI seems to have been the only one whose ideas
had a considerable weight with Xzdd. So Azad chose Sayyid
Sulaymén to take charge of his work, and wrote him a very
moving letter before his internment asking him to promise
that 'the moment he (Sayyid Suleymén) heard any such news
about Xz&d (that is, of his exile) he would rush to Calcutta
and take charge of the Dﬁrul-Irshad.zo We do not know
how Mawlang Nadvi enswered Ez8d's letter; but we do know
that he did Iiot go to Calcutta to take charge of the movement
when Zzad was exiled. It would be highly hypothetical to
say anything about the future of the Darul-Irsha@d if Mawlana
Nadvi had accepted Azad's request to take charge of the
Darul-Irshdd. But one thing can be said with certaintys
kzad must have known that Mawlangé Nadvi could not accept
the offer. The Mawland@ was a member of the order of the

‘ulam@ and had shown no sign of being discontented with
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the existing pattern of the ‘ulamd. On the other hand
Xzad was determined to destroy the very branch on which

men like Mawlénd Nadvi were nesting. .

Xzad apparently did not find anyone to assist
him in implementing his project of creating a new generation
with, what he called, Islamic mentality. After his release
from his internment, his entire time was taken up by'politics,
80 he could not devote much attention to other matters.
This did not heppen by his own choice but by the force of
circumstances. As one of his political-colleagues,
J. B. Kripalani, remarks:

"The Maulana was pre-eminently an intellectual
and a scholar. ILike several other leaders in
the national movement, given a free choice, he
would not have entered the political arena and
would have pursued in quiet the life of letters.
But in a subject country, there can be no free
choice for the sensitive and the conscientious.
It is not politics that draws them. It is the
cause of justice and patriotism that beckons
them to the barricades. We often hear of the
sacrifices made in the cause of freedom, but
no sacrifice is as great as that which obliges
a person to leave his work for which he has an
aptitude and a genius, to join the freedom
fight. This supreme sacrifice was made by the
Maulana Sahib." (21)

Xzad's decision to give up his scholarly pursuits
and to devote his entire time and energy to the cause of
freedom was one for which he could hardly be blamed. In
those days the country was engaged in a life and death

struggle for freedom and a man like Xzad could not allow
anything to prevent him from serving his country. His
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sentiments about this matter were clearly reflected in
the statement which he gave before a Judicial Court at
Calcutta, in 1922. In that statement he said:

"It is my belief that liberty is the birthright
of every nation (gawm) and individual. No one,
nor any man-made bureaucracy, has the right to
enslave human beings. We may coin beautiful
names for slavery (ghulami) and subjugation
(g%%ggg;) but in fact they remain slavery and
subjugation all the same, and are imposed on
man by man against the will of God. Therefore,
I do not accept the present government [of India]
as a rightful government. I believe that it
is my national (mulkI), religious and human duty
to relieve my country and my nation from the
subjugation." (22)

III

It is an irony of fate that Azd&d could not
produce a new generation of ‘ulamé@ of his way of thinking
and had to put up with ‘ulamd in whom he did not have
any hope. In the course of his political life he was

constantly associated with ‘vlamd with whom he, in fact,

23

had no equation at all. According to one of his Hindu

colleagues, in the Congress:

"Ag an Islamic divine one would have expected
him to be rather orthodox in his religious
views., But his attitude towards religion was
very liberal and catholic. This was not because
he was indifferent or easy-going but because of
his philosophical and historical lkmowledge and
his understanding and generous heart. [24] With
his innate goodness, it was impossible for him
to think that salvation for humanity lay through
a particular religion, a particular prophet or
one set of doctrines, rituals and dogmas. For
instance, he would not have considered that the
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men of other faiths with whom he was assoclated

in national life, would have been better or more

‘acceptable to him if they had but accepted Islam.

This was the attitude of some Moslem leaders

who took part in the Khilafat and the national

movement in the ’twenties. [25] Maulana considered

that the essence of religion lay in moral conduct
and, if one delved deeper into the dark recesses

of 1life, in mysticism." (26)

But this was not the attitude of the "religiously"
conditioned people. Even during the hey-day of Khildfat
movement when unity and cooperation between Hindus and
Muslims was at its peak, many (religious) Muslims were
enquiring whether it was permitted by the shar‘’ to address
non-Muslim leaders with reverence. In a Khilafat paper,

a Muslim asked the following question:

"What is the mesning of Swami and Mahatma?

Can Muslims use in speech or writing these

words about non-Muslims? ... [It is said]

that Swami means ‘Master’, and ‘Mahatma’

means ‘possessed of the highest spiritual

owers’ and is equivalent to ‘Ruh-i-aazam’
a‘gam], and the supreme spirit." (27)

Apparently this question was raised with reference
to GandhIjI who was at that time generally called "Mahatma
GandhI jI" by both Hindus and Muslims. Because of their
political zeal many Muslims felt offended if one tried to
drop the word "Mahdtmg." In 1923, Mubammad ‘AlT (who was
an 0xford graduate but on account of his "clerical" attire,
beard, and religious zeal had come to be known by that time
as "Mawlanga" Muhammad ‘Al1) was elected President of the

Indian National Congress. Jawaharlal Nehru, who was in
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his working committee as Secretary, tried to introduce
a system of addressing all the members of the Congress by
their names, without any honorific titles. "But,ﬂ as Nehru
says, "I was not to have my way. Mohamad Ali sent me a
frantic telegram directing me ‘as president’ to revert to
our old practice and, in particular always %o address
Gandhiji as Mahatma."28 But the same Muhammad ‘AlI Just a
year later, in 1924, said in one of his public speeches:
"However pure Mr. Gandhi's character may be, he must appear
to me from the point of view of religion inferior to any
Musalman, even though he be without character." Many people
could not believe that Muhammad ‘A1T could have said this.
Therefore, he was asked in another public meeting if the
sentiments attributed to him were true. Without any
hesitation he said, “Yes, agcording.to myhreligion and
creed, I do hold an adulterous and a fa;len Musalman to be
better than Mr. Ga;ndhi."29 It is true that the ‘ulamié
could not be held directly responsible for what Muhammad
‘A1 had said. But the main reason of his saying so seems
to be the fact that in some of his speeches he had compared
Gandhiji with Christ and for that, as Ambedkar says,
"Mr., Mahomed Ali had to recant because the wholg of the
orthodox Muslim community had taken offence for his having
shown such deference to Mr. Gandhi, who was a Kaffir, as to
put him Qn‘the same pedestal as Jesus. Such praise of a

Kaffir, they felt, was forbidden by the Muslim Canon Law."30
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(3' Referring to Muhemmad ‘AlI, Nehru recalls:

"Another frequent subject for argument between
us was the Almighty. Mohamad Ali had an
extraordinary way of bringing in some reference
to God even in Congress resolutions, either
by way of expressing gratitude or some kind
of prayer. I used to protest, and then he
would shout at me for my irreligion. And yet,
curiously enough, he would tell me later that
he was quite sure that I was fundamentally
religious, in spite of my superficial behavior
or my declarations to the contrary. I have
often wondered how much truth there was in
his statement. Perhaps it depends on what
is meant by religion and religious." (31)

It was the outspokenness of Muhammad ‘AlI which
made him conspicuous as an ortho@bx Muslim; otherwise in
this respect Muhammad ‘A1l was not unique among the ‘ulams.
In fact, he represented the sentiments of the ‘ulama in
religiohhand politics. Mubammad ‘A1 and the ‘ulamid were

in the same boat except that it was not easy for Muhammad

‘Al1T to conceal his sentiments.

The influence of religion on politics has been
well deécribed by Nehru:

"I used to be troubled sometimes at the growth
of this religious slement in our politics, both
on the Hindu and the Moslem side. I did not
like it at all. Much that Moulvies and Maulanas
and Swamis and the like said in their public
addresses seemed to me most unfortunate. Their
history and sociology and economics appeared
to me all wrong, and the religious twist that
was given to everything prevented all clear

thinking." (32)

(:? This tendency to introduce religious values into
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political judgment was the result of the fact that the
Muslims were led in the political struggle by the ‘ulama
in the name of religion. It is hard to say if Azad had
actually realized the consequences when he said that
religion and politics were i.:lcxsepa.ra.ble.33 Consequently
the Muslims of India were gradually conditioned to listen
only to those who could stir their religious sentiments.
To them nothing was acceptable unless it was 'presented as
a religious dictum.34 In a way Kz@d was responsible for
this situation. He brought the ‘ulamd into politics, and,
as it appears, helped them to play on the religious
sentiments of the MAslim people. Probably he would have
been successful in controlling both the masses and the
‘ulamd hed his scheme of the imEmat materialized.’” Xzad,
however, could not dissociate himself from the ‘ulamd, and
consequently it was taken for granted that whatever they
said had been approved by Zzad.

IV
Once the arrow is shot it cannot be brought back.

Once the Muslims were trained to .weigh every
political move in the scale of religion they could not be
expected to listen to any argument except the religious one.
As long as the ‘ulamid as a whole were nationalist--(no matter
whether they really understood the meaning of nationalism)--
it was easy to carry the Muslims along. But when some of
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the ‘ulamié were won over by the Muslim Lieague the situation

was changed.36

Now every religious shot which was fired
on the British. also hit nationalist forces. The same
logic which was used by the nationalist ‘ulamé to organise
the Muslims against foreign power. began to fe utilized

against them by their édversaries.

It should not be assumed that the communalist
Muslim ‘ulami@ who became more powerful than the nationalist
‘ulamé in the late ’forties were not issuing counter fatava
to restrain thg Musiims froﬁ'joining the Congress even at
the time of the Khilafat movement.37 But they were not
then organized as a political body. Whatever they said
at that time was considered to be the opinion of an individ-
ual ‘Blim. |

The basic difference between these two groups
of the Indian ‘ulam@ was only on the question of joining
the Muslim League or the Congress; otherwise both of them
had the séme approach towards politics. Mawlana Ashraf ‘A13
Thémavi, who favoured the communalist ‘ulamd (though he
himself never participated in political activities), believed
that "every step, action, proposal, and opinion was to be
supported by the authority of the ggggi.”Be In his eyes
both the Muslim League and the Congress were useless. "But
the Muslim Léague was better than the Congress, because
one could hope to change the Muslim League from its

irreligion to religiqn. But this was‘not possible in the
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case of the Congress. The Congress was like a blind man;
the Muslim League was like a one-eyed man. The one-eyed
person is always preferable if a man with perfect sight is
not available."39

However, we cannot go inté details to show what
Mawl&nd Ashraf ‘AlI or any ‘&lim who followed him thought
or said about the Muslim League or the Congress, because
it has hardly any relevence to the present study. The
foregoing quotations have been introduced here only to
bring to atteﬁtion the fact that at the time of the
partition of India the Muslim League also had quite a few
famous ‘ulamd in its camp to persuade the Muslims to support

it on religious grounds.

When Iqb&l thought of a separate homeland for
the Muslims, in 1930, it was primarily for the Muslims of
the majority provinces. Later ne made it clear in one of
his letters to Mr. Jinnah, (dated 21lst Jumne, 1957). He wrotes
"Why should not the Muslims of North-West India
and Bengal be considered as nations entitled
to self-determination just as other nations in
India and outside India are?
Personally I think that the Muslims of North-
West India and Bengal ought at present to ignore
Muslim minority provinces." (40?
This was in 1937. Within a decade this proposal
which was basically for the Muslims of the majority provinces
became the focal point of Muslim politics for the whole of

India.
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One may consider illogical the choice of the
Indian Muslims of the mirerity provinces to decide to
support the demand for Pakistan, but, what we have dicsussed
in the preceding pages leaves no ground for astonishment.
Previously the nationalist ‘ulamd had tried to preve their
one-nation theory on the basis of the Qur’@n and the hadil;
this time the communalist Muslim ‘ulamd qﬁoted the same
Qur’an and hadi¥ to prove that the two-nation theory was
an islamic theory; any view contrary to this was un--Islamic.41
The formation of Pakistan was the first step towards the
establishment of God's Quranic kingdom on earth. If the
Muslim: League, which was fighting for that goal, was
defeated in the election, it was declared, a true principle

42

would be buried forever. Who could have the courage,

then, not to vote for the kingdom of God!43

Even at that critical juncture the nationalist
‘ulamé were trying witﬁ religious arguments to persuade the
Muslims against the idea of Paldistan. Mawldnd Husayn Apmad
Madani appealed to the Muslim voters not to cast their
vofes in fawbur‘of Pakistan., Pakistan meant to him leaving
the mosques, shrines, religious seminaries and the centres
of Muslim culture (in the Muslim-minority provinces) at the
mercy of non-Muslims. A Muslim was not supposed to let
thenm be ruined.44 As a counter-appeal, Mawland Shabbir
Apmad ‘UBmanI, the President of the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamsd’-@

Islam, the sister-organization of the Muslim League, declared:
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"Everyone knows that the Prophet did not carry

with him the shrines of Mecca when he left for

Medina. The Prophet did it because he wanted

to turn Medina into a Pakistan." (45)

Ezad was not thinking in the same way as Mawlana
MadanI and other nationalist ‘ulami@. He was looking at
the whole problem with the eyes of a dispassionate historian.
But he did not disclose his view as long as he was alive.

In his posthumous book, India Wins Freedom, he declared:

"It is one of the greatest frauds on the people
to suggest that religious affinity can unite
areas which are geographically, economically,
linguistically and culturally different. It
is true that Islam sought to establish a society
which transcends racial, llnguistic, economic
and political frontiers. History has however
proved that after the first few decades, or at
moet after the first century, Islam was not
able to unite all the Muslim countries into
one state on the basis of Islam alone." (46)

Had Azad expressed this opinion when it was
needed probably the situation would have been different.
But he did not dare say so at that time, end his main
opposition to the idea of Pakistan was similar to that of
any other ‘Zlim. In a statement issued on April 15, 1946,
he said:

- "Considering the scheme in all its aspects I
have come to the conclusion that it is harmful
not only for India as a whole but for Muslims
in particular. And in fact it creates more
problem8 than it solves.

I must confess that the very term Pakistan goes

against my grain. It suggests that some portions

of the world are pure while others are impure.
Such a division of territories into pure and
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impure is un-Islamic and a repudiation of the
very spirit of Islam. Islam recognises no such
division and the Prophet says, ‘God has made
the whole world a mosque for me.’...

In such context, the demand for Pakistan loses
all forces. As a Muslim, I for one am no%t
prepared for a moment to give up my right to
treat the whole of India as my domain and to
share in the shaping of its political and
economic life. To me it seems a sure sign of
cowardice to give up what is my patrimony and
content myself with a mere fragment of it. ...

I am prepared to overlook all other aspects of
the problem and judge it from the point of view
of Muslim interests alone. I shall go still
further and say that if it can be shown that

the scheme of Pakistan can in any way benefit
Muslims I would be prepared to accept it myself
and also to work for its acceptance by cthers. ...

Let us consider dispassionately the consequences
which will follow if we give effect to the
Pakistan scheme. India will be divided into

two states, one with a majority of Muslims and
the other of Hindus._ In the Hindustan State
there will remain 3 /2 crores [35 millions] of
Muslims scattered in small minorities all over
the land. With 17 per cent in U.P., 12 per cent
in Bihar and 9 per cent in Madras, they will

be weaker than they are today in the Hindu
majority provinces., They have had their
homelands in these regions for almost a thousand
years and built up well-known centres of Muslim
culture and evivilization there.

They will awaken overnight and discover that
they have become aliens and foreigners. Backward
industrially, educationally and economically,
they will be left to the mercies to what would
then become an unadulterated Hindu raj." (47)
But this argument failed to convince the Muslims.
It was bound to fail. It might have been more effective
if Rzad or other nationalist ‘ulams@ could have had the
courage to say and to prove that the creation of Pakistan

was harém (religiously forbidden). But they did not do so.
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On the other hand the communalist ‘ulam@ declared in one
of their fatavd that it was incumbent (y&jib) upon the
Indian Muslims to vote for Pakistan. They said that India
which had been a Darul-Islim for centuries was turned by
the British into a Darul-Harb. It was the religious duty
of the Muslims to make the whole of India again a Darul-Islam.
But if circumstances were not favourable to changing the
entire country into Darul-Islém the Muslims had to make
at least a part of it Darul-Islém.48 _Contrary to this,
the statements and speeches of the nationalist ‘ulams
against the idea of Pakistan were mostly attempts to appeal
to the Muslims' sentiments against leaving the Muslims of
the minority provinces at the merc& of the non-Muslims.
This kind of "appeal" could not meet the challenge of the
‘ulam3 of the Muslim League who were saying that the
religious duty of a Muslim was to sacrifice himself for

his brother Muslims.49

The Muslims of India, as we have already seen,
were always asked by the (nationalist) ‘ulamd to sacrifice
themselves for the cause of "religion.". In 1920, as we
know, thousands of Muslims had migrated from the country
leaving all their shrines and mosques to the non-Mgelims,
only because the ‘ulamd had made them Believe that tﬁat
was their religious duty. Du:ing the period of non-~cooper-
ation thousands of Muslim lawyers and businessmen had

embraced poverty by giving up their legal practice and by
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boycotting foreign goods, only because the theory of
non-cooperation was presented as a religious dictum. If,
at that time; nothing could prevent the Maslims from
performing their "religious duty" then, at the time of
partition, they had only two alternatives from which they
could choose: either they had to stick to their mosques,
their shrines, their religious seminaries, their well;known
centres of culture and vivilization or they had to provide
an opportunity to found a state which was supposed to be
run according to the shari‘ah. The great majority of them
did choose what they thought would be the "kingdom of God"
and their choice became a part of history.
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Conclusion

THE END OF A JOURNEY

A west-bound train coming from Calcutta left
the Delhi railway station for Lahore sometime after midnight.
The compartments were packed to c¢apacity. Some of the
lucky passengers had menaged to find room to stretch them-

selves. Many were dozing. At dawn, a person in an upper

berth lowered his head and asked the fellow below him, "Hi,

man, where are you going?" "To Lahore," came the prompt
answer, followed by a question, "Whereto, yourself?“' "To
Calcutta," the man on the upper berth said. Everybody

in the compartment burst into laughter. But the man on the
lower berth, who had suddenly become absorbed in deep thought,
raised his head and said, "How wonderful! There is but one
train, yet the upper berth is eastbound--to Calcutta, while
the lower berth is headed west--towards Lahore. Surely

God will lead us both to our destinations. Nothing is
impossible for Him."

The above is just an anscdote which may be treated
lightly by many of our readers; however, this is not merely
a humorous story. Mbny Indians and Pakistanis, it may
safely be assumed, will &t once recognize the main character
of the story. Whether we like it or not, the main character
is a startling representation of the Indian nationalist
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‘ulam® as far as their understanding of politics was

concerned.

It is a fact, whether one may like it or not,
that the Muslim maesses of India have always been under the
influence of the ‘ulamg. Or in other words, the majority
of the Indian Muslims, in its attitude, has always been
under the spell of "religion." Religion here does not
connote "piety." It only implies blind faith in an invisible
power which inspires the people 4o sacrifice themselves for
a cause despite insufficient knowledge of the cause itself.
The preceding pages are a testimony to this fact. Those
who knew and exploited this characteristic of the Indian

Muslims were mostly ‘ulama.

The ‘ulamd were fully capable of moving the Muslim
masses in any direction they wanted. In fact, they were
the only people who could speak in a language which the
majority of the Indian Muslims liked to hear. But despite
their control, the ‘ulamé proved incapable of guiding the
Muslims in the novel situation. The education and training
which the ‘ulem@ had was medieval, and they wWere not willing
to change their outlook. With this background the Indian
‘ulam@ participated in politics.

We are told by modern-day ‘ulami of India and
Pakisten that the Indian ‘ulemi of the 19th century played
a very positive role in the struggle for independence in 1857.




185
But, as we have seen, in the first chapter of this study,
the idea that they had participated in that struggle was
only a myth.

Wé are also told that after 1857 the ‘ulama
established madrasahs (religious schools) at important
places supposedly to provide political guidance in a religious
framework. However, as we have seen, the evidence does
not prove conclusive in this respect either.l As a matter
of fact, the ‘ulamd, after 1857, feared that the Indians--
including the Muslims--were on the road to modernization.
What we would regard as "modern" was, according to the
‘uWlamd, equivalent to irreligion.’ The ‘ulamd considered
it their duty to check this modernization. Since there
wag no Muslim ruler in India who could be persuaded to
help the ‘ulama@ to safeguard the shari‘sh, the ‘ulamd@ took
it upon themselves to come forward and save it. Mainly
for this reason they established madrasahs and tried to
keep them independent of the influence of the British
government of India, which was believed to be a modernising
agency. To maintain the independence, Mawlan& Muhammad
Qdeim, the founder of the Darul~‘uliim Deoband, the first
independent madrasah in India, insisted in his testament
that no financial help should be accepted from the govern-
ment.3 In this way for about half a century, since 1857,
the Indian ‘ulamé kxept themselves aloof from the forces
of modernisation.
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With such a background the ‘ulamé found themselves
one day pushed into the political arena by Abul Kalam Ezad,
who, though not an ‘8lim in the technical sense, was
generally considered an ‘&lim. Since nothing could arouse
the ‘ulamd from their slumber except religion, the political
struggle had to be presented as a religious duty? RAzad,
therefore, spoke in language which, on the one hand, stirred
the Muslim masses agailnst the British and, on the other
hand, pleased the ‘ulam@. This move of Xz&@&d was a success
for many reasons. The move was apparently to help the
KhalIfatul-Muslimin (of Turkey) in his effort to save the
traditional office of the khalifah from those non-Muslims
who were determined to destroy it. This move which was
directly against the British who, in the ewpes of the ‘ulanmsd,
vere responsib;e‘for corrupting the religioqs life of the
Indian Muslims was bound to gain the favour of the ‘ulama.
That was the only chance for them to avenge themselves
against the British. Mainly for this reason the ‘ulama
swallowed the bait and joined the struggle for freedom.

Zz8d was greatly successful in awakening the ‘ulamd
from the iy : slumber,. but this was not all he wanted. To
him the participation of the ‘ulamé in politics was not
an end in itself. He had made the ‘ulamd participate in
politics with the idea that through them he could attract
the Muslim masses to the national movement; otherwise he

considered the existing group of ‘ulamé more harmful for
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the movement than usefu1.5 He wanted them to be replaced
by a new type of ‘ulemd who, on:the one hand, would have
full knowledge of Islamic lore and, on the other hand, would
not be inferior to a university graduate in modgern learning.
Thus he established the Darul-Irshad, a boarding school,
4o teach and train such people. This institute did not
live long enough to bear any fruit. ZXAz@d's involvement
in politics brought the DErul-Irshdd to its untimely death.®

After losing the first chance of producing a new
type of ‘ulam@ Ez&d cast another die in an effort to win
the game. This was his “attempt to be chosen as imém of
the Indian Muslims.7 Here also Xzad appears to have been
rathe: naive. The idea of appointing an imam to lead his
community in the national movement seems to be an effort
of Xzad to compromise with those who were used to thinking
in a medieval frame of reference. However, we have already
seen how carefully the ‘ulam8 avolded the question of

appointing an imﬁm.8

After his unsuccessful attempt in both of the
cases mentioned above, Kzdd seems to have tried to getl away
from the ‘ulamé in whom he had no hope. Here also he failed,
because he did nqt publicly dissociate himself from the
‘ulamd. As we have seen he was no longer an active
participant in the politics of the ‘ulami,9 nevertheless
because of his silence was always considered as one of them.

The result was that the Muslim masses could not differentiate
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between his opinion and those which were expressed by
the ‘ulami.

II

Had the ‘ulamé been careful to consider. the
consequences before embarking on the course of nationalism
they would surely have tried to understand the reallmeaning
of the word "mation," and the consequences of nationalism.

The nationalist ‘ulamd were claiming on the one hand that
every Indian irrespective of his religious belief was "Indian"
and was & member of a nation--the Indian nation. On the

other hand, the same ‘ulamd were not prepared, even for the
sake of argument, to talk about cultural unity among the
religious communities of India. It was painful for them to
see Muslims and Hindus, at least in their attire, looking
a;ike.lo Also the nationalist ‘ulamd were so confused
and vague in defining the concept of "nation" that in the
end thg common Muslim was unable to see any difference
between them and their opponents on this question. This
dicpotqmy between nationalism and particularism in the
thinking of the nationalist ‘ulamd helped their opponents,
at the time of partition, to win the hearts of the Muslim

masses,

‘ ~ The ‘ulamd put much emphasis on religion but they
never considered whether it was at all possible to realize

their religious ideals in an independent secular India.
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What the ‘ulamd did not realize was the impracticality
of their plan, according to which the Muslims of India had
to 1live a dual life. One part of their life was to be
controlled by the shari‘ah, and the other part was to be
goverhed by a secular democratic state which was not
necessarily to be run according to the shari‘ah. It cannot
be said that to live such a life woul@ be absolutely
impossible, but if by shari‘sh we mean a system which
encompasses the entire life of an individual then it is
highly improbable that the poor Indian Muslims could have
passed this test. However, even if we disregard the |
question of the "possibility" of living such a life, then
the task for the ‘ulamid was to prove it. Throughout our
discussion we have seen that the ‘ulamé failed to prove
that the shari‘ah would be given an important place in an
indbpendént India. If it were to have been at all possible
then in 1937 the government of India would have accepted
the demand of the Jam‘Iyat that only a Muslim judge should
be empowered to decide cases under the "Dissolution of

Muslim Marriages Aet."l1

It is quite evident that the ‘ulama were too
innocent to understand the political game. During the 1937
election, the Jaem‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamd’~8 Hind collaborated with
the Muslim League in U.P. on thé assurance of the League
President, Mr. Jinnah, that the members of the Muslim League
in the U.P. Assembly would follow the Jam‘Iyat in religious
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affairs. On this basis the Jam‘Iyat worked for the.
Muslim League candidates who were running against the
Congress nominees. Almost all the Muslim Leagﬁe candidates

were elected with the help of the Jam‘Iyat. When the hustle

and bustle of the election was over, Mr. Jinnah, as reported

by Mewl@nd MadenI, the President of the Jam‘Iyat, did not
comply with his promise, saying that that was a "political"

promise.12

This was not the first time the ‘ulamd had been
tricked in the political game. Before that the Congress
had played the same trick on them. At the time of the

non-cooperation movement a fatvd was needed to encourage

the Muslims to participate in the movement. One hundred and

eighteen ‘ulemd issued jointly a faivé declaring that
non-cooperation was a religious duty, and practicing law
at the British courts was unlawful (hg;§g).l3 In theory,
after the fatvé was issued no one but only those who had
issued the fatvé had any right to call off the movement.
But we kmow that G&ndhIjI, who was not only not an ‘alim
but also not a Muslim called it off without taking the

14 This time no fatvéd was issued.

consent of the ‘ulami.
Had the ‘ulam& been able to understand politics they would
have divorced themselves from the Congress only on that

issue.

Such was the political understanding of the
nationalist ‘ulamd. They were fond of travelling in the
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same train in which other politicians had already occupied
seats. The ‘ulamd sitting in their berths were confident
that one day they would reach their destination though the
train was moving in another direction.

And what did Xz3d do? While the train was still
at the station he brought a crowd of passengers into the
train, but did not make any effort to check the ticketsof his
fellow travellers. When he finally realized that their
destination was not the same as his, it was too late for him
to force them to change their destination or leave the train.
It was so crowded and the travellers were so enthusiastic
about travelling that even if he had shouted at them to get
off the train many of them would not have heard him. So he
separated himself from the crowd and shut off the doors of
his reserved compartment, befause, as one Indian scholar
suggests:

"[Z23d] was too aloof to concern himself with
persons, too intellectual to relish political
small talk, too proud to think in terms of
alliance, affiliation or opposition. He was
a statesmen Keicj who would not accept the
normal functions of & politician, and he was
80 engrossed in principles that he could not
become an efficient administrator. He had

to be taken for what he was, with no credentials
other than his personality." (15)
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more weight nowsdagys in the eyes of the people of
Indiar and Pakistan than the title "Mawlavi'.

See Freedom Struggle in Uttar Pradeshs Source-Material,
six volumes, Lucknow 1961, vol. VI (Consolidated
Index and Chronology), PP. 380-382.

Ibid, vol. I, p. 302; also Rahmén ‘AlI, TaBkirah
*2lamd’-i Hind, ed. snd tr. into Urdu by Mubammad
Qadirl, Karachi, 1961, p. 412.

Freedom Struggle ..., vol. V, pp. 221, 318; Rahméan
*A11, op. Cit., D. 380.

Freedom Struggle ves, VOlo V, p. 982; Rapman ‘AlT,
op. cit., Dp. .

Mawldnd Fagl-i Haqq Khayrabadl is said to have taken
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nationalist ‘@lim of the 20th century, Mewland Husayn
Ahmad Madani,says:

"The ‘ulamé of India after the disintegration
of the Mughal power were only interested in a
‘just’ (‘adil) ruler, whether he was a Muslim
or non-Musiim. They only wanted to liberate
their country (vajan) from the British."

(See Husayn Apmad Madani, NagshQi heygt, (2 vols.),
Deoband, 1954, vol. II, p. 1ll.

They ares 1. Zixa’ul-gulﬁb, 2. Faygleh haft-i mas’alah,
Ris vahdatul-vujud, 6. aza’ -

ma' rifet, 8. Risalan dard-i ghamnsak, 9 8d-1_exbar,
70. Nalah’-i Imdad gharib, published under the title,
Khll!xét-I‘ImEéEIxa_, pur, n.d.

The subject matter of the first, third and fifth tracts
is mostly tagavvuf. In the second tract the author
discusses some eological problems current at that
time in the Indian Muslim society. The remaining six
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(poem in praise of the Prophet) and allegorical

stories exhorting the reader to prepare himself for
his reel vajan, that is, the world hereafter.

Imdsadullah, Kulliyat-i Imdadlyah, pp. 121, 122.

For example, the newly introduced system of sending

money-orders was, in the eyes of Mawl&né Rashid Ahmed,
afainst the shari‘ah, because it had some resemblence
with ribd (usury of interest). The argument was that




O

e e et e e e £ 2 8 et [ES— S T AT AR A

Chapter One: 196

41.
42,
43.

44,

45,

46,

417.
48,

in that system the money for the transaction and the
fee was deposited in a post office and the equal

amount (minus fee), not the same nmoney, was delivered
from another post office. In othe: words, as the
Mawlangd saw it, the money was bought by one post office
at one rate and was sold by another post office at a
higher rate. This was "money business" with interest
which was prohibited in the sharI‘ah. One was, however,
allowed to send the rupee bills in an envelope by
registered mail, because in that case the actual money
was transferred. (See, Rashid Apmad Gapgohl, Fatavi -
Rashidiyah, ed. by Subhd@n Abmad, Karachi, n.d. p. 4307

Mawléna Rashid Ahmad also did not allow the deposit

of money in the banks, no matter whether the depositer
received any interest on his deposit or not. The very
system was against the shari‘sh. (ibvid., p. 431).

ibvid., p. 493.
ivid., pp. 180, 181.
About the nature of maktab, read the followings:

"Every Muslim, man or woman, must be able to

recite the kalimah, perform the prescribed

prayers and be able to read the Qur’an. This
minimum of education was imparted in the informal
school known as the maktab, which was accommodated
in a mesque or a private house. As it was consi-
dered meritorious both to impart and to receive
this minimum of education, the number of maktab
was large and they were generally self-supporting."

(M. Mujeeb, The Indian Muslims, London, 1966, p. 404.)
GIlani, SawEni% Qasimi, vol. II, pp. 319, 320; also,
Ziya-ul- an aruq [ OE. eito, p. 22, fono 20

Mubammad Payyib, Az8di’-i Hind k& kha&mdsh rahnuma:
Darul-‘ulum Deoband, Deoband, s PPe 4, 5.

About Dars-i Nizamiyah, see, G. M. D. Sufi, Al-Minhdjs:
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cational Institutions of India, Lahore, 1941, DD. T1-75;
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A full description of the Deoband's curriculum with
the titles of every book taught there will be found
in Paruqi, op. cit., pp. 33ff.; also see, Sufi,

op. cit., pp. 127-132. In addition to the titles

of every book Sufi also gives the number of . : pages
of every book required for study.

Faruqi, op. cit., p. 35; Sufi, op. cit., pp. 133-134.

6n this point Mandgir Ahsan GIlani says that Mawlanad
Qasim was not only in favour of English language and
modern sciences but also he wanted that the Deoband
graduates should get enroled in the colleges for
modern education. (See GI1anI, op. e¢it., vol. II,

pp. 275£f.) However, excluding a few exceptional
cases, this wish of Mawl@nd Q@sim was not materialized.

See, for example, Mahmud Husain, A History of Freedom
Movement, Karachi, 1961, article, “5e05an* and Nadwa',
v01. TI’ pal"t II, ppo 415"4’24.

See below, ch. .V, pp. 107-109.

Shamsul-‘ulamé (Sun of the ‘ulamd) was an honorific

e glven by the British government of India to
those ‘ulamd who were well-known in the field of
religious sciences provided their political ideas
were not objectionable to the government.

Full address is found in the Al-gasim, the offieial
monthly jouynal of the Darul-°ulum Deoband, vol. IX,
No. I, Sha‘bsn, 1336/1917, pp. 5-8.

Chapter Two:

Prom No Nation To One Nations

1.

See, for example, the account of the religious
discussion between Mawlanad Qasim and Pandit Dayanand
Sarswati; and also, between the Mawl@ng and Rev., Tard
Chand; and also, the account of Meld Khud& shinasi;
in Mansdgzir Apsan GIlani, Sawénih Qasimi, Deoband,

Ram Gopal, Indian Muslimss A Political History, Bombay,
1959, p. 32,

The following lines are taken from a speech of Sayyid
Abmad delivered at a public meeting, eriticizing the
resolution of the Congress about representation in
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the Council by election and the holding of the
civil service examinations in India. It shows
the mentality of the ashraf (the so called high
class peopleg of that times

"Just think of what happens as a result of
competitive examinations in England. You
know that there everybody, high or low,
whether he is the son of a duke, an earl,

a gentleman or a tailor's son has an equal
right to appear for the examination. Euro-
pean officers who take their examination
in England and come over here are so remote
from us that we have no idea whether they
are sons of lords or dukes or of tailors
and if we are governed by person of low
birth we do not know it. But that is not
the case in India. In India, the people

of higher social classes would not like a
man of low birth, whose origin is known to
them, to have authority over their life
and property."

(See S. Abid Husain, The Destiny of Indian Muslims,
Londoy, 1965, pp. 36-37.)

"Appendix to the Report of the Education Commission,
lﬁor%ﬁ-Wes% Provinces Provincial Commlitee, 1884).
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"Linguistic Differences", pp. 30-43
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19579 Pe. 140.

Hafeez Malik, Moslem Nationalism in India and Pakistan,
Washington, D. C., 1963, p. 209, lifaiics are ours).

Sayyid Igbal ‘A1, Sayyid d Khan k& safarn@meh-’i-
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igarh' 1884, Po 8.

ibid., p. 3O

ibidl’ p. 11.

Reply from Sayyid Ahmad to the address (in English)
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Abmad's reply was in Urdu. It was translated into
English by one Sayyid Muhammad ‘A17, and was published
in the Tribune, Lahore, on the 9th February, 1884,

It has been reproduced in the Safarn@msh (mentioned
above), p. 159; Urdu version on p. 168.

Séfarnﬁmah, P. 9.

ibid., p. 140.

ibid., p. 167; English translation, p. 161.
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1943, VOlo I’ pp. 261-2700

Hall, Ma alat, vol. II, p. 8.
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H&li, DIvan, p. 48:

HElI's letter to ‘Abdul-HalIm Sharar, editior of
Itti?‘d, and Dilgudagz, Lucknow. The letter was sent
) e editor he month of June, 1904; reproduced

in Mak@tIb-1 %1 ("The letters of Hali"), ed., Mubam-
mad Isma pati, Lahore, 1950, p. 54.

Seez for example, Mu‘In Apsan Ja¥bi, HE1I k& siydsi
Shu 1-11., Aligarh’ 1959, po 1610

Chapter Three:
My People Are My Nations

1.

2,

4.
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Farquhar remarks about Raja Ram Mohen Roy (1772-1833),
the founder of the Brahmo Sam&dj: "It is thus only the
simple truth to say that Ram Mohan was no longer a
Hindu, that the orthodox were quite right in their
suspicions, although they failed to lay stress on

the crucial point." J. N. Farquhar, Modern Religious
Movements in India, New York, 1915, p. 38.

As quoted by Farquhar, op. cit., p. 61.

ibid., p. 58.

See, for example, ibid., ch. II, on Brahmo Samdj,
PP- 29‘740

As quoted by Farquhar, op. cit., pp. 111, 112.
ivid., pp. 110, 111.

The E%anodﬂs, an English weekly organ of the following
seven stlan organizations in the Marahti-speaking
area of Indias American Marahti, Ameriean Presbyterian,
Australian Church of Christ, Church of Scotland, Church
of the Brethren, Methodist Church in Southernd Asia, and
(British) Methodist Missionary Society, published from
Poona (India;, comments on this book in its issue No.
49, (vol. 103), dated December 7, 1944, as followss

SATYARTH PRAKASH: THE ARYA SAMAJIST BIBLE
A New Danger to India's Peace

The banning, by the Sind Government, of the Hindu
publication called Sagarth Prakash unless chapter
14 (which attacks Mohammad and lslam) is eliminated,
illumines as by a flash of lightning the religious
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causes of India's political unrest. ... There
can be no doubt that the religious bitterness
engendered all over India by the controversy

.about this nearly 70-year-old du book is one

of the serious factors underlying the disastrous
feud between Hindus and Muslims in the Indian
political sphere; 333 It is a tragedy that
Dayanand d4id not limit his book to the religion
and philosophy of his own Hindu people. ... [The
chapter on Idlam] is rank with bitter poison from
begining to end, and its referencesto Mohammad
are calculated to infuriate all devout Muslims."

The same paper informs us in its subsequent issues

This book areund which the Indian battle rages

all over the land is described by certain Hindus
as "a sacred book of liberal Hinduism and Hindu
culture." ... (1) An important committee was
appointed last December (1943) by the Muslim
League ... demanding that the Indian Central
Government should have the last three chapters
expungeds chapter 12 on '@ : Buddhism and Jainism,
chapter 13 on Christianity and chapter 14 on Islam.
eee (2) The violence of the Hindu resentment
against this Muslim resolution was shown at a
Hindu Mahasabha meeting when Mr. Chend Karan Sharda,
Rajasthan, alluding to the Muslim. threat to make
every sacrifice for the proscription of the book,
declared that if the Muslim adopted the attitude
of Aurangzeb, the Hindu would have to play the
role of Shivaji; they would offer sa aha and
fight with all thejr might. ... (5) ﬁ%at regretable
of all is the factvsimce our abiticle of last week
was written, Gandhiji is reported to have advized
individual satyagraha against the banning of

this book. ...

8. In his "Introduction" to the History of the Congress,
Rajendra Prasad, says:

The author's kmowledge and experience of the men

and affairs of the Congress is wide. ... He is

not a detached historian writing after the events

and basing his conclusions on cold recorded facts.

ees He is writing net only with knowledge but also
with faith. His conclusions and opinions are
therefore his own, and need not be treated as in
every case representing the official view of the
Working Committee of the Indian National Congress. ...

(Sitaramayya, The History of Congress, Madras,
1935 9 Pe xxidi.
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9. B. Pattabhi Sitaramayya, The Histo of the Indian
National Congressg $188§-I§555, Eigas, 1935, p. 20.
10. ibvid., p. 10.

11. ibid., p. 20.

12. S. Abid Husain, The Destiny of Indian Muslims, London,
1965, pp. 29, 30. .

13. Al}af Husayn Hali, Hayat-i javed, Lahore; (new edition),
19579 Po 1940

14, Hafeez Malik, Moslem Nationalism in India and Pakistan,
Washington, D. C., 1963, P. 210, (italics are ours) .
Malik says that this statement was given in 1882 which
is not in accordance with the testimony given by Sayyid

Ahmad's biographer, Hali, (gee g&11, op. odt., p. 194).

15. See above ch. II, discussion on the concept of Qawm,
pP. 34-40.

16. Sitaramayya, op. cit., p. 8.

17. W. W, Hunter, The Indian Musalman, (first published in
1871, reprint from the third edition, 1876), Calcutta,
1945, p. 167. About this news, Hunter (op. cit.,

p. 167, £. 2) says: "I have not at presen% the means

of officially tracing and verifying this statement of

the Persian journalist but it attracted some notice

at the time, and was not, so far as I heard, contradicted."

18, Bashir Ahmad Dar, Religious Thought of Sayyid Ahmad
Khan, Lahore, 1957, P. ¥1.

19. Syed Mahmud [Seyyid Mapmid], Hindu Muslim Cultural
Accord, Bombay, 1949, p. 66.

20. As quoted in Dar, op. cit., p. 76.

22. Sayyid Apmad Khan, Zkhiry ma&ég%g, (first published,
1898), second edition, Lahore, 1924, p. T7O.

23. S. Abid Husain, op. cit., p. 35.
24. Sitaramayya, op. cit., p. 101. (Italics are ours.)
25. FAlI, Magdldt, vol. I, p. 216. - |

26, Sayyid Apmad Khan, XkhirT magdmin, p. 68; also Magaldt-i
Sir S d, ed. Mﬁhammad Iamg'fi ﬁanipati (10 vois.),
Iahore, %§62, vol. IX, pp. 17, 18.
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217.

28.

29.
30.
31.
32.

33.
34.
35.
36.
37.

38,

W, C. Smith, Modern Islam in Indias: A Social Analysis,
(reprint from London [1946) edition), Lahore, 195%, p. 21.

Sayyid Apmad's letter to the Editor of the Piggeer,

- Lucknow; afterwards published in the Aligar tute
Gazette, November 27, 1888, p. 1362; Treproduced, Makatib-i

‘8ir ngz;d égg%d Khan, ed. Mushtaq Husayn, AigeTh,
1960, pp. 73,

§81T, HayAt-i javed, p. 403.
ibid., p. 404.
§alY, Magalat, vol. I, pp. 283, 284.

Hﬁlé% Divén, first published, (?), reprint, Delhi, 1945,
P. 27.

See above, ch. II, p. 46, (ref. 29).

Hi11, Shikvah-’i Hind, Aligarh, 1895, p. 3.

ivid., p. 6.

See above, ch. III, p. 53, (ref. 13).

HElI, Kulliyé&t-o-nagm-i HzlT, vol. II, P, _111, quoted
by Mu‘ an da ’ g siyasi shu‘iir, Aligarh,
1959, p. 161.

S. Abid Hu.sain, Op. Cito, PPe 31, 32.

Chapter Four:

THE TRUTH ABOUT AZZD:

1.
2.

3.

W. C. Smith, Modern Islam In India, Lahore, 1963, p. 277.

Muhammad ¢AlY Jawhar, Hamdard, (June 10, 1927), reprinted
in MazamIin-i yggg%ggd AT, !2 vols.), ed. Muhammad
sal‘var, neﬁ ] 9 [ ] 'VO L J I, pp. 291’ 292‘

Mirza FazluddIn Ahmad in his Preface to Abul Kalam Xzad,

TaZkirahsya‘ni Mawlana Abul Kalam awr unké khaénddn ke
a I awr s ke 8aV: va at ..., reprint
grom %Ee ?Ers;;§;§g-e§¥;£on, ;Egore, n.%., P 13,

ascribes this sentence to Mawlana Mahmidul Hasan on the
authority of Mawlana Xzad.
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4.

5.

6.
Te

8.

9.

10.

Kz8d, TaBkirah, p. 297. (English translation, M. Mujeeb,
"The Tadhkirah: A Biography in Symbol", in Humayun
Kabir (ed.), Maulasna Abul Kalam Azads A Memorial Volume,
London, 1959, pp. 1356, 137.)

A1l the sources about Azad agree that his mother was
from the family of a "famous Arab ‘@lim, Shaykh Mubhammad
gahir Vatri." But they differ as to whether she was
his daughter or his niece. ZAzad himself has given

two different statements. In 1919 he wrote in his
Pagkirah (p. 23), that his mother was the niece of
Shaykh Mupammad Z&hir VatrI, the MuftI of Medina. In
1957, when Rzad dictated his biography to one of his
colleagues, Humayun Kabir, he said: "My father ...
married Sheikh Mohammad Zaher Watri's daughter." (c.f.
Xzad, India Wins Freedom: An Autobiographical Narrative;
Bombay, 1951, p. 1.) The same discrepancies are found
in those books which are written on Ezad by others.
For example, his first biographer in English, Mahadev
Desai says in Maulana Abul Kalam Azads A Biographical
Memoir, (Agra, 2nd ed., 1946, p. 10)s "she was the

a er of Shaykh Watri." Another Urdu biographer,

¢ Abdur-Razziq MalIhdbadl says in his Zzad kI kahani
khud Zz8d kI zubani (The story of Azad in his own words),
Delhi, 1958, p. 71, that she was the niece of Shaykh
Vatri. However, one thing which all of them seem to
agree on is that she belonged to the Vatri family.

Smith, op. cit., p. 218.

The biographical data have been taker mostly. from Xzad,
India Wins Freedom, ch. I.

M. Mujeeb, "The Tadhkirah: A Biography in Symbol" in
Humayun Kabir (ed.), Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, p. 135.

Mahadev Desai, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, Agra, 2nd Indian
edition, 1946, p. 3.

Rajplit opens his book with the following sentencess

Caesar was 5 man.of themoment and Paul a man of the
future, for Caesar was the symbol of his age and
Paul was the embodiment of those prophetic qualit-
ies which create a future age. But Abul Kalam
Azad haply combines in him the qualities of both
Caesar and Paul, for his actions and achievements,
though symbolical of the present age, require

yet another age to be fully understood and
recognized.”

A. B. Rajput, Maulan Abul Kalam Azad, Lahore, 1946,
(Introduction), p. ix.
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13.
14.
15.
16.

17.

18.
19.
20.
2l..
22.

23.

24,
25.
26.
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'11. See, for example, Abid Sa‘Id Bazmi, Mawlénd Abul Kaldm

Az8d (tangId-o-tabgarah kI nigsh mén), Lahore, N.d.;
ar, Adar-i Abul Kalem Xz&ds

Egznafaixﬁti mujﬁli‘;h, Delhi, . ©d., .
MalIhsbadl, Xz&d kI kashani..., p. 22.

Azad, India Wins Preedom, p. vii.

ibid., p. vii.

ivid., p. viii.

MalIpabadl, Azad ki kahani..., p. 22; Mirza Fagluddin

Ahmad also complaine about this habit of Az&d, see
TaB¥kirah, p. 17.

Azad, Ta¥kirah, ff 304ff., (English translation, Mujeeb,

op. cit., pp. 142, 144, 145.)
MalIphsb&dl, op. cit., Dp. 21.
India Wins Freedom, p. 1.

Malipabadl, op. cit., p. 45.
ibid., p. 45.

Sayyid Apmad Kn&n, "TaZkirah ahl-i DihlI" (a chapter
of his book, ABarugganddid, first published in 1846),
ed. by Qazl Aﬁm'%zh_xﬂwar Juinsgarhi, Karachi,
1955’ Po 84.

See, for example, Sayyid d Khén, op. cit., pp. 85,
86; Rahmén ‘All, TaZkirah ‘Ulamd’-i Hind (In Persian,
first published in 1894), Urdu transiation by Mubpammed
Ayytib Qadiri, Karachi, 1961, p. 376.

In defence of MalihabadI one may say that what he meant

was that Mawlénd Fagl-i Haqq the son: of Mawlaénad Fagl-i
Imam was the pupil.ofl HE.':ngana' Munavvaruddin. But tﬁIs
also seems Lo be incorrect. Mawlana Fagl-l1 Hawy was

born in 1797, and according to the taBkirah writers
he had completed his education at the age of thirteen
(in 1810), under the guidance of his father and of
Mawl@ng ‘Abdul-Qadir, the son of Shah ValIulldéh. See,
for example, Rapman °AlI, op. ecit., p. 382.

Rapman ‘A1, op. cit., p. 380.
ibide; po 5880
MalThabadT, Asd8d kI kahanT..., pe 67.

a
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27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.

34.
35.
36.
37.

38.
39.

40.
41.

Rapmén ‘A1, op. cit., p. 297.

Mal¥havadl, Azad ki.kahani;.., Pp. 62, 63.
Zzad,ulndia Wins Freedom, p. 1.
MalIpabadl, op. cit., p. Tl.

ibid., p. 80.

Rz&d, op. cit., p. 1.

Supplement Catalogue of Arabic Printed Books in the
BriEIsE Museum, Oxford, 1926, D. 272. (1taliss are ours.)
According to MalTh@badI, the book was written "on the
advice of the Shaykhul-Islém of Turkey," (most probably
for thk people of Turkey whose language had never been
Hindustani).  But according to the above-mentioned -

Catalogge, the book contains the "series of extracts
rom Arabic works with Hindustani paraphrases." Why?

See above, p. 8l.
Xzad, TaZkirah, p. 24.
Desal, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, pe. 13.

Due to inaccessibllity of the materials, the present
writer cannot quote the exact date but he clearly
recalls three Urdu journals of Pakistan, Faran, Karachi,
A1-I‘tig8m, Gujranvald, and Chatdn, Lahore, that they
were Ee§a¥ing the question o gd's early education
and of his famlly sometimes between 1952-~1954.

Xzdd, India Wins Preedom, p. 6.

Jawahar Lal Nehru, "The Passing of a Great Man", in
Humayun Kabir (ed.), Maulana Abul Kalam Azad..., DP. 3.

X2z3d, India Wins Freedom, p. 2.

ivid., p. 3.

HumByun Kabir, (a well known writer in Bengali and
English, who had helped Xz&d by actingshis Secretary
during the Simla Conference, in 1945, convened by Lord
Wavell to discuss the problem of Indo-British relations),
says: "While he [Xz&d] aquired enough competence to

read [English] books on any subject, he never felt at
home in the English language. He had no pretensions in
the matter and . frankly told Mr. Attlee during his visit
to London that this was the reason he spoke to him through
en interpreéter." Kabir, "A Personal Testament", in his
ed. book, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, p. 77.
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42.
43.
44.

45.

46.

47,

49.
50.

Az8d, India Wins Freedom, p. 3.
ibid., p. 3.

ibid., p. 4.

According to MalIhabadl, Zzad kI kahani, p. 239, the
yen-nam‘e, "Xzad", was suggested to Abul Kalém by one
Abdul-Vahid Kh@n when Abdl Kalam had composed his
first ghazal (love poem) at the age of ten or el2ven.
MalIhgéa"ﬁ also has given a few stanzas of Xz&d (ibid.,
PP. 240, 246). However Az&d had never been known

as a poet,

Ma1Ipabadl, Zikr-i Xz&d, Calcutta, 1960, p. 260, and
Xzad kI kah@nl..., D. 426.

One mmst feel disappointed for not having access to
those events which reclaimed Xzad. The detalls of
these events were to be made public in the first volume
of his biography, India Wins Freedom, but he died
belore writing it. :

Quoted by Humayun Kabir, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad,p. 69.
India Wins Freedom, pe. 5.

It was in 1908. (Touis Massignon remembers his first
meeting with Xzdad in Baghdad, in 1907-1908. See
Massignon, "My Meetings with Maulana Azad", in Kabir,
Maulana Abul Kalam Agad, p. 27.)

Xzad, India Wins Freedom, pP. 7.

The first issue was published on July 13, 1912.

The date, (June 1, 1912), given by Hafeez Malik, in his
Moslem Nationalism in India and Pakistan, (p. 269),

8, however, correct.

Chapter Pive:

1.
2.

3

THE RELIGION OF ZZED

Al;-Hi;?a'.l, vol. I, No. 9, September 8, 1912, pp. 4-8.

ivid., vol. I, No. 11, September 22, 1912, p. 12; also
vol. I, No. 15, October 23’ 1912, Pe 4.

Hafeex Malik, Moslem Nationalism in India and Pakistan,
Washington, D. C., s DPDe N .
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4.

5.

6.

Te
8.
9.

10.

1l.

12.

- 13.

14.
15.
16.
17.
18.

Xzad, "Presidential Address, Bengal Khilafat Cinference",
in Khujab&t-i Xz&d, Delhi, 1959, p. 93.

As quoted by Mohammad Habib, "The Revolutionary Maulana®
in Kabir, Maulana Abul Kalam Agzad, pp. 82, 83. (Also

see, Xzad, Tarjumsn Al-Qur’an, reprint, Lahore, n.d.,
pp. 212-215. .

Xz8d, The Tarjumén al-Qur’dn, edited and rendered into
English by Dr. Syed Abdul.lLatif, (vol. I, Strat-ul-
Patihd), London, Asis Publishing House, 1962, p. 182.
ibid., pp. 182, 183.

Mohammad Habib, op. cit., pp. 84, 85.

Kzad, The Tarjumin sl-Qur’an (tr.‘Abdul Latif), pp. 193,194
Tarjuman al-Qur’ an lﬁrgu;, pPp. 223, 224.

Nagsh-i Xz&8d (Zz8d's letters to Ghulam Rasil Mihr), ed.

and pb. by Mihr, 2nd ed., Lahore, 1959, letter No. 24,
dated 15th January, 1936, pp. 47-51.

Unfortunately we do not have Kzdd's tafsIr of those

parts of the Qur’&n which he considered the ‘proper

place’ for the discussion about belief in the prophets.

The tafsir which he left behind is incomplete, and

covers only first twenty-three chapters of the Qur’an.

lz§d6 Tarjuman..., English tr., p. 174, Urdu, vol. I,
p. 205.

ivid., English, p. 173, Urdu, p. 204.

%234, BaqIydt-i Tarjumdn al-Qur’Zn, ed. by Ghuldm Rasdl
Mine, B etnce)., 1. 46,
A1-Hil3l, vol. I, No. 3, July 27, 1912, p. 12.

ibid., vol. I, No. 9, September 8, 1912, p. 4.

ibid., ppr. 7, 8.
Hafeez Malik, op. ecit., p. 270.

Xz@d, "Presidential Address" at the 53rd Session of

the Indian National Congress, at Ramgarh, 1940, in

TahrIk-i 3gadl (the collection of Agad's speeches),
achl, 3 S' PP. 161-163; also, Muslims and the
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19.

20.

2l.

22.
23.

24.
25.

26.

27.
28,

Al-Hilal, 'VOl. ‘I’ NO. 8’ september 1’ 1912, Ppo 2, 30
Xz&d, Khu%bah-’ti gaddrat ijl@s-i khugﬁgi (Presidential
Address at the-spec session o 923, dian Natiomal
Congress), Lahore, 1923, p. 33.

Xz8d, TabrIk-i &z841 (see above ref. 18), p. 167; also
Muslims an e Congress (see above ref. 18), pp. 268ff.

A1-Hi131, vol. I, No. 8, September 1, 1912, pp. 7-8,

See the leading article (sheBar@t) of Al-Hilzl, vol. I,
No. 14, October 16, 1912, p.

A1-Hi1E1, vol. I, No. 4, August 4, 1912, p. 4.

The Sedition Committee Reﬁort; 1918 [kmown also as
owla ommittee Reporty, cutta, 1918, p. 179.
Read, for example, his article, Musalménon ki &’indah
gshihrah-i mag%%d ki¥§ honi chﬁhixe? I"WEE% should be

o)
e e pathway for the Muslims?"), in Al-Hilal,
vol. I, No. 13, October 9’ 1912’ PPe. 5“8; ﬁo. Iz,
ppo 5-7; NO. 15’ PP. 5-7; NO. 16, ppo 5"8.

Al-Hilal, vol. I, No. 14, October 16, 1912, p. 2.

ibvid., vol. I, No. 13, October 9, 1912, p. 3.

Chapter Sixs

THE PARTY OF GOD:

1.
2.
3

4.

5.
6.

To.

A1-H{181, vol. I, No. 23, December 18, 1912, p. 1l.
ibid., vols II,.No. 16, April 23, 1913, p. 257.

Published separately with Al-Hildl, vol.II, No. 17,
April 30, 191i3. =

The number of the sirah given on the form is 23126,
which, however, seems to be a printing mistake.

Q.Hilal, .v010 II, NO. 20, May 21, 1913, po 3350
ivid., vol. II, No. 22, June 4, 1913, p. 374.

A1-Hi181, vol. II, No. 24, June 20, 1913, p. 5; also
~vol. III, No. 1, July 2, 1913, pp. 4-8.
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8.

9.
10.
1l1.

12.

13.
14.
15.

16.

17.
18.

19.
20.
2l.
22.

Al-Hildl, vol. III, No. 23, December 3, 1913, pp. 417-

MalIpabaal, Zikr-i Zs@d, Calcutta, 1960, p. 25.
ibid., p. 24.

Nagsh-i Zg&d, ed. by Ghuldm Rasfil Mihr, Lahore, 2nd ed.,
19§§, Pp. 343-345. (According to Mihr the letter was
sent in 1921.. See ibido, Pe 345, n. 1.) .

Ghuldm Ras@l Mihr has collected and published several
Xz8d's letters written to different persons in
Pabarrukat-i Azd8d (Lahore, 1959). The book contains
only Az s answers to letters sent to him, The text
of Qugliri's letter is not available. The present
writer, on the basis of Xzad's reply to Quguri, has
tried to determine the points which evidently. were
rgised in Quglirl's letter. The letter is found in
Tabarrukat-i Xzdd, pp. 42-49. '

ibid., pp. 42-49.

See above, ch. v, pp. 107-109. . '

See, for example, Mu‘ Emaldtul-Muslinin £fI mujadaeldt-i
h al-Muslin¥n (In Urdu): a collection of questions
a.nﬁ %EeIr answers by Mawlana Ashraf ‘AlI Thanavi,

appeared in his journal Al-Nur, Thand Bhavax, vol. X,
No. 11, 1349/1930, reprinted in If@d8t-i Ashrafiyah

dar mas@’il-i siyasiyah by Ashr ~Thenavi, COmD.
rmmf—%'y , 2nd ed., Deoband, 1365/1945, pp.

21"34 L

g;'a'.dé Tai‘;]um‘a‘n.al-gu_r"a'n, Lahore, 1936, vol. II, pp.
, [ ]

284, "Presidential Address", Bengal Khilafat Confrence,
1920, repzé‘oduced in Khujpabat-i Ez&d, Delhi, 1959,
Pp; ~99-10 - . - . .

According to Sayyid Asghar fusayn, at-1i Shaykhul-
Hind, Deoband, 1339/1920, p. 109, H"“M&ﬁm—w ana

Yasan stayed in Lucknow only for these 12 days.

MalIhabadl, Zikr-i RzBd, p. 36.
ibid., Pe 37
ibid., p. 38.

A. Eé Rajput, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, Lahore, 1946,
Pe . : . . ‘
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23.

24.
25.
26.

27.
28,

29.

30.

‘Abdu%lah Ba}, (ed.), Abul Kalam Azdd, Lahore, 1943,
Pe. 216.

Mubammad MEyEn, Jam’Tyatul-‘ulama’ kiyd hay? ya‘ni

Jam‘Iyat-i ‘ulama’ -1 ﬁinﬁ kI chhabbls s;;§§ lajavig,
e [} 9 '] ‘VO e’ 9 P' 450

ivid., p. 47.

ibvid., p. 215.

MalTphabadl, Zikr-i Xzdd, pp. 55, 79.

The actual fatvd (in Urdu) has been reproduced in
Pabarrukat-1 Azad (pp. 203-206), ed. Ghul@m Rasil Mihr,

from the weekly Ahl-i HadiB, Amritsar; (July 30, 1920).

An English translation of the fatve is found in Hafeez
Malik, Moslem Nationalism..., Appendix B, pp. 343-344.

The following quotation from Nehru exp2ains why the
present writer has preferred the use of Gandhijis

I have referred to Mr. Gandhi or Mahatma Gandhi
as "Gandhi ji" throughout these pages as he him-
self prefers this to the addition of "Mahatma"
to his name. But I have seen some extraordinary
explanations of this "ji" in books and articles
by English writers. Some have imagined that it
is a term of endearment-Gandhiji meaning “dear
little Gandhi%®! This is perfectly absurd and
shows clossal ignorance of Indian life. "“Ji®

is one of the commonest additions to a name in
India, being spplied indiscriminatingly to all
kinds of people and to men, women, boys, girls,
and children. It conveys an idea of respect,
something equivalent to Mr., Mrs., or Miss,
Hindusteni is rich in courtly phrases and prefixes
and suffixes $o0 names and honorific titles.

"Ji®" is the simplest of these and the least formal
of them, though perfectly correct. I learn
from my brother-in-law, Ranjit S. Pandit, that
this "ji" has a long and honorable ancestry.

It is derived from the Sanskrit a, meaning

a gentleman or noble~born (not the Nazi meening
of Aryan!). This Agx% became in Prakit ajja,
and this led to the simple "Jji."

Jawaharlal Nehru, Toward FreedomsThe Autobiofgapgx of
Jawgharlal Nehru, Beacon ess oston), rd printing,
s Do s Do 2.

When G&ndhIji presented his programme of non-sooperation
before the leaders of the Khilafat movement, in Delhi,
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31.
32.
33.
34.

35.

36.

according to Xz&d: "Others reacted according to their
own backgrounds. Hakim Ajmal Khan said that he wanted
some time to consider the programme. He would not
like to advise others till he was willing to accept
the programme himself. Msulvi Abdul Bari said that
Gandhiji's suggestions raised fundamental issues and
he could not give a reply till he had meditated and
sought divine guidance, Mohammad Ali and Sahukat Ali
said they would wait ti11 Maulvi Abdul Bari's decision
was kmown. Gandhiji then turned to me. I said without
a moment's hesitation that I fully accepted the
programme." (Xzdd, India Wins Preedom, P. 9.)

Al-Hildl, vol. I, No. 25, December 18, 1912, p. 1ll.
Xz&d, Khupabat-i Kezad, Delhi, 1959, p. 32.
Paruqi, The Deoband School..., Bombay, 1963, p. 52, n.

Reproduced in Tabarrukdt-i Zg&@d, ed. Ghulam Rasll Mihr,
Pp. 214-260.

Mshadev Desai, "Shakhglyats €k mujpali‘ah', in ‘Abdull@h
Ba}, (ed.), Abul Kalam Xzad, pp. 145, 146.

See above, ch. VI, p. 125.

Chapter_ Seven:

INDIA: MY MOTHERLAND

1.

2.
3.

5.
6.
T.

Based on s.ccounts provided by B. R. Ambedkar, Pakistan
or The Partition of India, Bombay, 3rd ed., 1946,

ch. xii, "National Frustration", pp. 263-283.

See below, ch. viii, pp. 1 ff.

Muhammad Iqbal, "Presidential Address at the Annual

Session of the All-India Muslim League, held at
Allahabad, in 1930", published as an Appendix IV, of

the book, Sgﬁgggle for Independence, 1857-1947,
Karachi, 1958, p. o

Iqbal, Bapg-i dard, 13th ed., Lahore, 1949, p. 82.
ivid., p. 87.

ivid., from the poem, Nayd shivild (New temple), p. 88.

For the English translation of Shikvah awr 2aw§b-i
shikvah, see, Complaint and Answer, tr. by A. J. Arberry,
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Lahore, n.d., and Complaint and Answer, tr. by Altaf
' Husain, Lahore, 3rd. ed., 1954.

8.
9.

10.

11.
12,
13.

14.
15.
1e6.
17.
18.
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IQb-a.l, Bang-i da.l‘a, Pe 223.

c.f, S. Abid Husain, The Destiny of Indian Muslims,
London, 1965, pp. 59-60.

Stray Reflections: A Note-Book of Allama Iqbal, sd. and
pb. by his son Javid lqbal, Lahore, 1961, pp. 26, 27.

ibid., p. 100.

S. Abid Husain, op. ecit., pp. 56, 66.

Igbal (Sir Mohammad Igbal), Six Lectures on the
Reconstruction of Religious Tho n 1ls s Lahore,
sy Do .

Igqbal, Bapg-i dard, p. 157.

ivid., p. 172.

See above, ch. ii, discussion on the word "gawm."
ibid.

This did not occur even to Xzad who was very fastidious
in choosing an Urdu word to convey the precise sense of
a foreign word. For example, in 1913, Ezad devoted
pages and pages of his journal, Al-Hilal, to a discussion
of whether the most appropriate words for "pain and
pleasure" were hagg-o-karb or laBPat-o-alm. In the
8~10, and June 25, pp. 9-11) an article on the nature
of "pain and pleasure" with the Urdu title,dggggzg;
karb, was published by ‘Abdul-Majid Daryébadl. At the
end of the article (June 25, p. 11) Xz&d made a remark
that the hagg-o-karb were not the most appropriate
terms for pein and pleasure. In his opinion the most
sultable words were latZat-o-alm. This remark led to

a healthy discussion on the problem of translat
foreign words into Urdu, in which apart from ‘Abdul-
Majid (July 16, 1913, pp. 19-20; August 20, pp. 13-14;
October 22, p. 17) and Kzad (August 6, p. 2; September 3,
pp. T-8; September 17, pp. 13-15; October 1, pp. 18-203
October 22, pp. 17-195 people like Akbar Ilahabadl
(August 20, p. 14), Sayyid Sulayman Nadvi (August 22,
PP. 11-13) and others (August 20, p. 15; October 15,
PP. 9-10) also participated. -

But the same Xzad did not pay any attention to removing
the ambiguity in the meaning of the word gawm. For
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22.
23.
24,

25.

26.

27.
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29.

30.
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example, referring to the Muslims, XKzad used the word
gawm in the sense of a religious community. ("It is
wrong to say that the entire gawm is poor. ... The
qawm which can spend hundred of rupees in [ueelessa
ceremonies can certainly afford to buy good books.)
Al-Hilgl, vol. I, No. 5, p. 2; also, see, ibid., No. 8,
PP. 1-8; also see his article, Wahrik-i @z&dl awr
Musalman" in Eg@d, Tabrik-i &z8di, ed. and pb. by Anvar
¢Xrif, Karachi, 1958.

Az8d also used the same word gawm and gawmi to mean
nation and national. See, for example, his Preskdentisl
Address, Indian Mational Congress, 1923.
Surveying the present tiends ‘of thought among the
Indian Muslims of India today, S. Abid Husain (op. cit.,
p. 151) says:

In short, the trends of thought among the various

groups of Indian Muslims today, are the same as

those before partition and they want to proceed
almost on the same lines. ...

Husayn Abhmad MadanI, Nagariyah-’i gawmiyat awr Mawl&éna
gusg% é.hingd gmb va EAlia.lmah' Ig’S%I, compiled by Jalut,
era Ghag an, N.d., Pe 20.

See above, ch. ii, pp. 36, 37.

Igbal, Armughan-i Hij&s, Lahore, 1938, p. 278.

MadenT, Nagariysh-’i gawniyat..., pp. 20-26.

Igbal, "Jughrafiya’I puddd awr Musalman" (The geographic-
al territory and the Muslims), in Magamin-i Igbil,
com{ééed by Tagadduq Husayn Te]j, Haydara ey 1943,

Pe. L] ’

Pusayn Ahmad Madani, Muttahadah gawmiyat awr Islam,
Delhi, 2nd ed., n.d., PP. E5-23, %0, quoting the Qur’an,
11:78; 40:29, 32, 39; 283763 38:39. .

ibid., pp. 11-18, quoting passages from Frdzabadi,
Qémis, ZubaydIl, T3] al-‘urus sharh-i Qamis,

Iqbal, B- —ida.‘l.‘a, po 138.

ibid., p. 279.

Xzad, Presidential Address, in Muslims and the Congress,
compiled by Rezapk Karim, Calcut®a, 1941, pp. 275-551.

About the Xz&d Muslim Conference, W. C. Smith (Mgm'
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32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.
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Islam in India, Lahore, 1963, pp. 260;-261), says:

In Maech 1940 there gathered at Delhi represent-
atives of the various Indian-nationalist Muslim
parties and groups--the Congress Muslims, Aprars,
Jam‘Iyat a) ‘Ulemd’, ShI‘ah Political Conference,
and 8o on; virtually all Muslim groups except the
Muslim League and the Khi@ksars. Allah Bakhsh,
premier of Sind, presided at this ‘ZXzad (i.e.,
"Free") Muslim Conference’. The delegates,
representing at that time.probably still the
majority of India's Muslims, came to protest
against the Pakisté@n idea, and against the use made
of the Muslims by the British govermment and others
as an excuse for political inaction.

Quoted in Asoka Mehta and Achgut Patwardhan, The
Communal Triangle in India, Allahabad, 1942, p. 49.

"eee The ‘Ulamd’ in general and the Darul-‘Uliim Deoband
in particular understood Islam primarily in a legal
form. Their medieval conception of the ‘Shari‘ah’
remained unchanged, orthodox and traditional in toto
and they accepted it as finished goods manufactured
centuries ago by men like Ab@ HaMifah and Abi Ydsuf."
(Ziya-ul-Hasan Faruqi, The Deoband School and the
Demand for Pakistan, Bombay, 1963, pp. 79-80.

Mupammad Miyan, Jam‘Iyattul-‘Ulams’ kiva hay? vol. I,
Delhi, [1946%], pﬁ?yiz_———up._ -46. .

Mupammad Miyan, ‘Ulamd’-i Hagq, vol. II, Delhi, 1948,
pPp. 137 ff. .

AjmerI, Shah Mu‘inuddin Ahmad, Khujbsh-’i gadarat,
(9th session of the Jam‘iIyat...), %elhi, 1950, p. 25.

MadanI, NagarIyah-’i gawmIyat..., pp. 41-43. |
Azg8d, "Khujbah-’i gaddrat", Majlis-i Khil&fat, Agra,

1921, in Khu;abgt-i Azad, Delhi, 1959, pp. 35-403 also

in MalIhabadl, Zikr-i Xzsd, pp. 136 f£f.

In 1930, a famous Indian gifI-‘alim, Mawla@na Ashraf

‘A1 Thénavi declared that the Muslims could not join
with the Hindus against the British (who were the people
of book), because the Muslims, being in the minority,
would be under the influence of the Hindus. Unless

the Muslims were in the majority it was unlawful
(nﬁaa’iz) to make any united front. (See his Mu‘@malah
~-Muslimin f£I muaadalah §h§¥¥ al-MuslimTn, in Urdu,
ed. and pb. by d R ong with other articles

of Mawléna Thanavi, entitled Ifadat-i Ashrafiyah dar
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42,

43.

44,

45.
46,

47.

48,

49.
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masd’il-i siyasIyah, Deoband, 2nd ed., 1945, p. 30;
see 2180, ﬁE%eez Malik, Moslem Nationalism..., pp. 271 f.
See above, p. 1l43. (ref. 29)

Madani, Muttahadah gawmIyat awr Isl@m, pp. 44-51.

Madani, Haméra Hindustsn awr uské fagé’il, Delhi,
1941, pp. 3-11. —

ivid., p. 24.

6.f. Jawaharlal Nehru, The Discovery of India, New York,
(Anchor Books), 1960, discussion on "Bharat Mata",

Pp. 28“30.

The English translation of the song, Bande Mataram,

by Sri Aurobindo Ghose. Reproduced from R. Eoupland,_
The Constitutional Problem in India, published in three
parts, reprint, Oxford, 1945, part 1I, Indian Politics,
1936-1942, Appendix II, pp. 322-323.

ibvid., part II, p. 102.

Report of the Inqui Commi ttee, Appointed by the
Council of the All-?%ﬁia Muslim Le e, to I% uire into
Wuslim Grievances in Gongress PEo?%%ces, (afterward
referred to as Pirpur Report), De s 1938, p. 20.

Rajendra Prasad, India Divided, Bombay, 3rd ed., 1947,
P. 148,

Pirpur Report, discussion on the song, Bandé Mataram,
Pp. 20=22.

In 1945, Mawl@énd Muhammad Shafi‘, who was the mufti

of the Darul-‘uliim of Deoband but had at that time
associated himself with the Muslim League, criticized
the nationalist ‘ulami@ for attending meetings of the
Congress in which they had ito salute the Congress-flag
and had to sing the ‘polytheistic’ songs. Mawlana
Muhammad MIy&n, the Secretary of the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘ulamd’-i
Hind, apologetically answered that even the members

of the Muslim League had to salute their flags. He

did not categorically say that the singing (of Bandé
Mataram) or the salutation & flag was not un-islamic.

He only said that the Congress did not make it obligatory
on its members that the Bandé Mataram be sung; neither
was attendance at such meetings compulsory. To prove
this he gave himself as en example, saying that he had
been member of the Congress for about sixteen years but
he was never forced to sing or to salute the flag. (See
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50.

51.
52.
53.
54.

55.

56.

See above, ch. vi, ref. 28. The fatvd proved to be
effective. F. S. Briggs, for exampie, in his article,
"The Indian Hijrat of 1920", Moslem World (Muslim World)
vol. xx, No. 2, 1930, pp. 164-168, sayss

"Phere was a considerable response to the preaching
of the hijrat. ... Notably from Sind and from the
North West Frontier Provinces, men and women

began to concentrate on Peshawar before setting
out for Kebul. ... Comparatively few town-dwellers
joined in the Hijrat, but the ranks of the
Muhajirin conteined whole families, and in some
cases whole villages went on Hijrat. ... .

The numbers have been variously estimated between
five hundred thousand and two million. The latter
estimate is certainly beyond the marks, but there

is little doubt that the numbers were considerably
over the lower estimate."

In this conection, see also, Sitaramayya, The Histo
of the Indian National Congress: (1885-1 s Do .
As quoted in MadanI, Ham#ra Hindustan..., p. 31.
ivid., p. 31.

Xz8d, India Wins Freedom, p. 22.

See above, ref. 46.
Two other reports of a similar nature were published

by the Muslim League: (i). Report of the Enquiry Committee
Appointed by the Worki Coﬁﬁf??ee of the Egﬁar Provinc—
iEE Muslim lLeague to E% uire into some Grievences Oi
Muslims in Eigar, known as the shareei Report, Patna,
1939, (11). Muslim Sufferings under Congress Rule,

by Pazl-ul-Huq (Fazlul Haqqi, Calcutta, §939. For-

the nature of these reports, see, Coupland, op. cit.,

To know the other side of the picture, see, Rajendra
Prasad, op. cit., pp. 1464152; also, Ambedkar, op. cit.,
pPP. 348-349.

Wilfred Cantwell Smith, Modern Islam in India, Lahore,
reprint, 1963, pp. 295-296.

Pirplir Report, p. 2.
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(T 57. c.f. KzGd's views on World's religions, above, ch. V,
- pr. 93-99.

Answering a Muslim correspondent, in his paper, Harijan,
(17-7-19%8), GandhIji said about the idea of respecting
every religion:

I regard it as fatal to the growth of a friendly
spitit among the children belonging to the
different faiths, if they are taught either that
their religion is superior to every other or that
it is the only true religion.

(Reproduced in M. K. Gandhi, Basic Education,
Ahmadabad, 4th print, 1962, p. .

; 58. From the "Report Sub Committee, Vardhd ta‘limi Scheme",
| appointed by the Jam‘Iyat-i ¢Ulamd’-i Hind, reproduced

in Muhammad Miyan, JamyI at ... kiyd hay?, vol. II,
pp. 13-15. (Italics are ours.)
59. ibido, ppo 15-160

Read the following statement of Dr. Zakir Husayn, the
author of the Vardha Scheme, found in the Repori of

the Committee of the Central Advisory Board of Education,
i appoiﬁted o consider tne Wardha Education Schene,

b ew De N vernnent of dia, 1959, p. 43

Misunderstandings also existed in regard to
co-education. The Wardha 8cheme does not make
co-education compulsory to any age. ... Indeed
it expresses no opinion whatever whether or not
co—education is desirable. The option given to
parents in the Whrdha Scheme to withdraw their
girls from school after the completion of the
twelfth year does not imply that boys and girls
should reckive co-education up to that age.

I P

e e e A £ e

Read also the followings:

... but to orthodox Moslems education without
direct religious teaching is no education at

v ally; and this feature of the scheme seemed one
- more proof that the ulterior purpose of it all

. was gradually to wean the Moslem child from his
faith. Once such suspicions were areused, it

was easy to detect, not so much in the exposition
of the scheme or in the syllabus as in the conduct
of the managers and teachers, the first intimat-
ions of something like a new religion of which
Mr. Gandhi was to be the prophet. That Moslem
gschoolchildren should be obliged to honour the

'\_/
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60.

Congress flag, to join ‘with folded hands’ in singing
Bande Mataram, to wear ‘Gandhi caps’ [see-above, p. 145]
and homespun clothes--all that was bad enough, but

its significance might seem primarily political.

Could the same be said of the children not merely
celebrating Mr. Gandhi's birthday but doing puja--

a ceremonial act of reverence or worship--before the
Mahatma's portrait? (Coupland, op. cit., part II, p. 191)

It is also interesting to note that the ‘ulami of
Deoband were against compulsory education for girls,
even before the introduction of the Vardha Scheme.
In 1933, the teachers and students of the Deoband
school passed

an indignant resolution pratesting againat the
decision of the United Provinces Legislative
Council that in the areas where education for
boys was compulsory, education for girls must
also be made compulsory. Compulsory education,
it was declared, was tantamount to destroying
the time-honoured moral traditions of Islam
among the Muslim girls. (As reported in the
Light, Lahore, August 24, 1933, quoted by Bevan
Jones, Woman in Islam, Lucknow, 1941, p. 58.

It should also be noted that at that time the U. P.
Legislative Council had proposed compulsory education
for girls, between the ages of six and eleven. (See

The Report of the Committee of the Central Adviso
Board of Education, Appendix 11, New Delhi, 1939, P. 15.

See Mupammad Miydn, Jam‘Iyat...kiyd hay? vol. II,
p. 197.

It should be made clear that the willingness of the
‘ulamda to allow Muslim women to have their marriages
annulled through the court was not the result of their
modernism. The underlying fact was that many of the
WMuslim women had found a way of having their marriages
dissolved by renouncing Islam. "This trick bewildered
the ‘ulamd." (Jam‘Iyat ... kiyd hay?, vol. I, p. 67.)
It took them six years (from 1926 to 1932) to contemp-
late and to correspond with the non-HanafI ‘ulamé of
Mecca and Medina before deciding to allow Muslim women
to go to a court to obtain the decree of divorce on
the ground of MalikI or Hapball fiqh, in such cases
where Hanafi fiqh could not help them. (ibid., p. 67.)

In the draft bill, which was prepared by a Muslim
member of the Indian Legislative Assehbly, Qagl Muhammad
Abmad KagImi, Muslim women were given nine grounds for

a decree of dissolution of their marriages. (See, Bevan
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6l.
62.
63.

64.

Jones, Women in Isl@m, p. 168.) These grounds were
mentioned in the draft bill under section 5A and 5B.
(See Jam‘Iyat ... kiyd h%x? vol. II, p. 196). According
to section © o e dar bill, the grounds mentioned
in section 5A were to be considered according to the
MalikI fiqh, and section 5B was to be treated according
to the HanafI figh. (ibid., p. 197). The Central
Advisory Board of the Jam‘Iyat met in the month of -
February, 1936, at Muradabad, to consider the draft
bill. (Zz8d's name is not found among those of the
‘ulamd who attended that meeting. See, ibid., P. 194).
The Board suggested that "for the time being section 6
should be dropped." (See, ibid., p. 195). But probably
this suggestion of the ‘ulamié to drop section 6 was

not accepted by those who sponsored the bill in the
Assembly. As Bevan Jones, op. it., p. 431, on the
authority of the Legislative Assemb Debates (193%8),

vol. V, No. 1, p. s quotes one o e sponsors
addressing the Assembly:

Granted that Muslim Common Law holds that
apostasy from Islam of either party to a marriage
operates as a complete and immediate dissolution
of the marriage tie--that up to the present

this has been the ruling of the courts in India--
and that even among Muslim ‘Ulamad there is a
difference of opinion on the susaect--nevertheless,
validity is claimed for the clause under discuss-
ion on the ground of ‘a very well established
principle of HafiafI law’--hitherto unknown to

the courts~-according te which ‘where the strict
application of Hanafl law to a case would cause
hardship, it is permissible to the Qazi, and
consequently to the courts in British India,

t0 act on the relevant principles of the Shafal
law, the Maliki law, or the Hambali law.’

Mubammad Miyay, Jam‘iyat sos Kkiya hay? vol. I, p. 68,
ibid., vol. II, p. 242. |

Kzad, Malfigat-i Xz@d: DInI (religious), vol. I,

ed. by Mupammad Ajmal Khan, Delhi, 1959, p. 122.

Mubammad Miyay, Jam‘Iyat ... kiya hay?, vol. II,
p. 15. _
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1.

2.

3.

4.,

90

10.

11.
12.
13.
14,
15.

16.
17.

Some Recent Sgeeches and Writings of Mr. Jinnah, ed. by
111 n 9 a.h.OI‘e, 19 9 VO].. II, pp. 1 0“]181-

As quoted by Rem Gopal, Indian Muslimses: A Political

 History, Bombay, 1959, p. 2

As quoted by Coupland, The Constitutional Problem in

From his Presidential Address of the Calcutta Session
of tge Hind% Mahssabh@, quoted by Ram Gopal, op. cit.,
p. 264.

Rajendra Prasad, Indie Divided, Bombay, 3rd ed., 1947,
p. 19, on the basls of the speeches of Mr. V. D. Savarkar
at the Ahmedabad Session of the Hindu Mahé@sabha, in 1937.

Xz8d4, India Wins Frdddom, p. 197.

¢f. Mubammad Miyan, Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamé k& Islami parcham,
Delhi, nodo, 13 ppo

Cf. Zzdd, "Bengal Khil&fat Kanfireéns: khupbah-’i gadarat",

in 1920, in Azad, Khutpabat-i Az&d, Delhi, 19594 pPp. 55-
106; also ‘Abdul-Majid Badayuni, Dars-i khilafat (first
published in 1920), 5th print, Meerut, n.d., 44 pp.

¢f. Mahmidul Hasan, Tark-i mavalat, Bijnore, 1919, 36 pp.,
also Muttafagah fatvd 'Ulama —e Hind (in connection with
the non-cooperation movement, signed by 118 nationalist
‘ulemd), Meerut, 1920, 36 pp.

Eg.g'..d_k’u Al"Hilal’ Vol. I, NOO 3’ July 27’ 1912, Po 6;
also ibid, No. 23, December 18, 1912, p. 1ll.

ivid., vol. I, No. 13, October 9, 1912, p. 6.
Al-Hildl, vol. I, No. 15, October 23, 1912, p. 7.
See above, ch. VI, pp. 116, 117, at ref. 10.
ibid., p. 132, at ref. 35.

Xz84, Tabarrukat-i Azdd, ed. Ghuld@m Rasil Mihr, Lahore,
1959, Po 3 ®

Al-Hilal, vol. V, No. 5, July 29, 1914‘, PE. 5"'80
Kzad, Tabarrukat-i Rzdd, pp. 133, 134.
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18.

19.

20.

2l1.

22.

23.

The reason for such a short-term training was,
according to Xzad: "We do.not have enough time to
No. 1, November 12, 1915, pp. 16-17.

For biographical information about Mawland Sayyid
Sulaymén Nadvi, see, Ghulam Mubammad, Ta¥kirah-'i
Sulayman, Karachi, Majlis-i ‘ilmI, 1960. .

Azad, Tabarrukat-i Kzdd, Letter to Sayyid Sulaymén
Nadvi, pp. 131-134.

It appears that Kzad was fully convinced of the need

of a new type of madrassh to produce the ‘ulamd of his
ideals. After his unsuccessful attempt in the case of
Darul-Irshdd, he established a Madrasah-’i Isl@miyah
(Islamic School), in Calcutta, during the non-cooperation
movement, which was closed after the_movement was called
off. (See, ‘Abdur-Razziq MalIhsbadl, Zikr-i Zz&d, pp. 44ff).
After that Ez@d did not have free time to establish a
madrasah by himself. But he kept on insisting the
Muslims especially the ‘ulam3 to change the curriculum
of the religious schools and to run them on the modern
pattern.

A graduate of Darul-‘uliim Nadvatul-‘ulamid, Lucknow,
Mawlénd ‘Abdus-Saldm Qidva’i Nadvi,says in one of his
articles, "Mawlana Azad ki ek arzi" ("A wish of Mawland
Az&d") in the Jami‘ah, Delhi, (vol. 48, No. 4, April
1963), that in 1957 when the Congress had formed its
ministry in the U.P., Mawl@n&@ Kzad waented the trustees
of the Nadvah to bring changes in the curriculum.

But before anything could happen the Congress ministry
resigned from the office. After the independence, in
1947, when Mawlana Az&d was appointed the Education
Minister of India, he again perwuaded the trustees of
Darul-‘ulim Nadavah to modernize the educational system.
Mawlana Azad was willing to press the government of
India to bear the expenses for such an experiment.

But the ‘ulamé who were in charge of the affairs of
Nadvah did not accept the request of Zzdd and refused
it saying that they had full confkdence in Zzdd but
they were afraid of the intervention of the government
of India after Azad would not be in the office.

J. B. Kerpalani, "“The Voice of Reason" in Msulana
Abul Kalam Azad: A Memorial Volume, ed. by Humayun

r, London, 9, pp. ’ .
Az8&4, Qawl-i f s (first published in 1922), 2nd ed.,
Lahore, .

According to the Jam‘Iyat iiterature,‘lzid seems to
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24.

25.

26.
27.

O

28.

have attended only four out of 26 annual sessions

of the Jam‘Iyat, from 1919 to 1945. In some cases
his absence, as it is known, was due to the fact that
he was in prison. But in many other cases also his
name is not found among those ‘ulamé@ who had attended
the sessions. There were several committees also
appointed by the Jam‘Iyat to investigate certain
problems. Az&d's name, however, is not mentioned
among the members of such committeess. (See, Muhammad

. Miy&n, Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamé kiy& hay?, vol. IIj.

It is interesting to compare this opinion with the
opinion of an ‘Elim colleague of Azad, Mawlana
Husayn Apmad Madanl, about Rz3d's religious life:

No one can question the intelligence of Mawland
Abul Kalsm Az3d end his kmowledge (of Islamic
sciences). ... Quite often I have offered my
prgyers (nam@z) with him. I have never seen

him drinking, neither have I found him intoxicated.
Those who accuse him of drinking are unable

to produce any eye~-witness. ... However, It is
true that Mawlana Xz8d does have some weak points.
He is not regular in offering his five-time
prayers in mosque with the jamd‘ah., His beard

is also shorter than is prescribed by the shar‘.
He also allows himself to be photographed.

And things like that. ... May God help him in
walking on His way."

(MadenI, MaktGbst-i Shaykhul-Isldém, ed. by Najmuddin
1g18hI, Azamgarh, val. *, Tetter No. 157, DP. 432.)

Read, for example, the following statement of Mawlang
Muhammad Miyan of the Jam‘Iyat:

The danger of [Vardhd] schem is that the
children will be indoctrinated in such a way
that not only would they be friendly with other
religious groups [of India] but they would

also consider every religion of the world a
true religion. This belief is un-Islamic."

(MMha?mad Miyan, Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamg@ kiy& hay?, vol. II,
P. 13).

J. B. Kirpalani, op. cit., p. 34.

Times of India, dated 11.3.1924, as quoted by B. R.
Inbedkar, Pakistan or the Partition of India, Bombay,
31‘d edo, 19 9 pPo 9 - 9 L

Nehru, Toward Freedom, Beacon Press, 1963, p. 104.
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30.
31.
32,
33,
34.

35.

36.

37.

224

Times of India, dated 21. 3. 1924., reproduced in
Ambedkar, op. cit., p. 296.

Ambedkar, op. cit., p. 296.
Nehru, op. cit., pp. 104-105.
ibid., pp. T1-72.

See above, ch. V, pp. 91-92.

Since we are discussing here particularly the case
of the Muslims, the references, therefore, have been
made only to them., Otherwise the Hindus also were
more or less in the same condition, except that they
were attracted by the leaders of their own faifh.
Nehru remarks on this tendency:

Gandhiji was continually laying stress on the
religious and spiritual side of the movement.

His religion was not dogmatic, but it dkéd mean

a definitely religious outlook on life, and

the whole movement was strongly influenced by
this and took on & revivalist character so far

as the masses were concerned. The great majority
of Congress workers naturally tried to model
themselves after their great leader and even
repeated his languege. (Nehru, op. cit., p. 71).

Also cf. S. K. Majumdar, Jinnah and Gandhi: Their
Role in India's Quest for Freedom, Calcutta, 1966.

See above, ch. VI, discussion on the question of the
imamat, pp. 116 £f.

A numerically insignificant section of the Deoband
school was from the begining against joining the
Congress. Mawldnd Ashraf ‘Al Thanavi (1863-1943),
who had always been revered even by the nationalis?t
‘ulamé, was the chief spokesman of this group.
Mawlana Thénavi himself did not come out of his
khangdh (monastery) to participate in any political
struggle. However, those ‘ulamé who were impressed
by his ideologies became more powerful, when, in 1946,
Mawl@nd Shabbir Ahmad ‘UBmani (1887-1949), a well-
known disciple of Mawland Mahmudul-Hasan of Deoband,
organized them under another Jam‘Iyat of the ‘ulama
known as the Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulamd’-i Isl@&m.

See, for example, Thanavi, Muhammad Ashraf ‘AlI and
others, Muttafagah fatvd, Delhi, 1930, also Musalmén

awr sivil nafarm € muta‘alliq shar‘I fatva,
e OW, Nn.d.
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38,

39.
40.
41.

42.
43.

44.
45.

46,

47.
48.

49.

Thanavi, Daf‘u ba‘zish-shubhit ‘alds-siyssIyat min
al-fydat (in Urdu), included in Thanavi, de%ét-i
IEEEEfi ah dar masa’il-i siyadsIiyah, ed. by Mupammad
Shafl', Deoband, 2nd ed., 1945, p. 89.

ibid., p. 96.

Letters of Igbal to Jinnah, Lahore, 1965, p. 24.

Resolution No. 1, passed by All-India Jam‘Iyat~i
‘Ulam8’-i Isl3m, Calcutta Session, October 29, 1945,
found in ShabbIr Apmad ‘UBmani, Paych@m bandm Mitamar

kul Hind Jam‘Iyat-i ‘Ulams’-i Islam, Lahore, 1945,
PpP. 43-4%. .

ibid., pp. 40-41.

The present writer lmows a case, which does not seem

to be unique, of one of his ‘Zlim-teachers who, in his
political ideas, has been a nationalist all his life.

At the time of the general election in 1946 he had not
changed his views; nevertheless he voted for Pakistan.
The reason was, in his own wordss "It is claimed that
Pakistan will be run according to the Quranic principles.
This may be mere propaganda. But I cannot say it of my
own knowledge. Maybe the Muslim League is honest in

her promise. In that case, suppose, I do not vote for
Pakistan and the Muslim League loses the election just
by one vote, I shudder to think that the decisive vote
would be mine. For that I would be responsible in the
eyes of God. You see, I would have no excuse before

God on the Day of Judgement when He says to me that I
was given a unique opportunity to establish His rule

on the earth and I did not avail myself of it." On this
ground he voted for Pakistan but did not migrate because,
as he said, "that had not become a religious duty."

MadanI, Hamsrgé Hindustan..., p. 1l.

Shabbir Apmad ‘USm&ni, Hamdrd Pakisténs (Khujbah-’i
Eadﬁrat gubah Panjdb Jam'iyat-i ‘Ulaema -i Islam, .

' ahore, 1 9 ppo - . ‘

Izad, India Wins Freedom, p. 277.

ibid., pp- 143-1440
See the fatvid of Mawldnd Mubammad ShafiI‘, the Mufti of

Darul-‘ulim Deoband, Képerss awr Muslim IIg k& mute‘alliq
shar‘i fayslah, ma‘ ta %5 at-1 ‘ulams |1lke Mawlana
Shabbir zﬁ%sa *UEmEEI, Mawlang Sayyid Sulaymén Nadvi,

and others], Deoband, 2nd ed., 1945, p. 47.

‘UBm3nI, Hamdra Pakist@n, pp. 41-49.
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1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

2.

See above, ch. I, pp. 22, 23, esp. ref. 45.

ibid., pp. 19-21, refs. 40, 41, 42.

ivid., p. 22.

See above, ch. VI.

ivid., ch. V, p. 105. Also, ch. VIII, p. 167, ref. 15.
ibid., ch. VIII, pp. 167-170.

Ch. VI, pp. 116-126.

ivid., p. 125.

Ch. VIII, ref. 23.

See ch. VII, pp. 144-145.

See above, ch. VII, p. 160. (One may say that the
government which refused to accept this shar‘i demand
of the ‘ulami was not the national government, because
Tndia was still under the British control. It is true,
but the fact is that it was because of the opposition
of the Hindu and Muslim members of the Assembly to
this demand that the British government of India
refused to yield to the ‘ulams. See ammad Miyan,

Jam‘I;!atn.oKi;ga hy? VO].. I, Ppo 61’74’-

To see the difference of approach beiween the ‘ulama

and the modern educated Muslims towards those problems
which sre, according to the ‘ulamd, under the domain

of the shari‘sh, read, for example, Changes in Muslim
Personal Law (Proceedings of a Symposium held at

few Delni on the ~9th January 1964 on the occasion of

the 26th International Congress of Orientalisi), New
Delhi, 1964. Read particularly the following lines

from the "Concluding Speech" of Mr. M. C. Chagla, then

a Muslim Minister of Education in the Government of Indias

One of the speakers amaid that only Muslim judges
should administer Muslim Law. With great respect,
I do not agree. After all, the Privy Council
amdinistered it for many years. I think many of
their judgements are still looked upon as the
finest interpretations of Mohammedan law." (p. 93)

MadanI, Maktibdt..., vol. I, p. 384. (Since "political
language™ has an Welasticity", those who are interested
in seeing the other side of the picture are advised
to read Choudhry Khaliquzzaman, Pathway to Pakistan,
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13.
14.

15.

2217

See, for example, Muttafagah fatvd, Meerut, 1920.

Xzad, India Wins Freedom, p. 180. Also Nehru,
Toward Freedom, p. /9.

M., Mujeeb, The Indien Muslims, London, 1966, p. 442.
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